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Corporate Profile
ANl Py

Elife Holdings Limited (the “Company” or “Elife”, together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”) is principally engaged in commodities trading, sales,
marketing and brand building of anti-epidemic, daily cleaning products and
licensed branded watches businesses. It has also been expanding its businesses
into the consumer products market including but not limited to health food and
supplements, functional food and food additives in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC") conforming to the Group’s business principle and mission of
delivering “an easier life, greater health and better livelihood” (5 45& » KRR

The Group has been principally engaged in the following businesses:

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group continued to focus on
sourcing domestic quality products as well as metals commodities for sale to
retail channels or lower-tier agents in the PRC.

On 31 July 2020, the Company and Mr. Zhu Qian (“Mr. Zhu") entered into
the cooperation agreement to establish a joint venture group which possesses
the brand “ 5 %4 "/"E'ANSN” and the supply chain including the formula,
brand and package design of the anti-epidemic and daily cleaning products
and is principally engaged in the sale, marketing and brand building of such
products in the PRC and overseas.

Shenzhen Aishang e-buy Technology Co., Ltd (“Aishang e-buy”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company and the principal operating subsidiary of the
licensed branded watches business, has established a presence on television
shopping channels throughout the nation since re-organizing its team in April
2022. Currently Aishang e-buy has commenced cooperation with several
television networks in Beijing, Jiangxi, Hangzhou, Shandong and Guangxi,
three of which are nationwide. Moreover, it has completed its registration on
TikTok, an online live-streaming platform, and has preliminarily setup a brand
website as well as a WeChat Mini Shop, enabling Aishang e-buy to receive
customer flow from live-streaming once TikTok approved the transaction of
watches.

Aishang e-buy is exploring and developing new product lines such as ladies
handbag, mini tote bag, sport and casual shoes, etc.

As China’s economy has gradually resumed to normal since February 2023,
we foresee that Aishang e-buy will be able to elaborate with more television
networks and online platforms for its existing watches business and other
different fashion products.
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Financial Highlights

MBEE

Operating Performance

Continuing operations

Turnover
Loss for the year

Discontinued operation
Loss of the period/year from
a discontinued operation

Loss for the year

attributable to owners of

the Company

2023 2022 2021
= P = B
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET F#E T FE T
KRR
BHEEERS
=E -0 238,840 152,600 276,040
FEBE (25,236) (46,560) (29,704)
ERILEEERS
ERIEREERS
HE FEEE - (2,815) (940)
AARBEBAEBEFEE
Eis
(21,673) (40,840) (26,403)

2020
—g=%F
HK$'000
FiET

54,789
(95,945)

(76,932)

2019
—E-hEF
HK$'000
TR

89,373
(161,177)

(138,609)

Financial Position B 7 AR %

Total assets

Cash reserves

Total bank borrowings
Net cash reserves

Shareholders’ funds

EERE 78,150 101,344 123,552
RERAE 2,283 10,807 14,590
RITEERER - - -
REREFH 2,283 10,807 14,590
RERESE 25,612 43,385 70,123

134,790

16,201

16,201

61,629

227,479

19,383

329

19,054

131,749
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Chairman’s Statement

E

Dear Valued Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the
Company, | would like to present the annual report of the Company for the year

ended 31 March 2023.

Although the world approached post-pandemic stage towards the end of
last year, 2022 was still characterized mainly by the focus on responding to
Covid measures in most countries. The Russia-Ukraine war has also imposed
significant disruption in global supply chains, resulting in worldwide shortages
and changing consumer patterns. The stringent epidemic measures in both
the PRC and Hong Kong led to a slower economic recovery and created
prolonged challenges to the Group’s business in 2022. The Group's resilience
and adaptability have established a sound foundation for survival through the
pandemic and thrive against adversity. Our commodities trading, anti-epidemic
and daily cleaning products and licensed branded watches business showed a
steady growth in the past year. With the easing of tough epidemic measures
and the re-opening of quarantine free travel between the PRC and Hong
Kong in early 2023, the region has gradually resumed its path to recovery
with ample growth opportunities. Aligned with our strategic priorities, we are
even better-positioned for further business expansion in the consumer products
market.

Adhering to our principle of delivering quality products and services to the
consumer market, we will be continuously focusing on the best long-term
opportunities across the region to create synergy with our Group and meet
the evolving expectations of our Shareholders. The Company entered into
a strategic cooperation framework agreement with Guangzhou Hitrip Info
Tech Inc. (“Guangzhou Htrip”), an integrated technology group in hotel
and travel industry. Guangzhou Hirip was established in 2016 with its core
business in hotel digital intelligence upgrade, integrated marketing application,
business travel services, cultural travel digital integration, corporate business
travel investment integration, and international business travel services. Up to
now, Guangzhou Htrip has signed service contracts with 59 of the top 100
hotel chains in the PRC, serving more than 190 mid- to high-end hotel brands
involving 2.44 million rooms, with a market share of 40% in mid- to high-end
segment and reaching almost 500 million users nationwide, making it a leading
service provider in the hotel and travel industry in the PRC and the largest
offline new retail platform in terms of business travel. In view of high business
compatibility between the Group and Guangzhou Htrip, we will make full use of
our respective resource advantage to perform in-depth exploration and pursue
innovative practice in various business segments, such as brand digitization in
cultural and business travel industry, brand communication and advertising, and
the supply chain business in cultural and business travel industry, with an aim
to achieving joint development and an all-win harmony and enabling broader
cooperation.

| would like to express my deepest gratitude to our Shareholders, customers and
business partners for the trust and support, and my sincere appreciation to our
staff for their loyalty and contribution. Looking ahead, we will continue to seek
sustainable business opportunities to create value for both the Group and our

Shareholders.

Zhang Xiaobin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENWE DTN

The Group is principally engaged in commodities trading, sales, marketing and
brand building of anti-epidemic, daily cleaning products and licensed branded
watches businesses. It has also been expanding its businesses into the consumer
products market including but not limited to health food and supplements,
functional food and food additives in the PRC conforming to the Group’s
business principle and mission of delivering “an easier life, greater health and

better livelihood” (5 45E » KEEE » BR4E).

For details of the business development of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2023, please refer to the section headed “Corporate Profile” as set out
on page 2 of this annual report.

REVENUE

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recorded a turnover of
approximately HK$238,840,000 from continuing operations (2022:
approximately HK$152,600,000), representing an increase of 56.5%. The
revenue was generated from the commodities trading business segment and
the daily cleaning, anti-epidemic and other consumable products segment and
licensed branded watches segment.

The increase in revenue during the year was primarily due to an increase
in the commodities trading business with a turnover of approximately
HK$223,759,000 (2022: approximately HK$111,152,000) as a result of more
resources being put by the Group to boost the sales of copper rod. The revenue
from daily cleaning, anti-epidemic and other consumable products business
decreased to approximately HK$8,191,000 for the year (2022: approximately
HK$41,448,000) due to the stringent pandemic control measures in the PRC.
The lockdowns in Shanghai and other major cities in Jiangsu Province led to
the temporary shutdown of the factories operated by our suppliers as well
as trade barriers on the export sales of our trading customers. The licensed
branded watches business has started generating revenue during the year and
contributed a turnover of approximately HK$6,890,000 (2022: Nil) to the
Group.

More details of the Company’s performance by business segments are set out in
Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements as set out in this annual report.

COST OF SALES

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the cost of sales of the Group amounted
to approximately HK$236,973,000 (2022: approximately HK$144,751,000),
representing an increase of approximately 63.7% which was generally in line
with the increased revenue from commodities trading business segment and
licensed branded watches business segment offset by the decreased revenue
from daily cleaning, anti-epidemic and other consumable products segment.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENWmE DN

GROSS PROFIT AND GROSS PROFIT MARGIN

The Group's gross profit for the year ended 31 March 2023 was approximately
HK$1,867,000 (2022: approximately HK$7,849,000) representing a decrease
of approximately HK$5,982,000. For the year ended 31 March 2023,
the overall gross profit margin has dropped to approximately 0.8% (2022:
approximately 5.1%) mainly due to the reduced margin in daily cleaning, anti-
epidemic and other consumable products segment. The gross profit margin in
daily cleaning, anti-epidemic and other consumable segment has dropped to
approximately 5.0% (2022: approximately 18.6%) as a result of decreased
sales to export trading customers which is of generally higher margin.

SELLING EXPENSES

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recorded selling expenses
of approximately HK$1,898,000 (2022: approximately HK$832,000). The
increase was mainly due to the launch of licensed branded watches business
during the year, thus more marketing resources were put into the promotion and
advertisement of our new products in different channels.

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

Other operating expenses incurred by the Group for the year decreased by
approximately 2.3% to approximately HK$23,452,000 (2022: approximately
HK$24,017,000). Other operating expenses incurred for the year represented
approximately 9.8% (2022: approximately 15.7%) of the Group's total
revenue. The Group has implemented stringent cost control policy to lower the
operating costs and streamline the workforce for cost savings during the year.

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

Equity-settled share-based payment incurred by the Group for the year
decreased significantly to approximately HK$697,000 (2022: approximately
HK$12,684,000) due to the vesting of issued awarded shares in past year and
the fact that no new share award or share options were granted during the
year.

NET ALLOWANCE FOR EXPECTED CREDIT LOSSES ON
TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

The Group performs impairment assessment on its trade and other receivables
under expected credit loss (“ECL”) model in accordance with HKFRS 9. The
amount of ECL is updated at each year end to reflect any changes in credit risk.
Net impairment losses has been recognised during the year in respect of trade
and other receivables of approximately HK$442,000 (2022: approximately
HK$14,889,000) which are non-cash items.

IMPAIRMENT LOSS ON PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

The Group performs impairment assessment on the carrying amounts of
its property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets at the end of
each reporting period. During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group
recognized impairment loss of approximately HK$13,000 and HK$586,000 on
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets respectively (2022: Nil)
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
which are also non-cash items.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENWE DN

FINANCE COSTS

The finance costs incurred by the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023
was approximately HK$2,262,000 (2022: approximately HK$2,489,000),
representing a decrease of approximately 9.1%. The decrease was mainly due
to a lower imputed interest on amounts due to non-controlling interests; and a
reduced interest expenses on lease liabilities due to the approaching of the end

of lease term over time.

LOSS FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF
THE COMPANY

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recorded a loss attributable
to owners of approximately HK$21,673,000 (2022: approximately
HK$40,840,000), representing a decrease of approximately 47.0%. Basic
and diluted loss per share of the Company from continuing operations were
approximately HK3.0 cents (2022: approximately HK5.9 cents) for the
year ended 31 March 2023. The decrease was primarily attributable to the
reduced equity-settled share-based payment to approximately HK$697,000
(2022: approximately HK$12,684,000) and the reduced net impairment
losses recognised in respect of trade and other receivables to approximately
HK$442,000 (2022: approximately HK$14,889,000) for the year. In addition,
the Group no longer shared losses from the discontinued operation for the year
(2022: approximately HK$2,815,000).

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The Group derived its working capital mainly from financing activities.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group had net cash used in
operating activities of approximately HK$16,398,000 (2022: approximately
HK$14,733,000), net cash used from investing activities of approximately
HK$41,000 (2022: net cash generated of approximately HK$5,851,000) and
net cash generated from financing activities of approximately HK$8,018,000
(2022: approximately HK$5,066,000). As at 31 March 2023, the Group had
available cash and cash balances of approximately HK$2,283,000 (2022:
approximately HK$10,807,000).

As at 31 March 2023, surplus on Shareholders’ funds of the Group in
aggregate amounted to approximately HK$25,612,000 (2022: approximately
HK$43,385,000). Net current assets of the Group amounted to approximately
HK$34,715,000 (2022: approximately HK$36,563,000). The Group’s total
current assets and current liabilities were approximately HK$73,638,000
(2022: approximately HK$92,863,000) and HK$38,923,000 (2022:
approximately HK$56,300,000) respectively, while the current ratio was
approximately 1.9 times (2022: approximately 1.6 times). The Group's assets-
liabilities ratio (total liabilities to total assets) was approximately 0.7 times
(2022: approximately 0.6 times).

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s gearing ratio (total debts to total equity)
was approximately 109.0% (2022: approximately 68.7%).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE
Placing of new shares under general mandate announced on 17 May 2022 (the

“May 2022 Placing”)

On 17 May 2022, the Company entered into a placing agreement with DL
Securities (HK) Limited (the “Placing Agent’) whereby the Placing Agent
conditionally agreed to place on a best effort basis up to 132,985,742 new
shares to not less than six placees at the placing price of HK$0.103 per placing
share. The placing shares shall be allotted and issued pursuant to the general
mandate granted to the Directors at the annual general meeting held on 23
September 2021. On 15 July 2022, the Placing Agent successfully placed
74,160,000 shares and the entire net proceeds of approximately HK$7,300,000
(after deducting the placing commission, professional fees and all related
expenses) was used for working capital and developing the Group's businesses.

For details of the May 2022 Placing, please refer to the announcements dated
17 May 2022, 14 June 2022, 22 June 2022, 28 June 2022 and 15 July 2022
(collectively, the “May 2022 Placing Announcements”).

Placing of new shares under general mandate announced on 12 December
2022 (the “December 2022 Placing”’)

On 12 December 2022, the Company entered into another placing agreement
with the Placing Agent, pursuant to which the Placing Agent conditionally
agreed to place on a best effort basis up to 150,537,742 new shares to no
less than six placees at the placing price of HK$0.135 per placing share. The
placing shares shall be allotted and issued pursuant to the general mandate
granted to the Directors at the annual general meeting held on 29 September
2022.

On 27 June 2023, the Placing Agent successfully placed 150,520,000 placing
shares at the placing price of HK$0.103 (after the adjustment of placing
price in the eighth supplemental agreement to the placing agreement) and
the entire net proceeds from the December 2022 Placing of approximately
HK$14,578,000 (after deducting the placing commission, professional fees and
all related expenses) will be used for working capital and developing the Group's
businesses.

For details of the December 2022 Placing, please refer to the announcements
dated 12 December 2022, 5 January 2023, 20 January 2023, 16 February
2023, 10 March 2023, 31 March 2023, 21 April 2023, 12 May 2023, 2 June
2023, 23 June 2023 and 27 June 2023 (collectively, the “December 2022
Placing Announcements”).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE PLACINGS

The May 2022 Placing was completed on 15 July 2022 with net proceeds
received by the Company in the amount of approximately HK$7,300,000 after
deducting the placing commission and related expenses. The net proceeds from
the May 2022 Placing were fully utilized up to 31 March 2023. Further, the
December 2022 Placing was completed on 27 June 2023 with net proceeds
received by the Company in the amount of approximately HK$14,578,000
after deducting the placing commission and related expenses. The net proceeds
from the December 2022 Placing are intended to be used as to HK$8,000,000
for replenishing the working capital of the Group and as to HK$6,578,000
for developing the Group's business. For details, please refer to the May 2022
Placing Announcements and the December 2022 Placing Announcements.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES AND CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the capital expenditures mainly
comprised property, plant and equipment which was approximately
HK$42,000 (2022: Nil). These capital expenditures were funded by internal
cash flow from operating activities.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had capital commitments of approximately
HK$174,339,000 (2022: approximately HK$188,568,000) in respect of the
authorised and contracted capital contributions payable to subsidiaries.

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN EXCHANGE RATES
AND RELATED HEDGES

The Group operates mainly in China and Hong Kong and a majority of
transactions conducted by the Group are denominated in Hong Kong dollars
(“HKS$”) and Renminbi (“RMB”). The Group is exposed to limited foreign
exchange risk as most of the commercial transactions, assets and liabilities are
denominated in a currency same as the functional currency of each entity of
the Group. Therefore, the Group will only be exposed to foreign exchange risk
arising from the assets and liabilities which are denominated in currencies other
than the functional currency of the entity to which it is related. The conversion
of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the rules and regulations of foreign
exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect
of foreign currency assets and liabilities. The Group will monitor its foreign
currency exposure closely and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise. The Group does not have significant exposure
to foreign currency risk.

KEY RISK FACTORS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group monitors the development of the industry on a regular basis and
timely assesses different types of risks in order to formulate proper strategies to
minimise the adverse impact on the Group.

For details, please refer to Note 5 “Financial Instruments” to the consolidated
financial statements in this annual report.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS OF THE GROUP
There was no pledge of assets of the Group as at 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at 31 March
2023.

DIVIDEND
The Board did not recommend any payment of final dividend to the
Shareholders for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil).

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had a total of 44 employees (2022: 45
employees) in Hong Kong and the PRC. All employees are remunerated
according to their performance, experience and the prevailing industry
practices.

The Group also participates in retirement benefit scheme for its staff in Hong
Kong and the PRC.

The Group adopted a share option scheme and a share award scheme for
eligible participants including Directors, employees and other parties. Details of
the schemes are set out in Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements in
this annual report.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 9 November 2020, Smart Challenger Global Limited (“Smart
Challenger”), an indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
enfered into the procurement framework agreement with Yangzhou Yiyuantang
Commodity Co., ltd. (“Yangzhou Yuanda”) whereby Smart Challenger
or its subsidiaries would procure and Yangzhou Yuanda would supply daily
cleaning and anti-epidemic products for a term of two years and four months
from 1 September 2020 to 31 December 2022 (both days inclusive) (the
“2020 Procurement Framework Agreement”). As Mr. Zhu controls more
than 30% of the voting power in general meetings of Yangzhou Yuanda, and
Mr. Zhu was also a substantial shareholder of Century Smart Group Limited
(“Century Smart”) and Smart Challenger, both of which are non wholly-
owned subsidiaries of the Company, Mr. Zhu was, therefore, a connected
person of the Company. The transactions contemplated under the Procurement
Framework Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions of the
Company under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

REEH
AEBR-Z-_=ZF=ZA=Z+—-HUEEAEEKNT
(ZB==F  8]) -

KARR
FEER-Z-=F=A=t+-ALBEABARA
aifE-

BRE
BEEETEEORRRBEBE-_E-_=F=A=1+—
BEEE2RERE (ZE=-_F : &) o

{& B B %7 B B 38

MRZB_=F=ZA=+—H AEEREBRPEH
BA4BETI(ZZEZF 1 458EI) - TEEEZH
BB EIERR  ERRBITHSENMESE -

FEECATEBRPEZE T ZHSRRAKERGE -

AEBEHRMREERALTMR ZBRESERRHG
RBtd ERREESR - BERAEMAL - AR
BoHERARAFRAZFS M BRRMFEIS -

HREEXS

RZZBZZF+-ANB  ARBZHEFZENR
B 2 B Smart Challenger Global Limited ([ Smart
Challenger ) EEE NS ER B ARERA R ([HRME
KD AT EREBAEZR W - 451k » Smart Challengerst &
BN RSB (MBMNEXRTEHE) B BBRERE
ERM HRAPWMFOMEA B2 FNA—
AE-F-—f+-A=+t—-H(BEERMA) (=
SSFERBERGR]D cHERATERBEMNERZ
BRERE LEFB0%BU EZRERE  MAREERBRR
#Century Smart Group Limited ([ Century Smart )
KSmart ChallengerF B2 T EZRFR - EMEGRAEALD
AZIZEWMBLE Bt » REEBEALDTZBEEA
T - REEBHERZHERIABSFLHHR(TE
TR -  RBERBBRETRETZIRZBEREAL
AZHEBEEERS -

Annual Report 2023 F % - ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED 5 4 i % Jit 45 Fit 2 #]



Management Discussion and Analysis

MEE -\-_.I- nHﬂ&/-\*ﬁ

As the 2020 Procurement Framework Agreement expired on 31 December
2022 and the Group intends to continue carrying out the existing transactions
under the 2020 Procurement Framework Agreement in the ordinary and usual
course of business of the Group, Smart Challenger, Yangzhou Yuanda and Mr.
Zhu entered into a renewal agreement on 9 January 2023, for a term of three
years from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025 (the “2023 Procurement
Framework Agreement’). The annual caps for the transactions as
contemplated under the 2023 Procurement Framework Agreement for the three
years ending 31 December 2023, 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2025
are RMB15,000,000. RMB20,000,000 and RMB25,000,000 respectively.

Our independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the terms and conditions
of the 2020 Procurement Framework Agreement and the 2023 Procurement
Framework Agreement during the year, and considered that both of the said
agreements and the transactions contemplated therein were in the ordinary and
usual course of business of the Group, on normal commercial terms and are fair
and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and its Shareholders as a
whole.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

The Group did not have any material acquisition and disposal for the year

ended 31 March 2023.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of material related party transactions of the Group as at 31 March
2023 are set out in Note 38 to the consolidated financial statements in this
annual report.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT
The Group did not hold any significant investment for the year ended 31 March
2023.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

For further information about the environmental policies and performance of the
Company for this financial year, please refer to the Environmental, Social and
Governance (“ESG") Report.

On 15 May 2023, the Company entered into a strategic cooperation
framework agreement with Guangzhou Htrip Info Tech Inc. (“Guangzhou
Htrip”) to initiate an in-depth cooperation in the areas of brand marketing
digitization, brand communication and advertising businesses as well as supply
chain business in the cultural and business travel industry and Non-Fungible
Rights systematization of member rights. The Company and Guangzhou Htrip
will collaborate to lay out the contextual marketing of hotels, selling products in
all of Guangzhou Hitrip offline hotel contexts, broadcast video advertisements
of products and direct business interactively, market products through multiple
channels online and offline, and enhance user experience.

Details of the strategic cooperation framework agreement were disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 15 May 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Adhering to our principle of delivering quality products and services to the
consumer market, we will be continuously focusing on the best long-term
opportunities across the region fo create synergy with our Group and meet the
evolving expectations of our Shareholders. The Company has entered into the
aforesaid strategic cooperation framework agreement with Guangzhou Hirip,
an integrated technology group in hotel and travel industry. Guangzhou Htrip
was established in 2016 with its core business in hotel digital intelligence
upgrade, integrated marketing application, business travel services, cultural
travel digital integration, corporate business travel investment integration, and
international business travel services. Up to now, Guangzhou Htrip has signed
service contracts with 59 of the top 100 hotel chains in the PRC, serving more
than 190 mid- to high-end hotel brands involving 2.44 million rooms, with a
market share of 40% in mid- to high-end segment and reaching almost 500
million users nationwide, making it a leading service provider in the hotel and
travel industry in the PRC and the largest offline new retail platform in terms of
business fravel. In view of high business compatibility between the Group and
Guangzhou Htrip, we will make full use of our respective resource advantage to
perform in-depth exploration and pursue innovative practice in various business
segments such as brand digitization in cultural and business travel industry,
brand communication and advertising, and the supply chain business in cultural
and business travel industry, with an aim to achieving joint development and an
all-win harmony and enabling broader cooperation.
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Directors & Senior Management Profiles
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Mr. ZHANG Xiaobin, aged 70, was appointed as the chairman of the Board
(the “Chairman”) and an executive Director on 22 September 2015. He has
over 32 years of experience in the investment and financial service fields.
From 2010 through 2015, he was the managing director and the China senior
advisor for J.P. Morgan. He worked closely with senior management in driving
J.P. Morgan’s franchise expansion in China with his profound understanding
and knowledge of China’s capital markets. Between 2012 and 2015, he acted
as the chairman of the supervision committee of China United SME Financial
Guarantee Corporation (a joint venture of J.P. Morgan with the ExportImport
Bank of China and other global institutions), the largest credit guarantee
company in China. Prior to joining J.P. Morgan China as the managing director
and China senior advisor in 2010, Mr. Zhang led a storied career, including
one of the founders of Chinese Stock Exchange system, secretary general of
Stock Exchange Executive Council, the chairman and chief executive officer
of China Venturetech Investment Corporation. Mr. Zhang graduated from
Xian Jiaotong University (FAZZRBAE) in 1977 with a major in mechanical
engineering. He was a UNESCO scholar from 1981 to 1982 and a visiting
scholar at Stanford University in 1983 and was then selected as a Eisenhower
fellow in 1987. In 1994, he studied in the Advanced Management Program at
Harvard Business School.

Mr. GAO Feng, aged 53, was appointed as the vice-chairman of the Board
(the “Vice-Chairman”) and an executive Director on 18 June 2009. He has
extensive management experience, in PRC businesses, in particular for over 26
years, and has served various important roles in a couple of listed companies
and sizable financial institutions. Mr. Gao was the former president of North
America for I.N.C. Financial Organization Ltd. and the former president of
Asia-Pacific for Morgan Funding Organization. Mr. Gao holds a Master of
Business Administration degree from Keuka College in New York.

Mr. CHIU Sui Keung, aged 56, was appointed as the chief executive
officer (the “Chief Executive Officer”) and an executive Director on
20 April 2009. Mr. Chiu has over 26 years of experience in the financial
industry and accounting field. He possesses extensive experience in corporate
finance including initial public offerings, takeovers, mergers and acquisitions,
fund raising and corporate advisory. Mr. Chiu graduated with a bachelor’s
degree in Commerce from the University of Melbourne, Australia and has
obtained a master’'s degree in Applied Finance from Macquarie University
in Sydney, Australia. He also obtained a Diploma in Practices in Chinese
Laws and Regulations Affecting Foreign Businesses jointly organized by
Southwest University of Political Science and Law, the PRC and the Hong Kong
Management Association. At present, Mr. Chiu is an independent non-executive
director of King Stone Energy Group Limited (stock code: 0663).

Ms. Qin Jiali, aged 37, was appointed as an executive Director on 1 July
2023. She has extensive sales and management experience in the software
and hotel industries. She has served as the sales director of Nanning Universal
International Hotel (7 % 323k B % K JE), the head of the Guangzhou office of
FeelEC Technology Co., Ltd. (K#IEHR T HI R A R 2 F) and the vice president
of Guangzhou Htrip Info Tech Inc. (BHIEIRE S RHRA R 2 7). Ms. Qin holds
a college degree in tourism exhibition planning and management awarded by
the Guangxi Guilin Tourism College (5 Ff 4% Rk 1 2 Fx).
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Mr. Zhang Shaoyan, aged 48, was appointed as the Company’s chief
investment officer on 1 October 2019 and was appointed as an executive
Director on 1 July 2023. He has nearly 22 years of experience in investment
industry and has served as the chief listing representative of the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange, the managing director of China RE Asset Management Co. Ltd. and
the chairman of Beijing Hilllop Asset Management Co. Ltd. He was primarily
responsible for the development of the domestic and overseas investment and
financial business, and the merger and acquisition business of the Company.
Mr. Zhang holds a doctorate degree in Finance from Nankai University and is a
postdoctoral fellow of the Chinese Academy of Social Sciences. He is currently
a director of Yiansheng International Trading (Yangzhou) Co., Ltd. (5 % 4 EIF
Z 5 (B M)BRAF]), asubsidiary of the Company.

Mr. LAM Williamson, aged 48, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 1 January 2011. Mr. Lam is a fellow member of The
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and a
member of the CPA (Australia). He holds a Bachelor of Business degree from
Monash University, Australia and a Master of Professional Accounting degree
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Lam had held directorships and
senior finance positions in various listed companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Lam
is currently an independent non-executive director of Lerado Financial Group
Company Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), stock code: 1225) since 20
July 2018.

Mr. CHENG Wing Keung, Raymond, aged 63, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 25 August 2007. Mr. Cheng is a
solicitor practicing in Hong Kong and has over 31 years of experience in
corporate, company secretarial and listing affairs. He holds a degree in Laws in
the University of London and a master’s degree in Business Administration in the
University of Strathclyde, Scotland. He has been appointed by the Hon Chief
Justice Ma of the Court of Final Appeal as a Practising Solicitor Member of the
Solicitors Disciplinary Tribunal Panel with effect from 4 October 2017. Besides,
Mr. Cheng was appointed by The Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region as a member of the Panel of the Board of Review (Inland
Revenue Ordinance) from January 2018 up to December 2021. Mr. Cheng had
acted as an independent non-executive director at one listed company in Hong
Kong: Skyfame Realty (Holdings) Limited (stock code: 0059) from December
2004 up to 17 June 2022.

Mr. WONG Hoi Kuen, aged 62, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 9 May 2011. Mr. Wong is a practising certified public
accountant in Hong Kong and a chartered accountant in the United Kingdom.
Mr. Wong is a fellow member of both the HKICPA, the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales. Mr. Wong is currently an independent non-executive director of China
Information Technology Development Limited (stock code: 8178). Mr. Wong
was also an independent non-executive director of REXLot Holdings Limited
(prior to delisting on 10 May 2021, stock code: 555) from 29 June 2018 to 27
November 2020.
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Dr. LAM, Lee G., BBs, JP (“Dr. Lam”)

Dr. Lam, aged 64, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on
18 November 2015. Dr. Lam has extensive international experience in general
management, strategy consulting, corporate governance, direct investment,
investment banking and asset management. He served as Chairman of Hong
Kong Cyberport, a member of the Committee on Innovation, Technology
and Re-Industrialization and the Sir Murray Maclehose Trust Fund Investment
Advisory Committee, and a Parttime Member of the Central Policy Unit of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (HKSAR) Government. Dr. Lam is
a member of the Chief Executive’s Policy Unit Expert Group, the Governance
Committee of the Hong Kong Growth Portfolio and the Development Bureau
Common Spatial Data Advisory Committee of the HKSAR Government, and
Convenor of the Panel of Advisors on Building Management Disputes of the
HKSAR Government Home Affairs Department. He is also a member of the
Belt and Road and Greater Bay Area Committee of the Hong Kong Trade
Development Council and the Court of the City University of Hong Kong, Chair
of the United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific
(UN ESCAP) Sustainable Business Network (ESBN), Vice Chairman of Pacific
Basin Economic Council, and a member of the Board of Directors and Chairman
of the Permanent Commission on Economic and Financial Issues of the World

Union of Small and Medium Enterprises.

Dr. Lam is an executive director of Hong Kong Aerospace Technology Group
Limited (FKA: Eternity Technology Holdings Limited, re-designated from non-
executive director on 3 January 2022), the shares of which are listed on the
Stock Exchange. He is an independent non-executive director of each of CSI
Properties Limited, Vongroup Limited, Mei Ah Entertainment Group Limited,
Haitong Securities Co., Ltd. and it is also listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange, Hang Pin Living Technology Company Limited (FKA: Hua Long Jin
Kong Company Limited), Kidsland International Holdings Limited, Greenland
Hong Kong Holdings Limited, Huarong International Financial Holdings Limited,
RENHENG Enterprise Holdings Limited and New Huo Technology Holdings
Limited; and a non-executive director of each of Sunwah Kingsway Capital
Holdings Limited, China LNG Group Limited, and Mingfa Group (International)
Company Limited (re-designated from independent non-executive director on 23
April 2020), the shares of all of which are listed on the Stock Exchange. He is
also an independent non-executive director of Asia-Pacific Strategic Investments
Limited (FKA: China Real Estate Grp Ltd.), Thomson Medical Group Limited and
Alset International Limited (FKA: Singapore eDevelopment Limited (re-designated
from non-executive director on 2 July 2020), the shares of all of which are listed
on the Singapore Exchange. Dr. Lam is an independent non-executive director
of AustChina Holdings Limited (FKA: Coalbank Limited), whose shares are listed
on the Australian Securities Exchange and a non-executive director of Jade
Road Investments Limited (FKA: Adamas Finance Asia Limited), whose shares

are listed on the London Securities Exchange.
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Dr. Lam was a non-executive director of National Arts Group Holdings Limited
up to July 2022, Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited up to August 2021, and
China Shandong Hi-Speed Financial Group Limited (now known as Shandong
Hi-Speed Holdings Group Limited) up to May 2020, and he was also an
independent non-executive director of Aurum Pacific (China) Group Limited up
to March 2021 and Huarong Investment Stock Corporation Limited (which was
privatized on 12 November 2020) up to December 2020 the shares of all of
which are listed on the Stock Exchange. He was an independent non-executive
director of each of Beverly JCG Ltd. (FKA: JCG Investment Holdings Ltd.) up
to April 2023 and Top Global Limited up to August 2021 (both listed on the
Singapore Exchange), Sunwah International Limited (listed on the Toronto Stock
Exchange) up to June 2021 and TMC Life Sciences Berhad (listed on the Bursa
Malaysia) up to 31 May 2023.

Mr. CHOW Chi Fai, aged 52, was appointed as the company secretary
of the Company (the “Company Secretary”) on 29 December 2008 and
possesses over 25 years of experience in the accounting and finance field.
Mr. Chow holds a bachelor’s degree in Accountancy from the University of
South Australia and is a member of the HKICPA. Mr. Chow is currently an
independent non-executive director of Wah Wo Holdings Group Limited (stock
code: 9938) and Sun Hing Vision Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 125).
He was an independent non-executive director of Silver Base Group Holdings

Limited (in official liquidation) (stock code: 886) up to 30 June 2023.
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The Company is committed to ensuring high standards of corporate governance
through the establishment and adoption of good practices and procedures
which are in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders (the
“Shareholders”). The principles of corporate governance adopted by
the Company enhance board practices, internal controls, fransparency and

accountability to the shareholders of the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company applied the principles
and complied with the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code
(the “CG Code”) in Part 2- Principles of Good Corporate Governance, Code
Provisions and Recommended Best Practices as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules.

The Company has applied the principles of the CG Code to its corporate
governance structure and practices as described in this annual report. The
Board has updated or established various policies and procedures and the
committees have updated their terms of reference in compliance with the CG
Code which are available on the website of the Stock Exchange and the

Company.

The Board has taken up the corporate governance function stipulated in the CG
Code and has included such function in its terms of reference. The Board has

reviewed the compliance status of the Company with the CG Code.

The Board will review the CG Code from time to time and shall make necessary

arrangements when the Board considers appropriate.

We have summarised the CG Code adopted by the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2023 as below:

The Board (including non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors (“INED(s)")) is collectively responsible to all Shareholders for leading
and overseeing the Group’s business, and is in charge of operation and
decision making. The Board is mainly responsible for formulating the business
strategies, objectives, policies and plans of the Company, and monitoring the
execution of the Company’s strategies. It is also responsible for overseeing and
controlling the operational and financial performance of the Company and
establishing appropriate risk management policies and procedures in order to
ensure that the strategic objectives of the Group are materialized. In addition,
the Board is also responsible for improving the corporate governance structure
and enhancing communications with the Shareholders.
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The INEDs are responsible for ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting
of the Company and providing a balance in the Board for bringing effective
independent judgement on corporate actions and operations. The INEDs will

also be able to provide an impartial, external opinion to protect the interests of

the Shareholders.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises a total of nine Directors,
including five executive Directors and four INEDs. Two of the INEDs have the
relevant accounting and related financial management expertise as required by
the Listing Rules. The names of the Directors by category are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Xiaobin (Chairman)

Mr. Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman)

Mr. Chiu Sui Keung (Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Qin Jiali (appointed on 1 July 2023)

Mr. Zhang Shaoyan (appointed on 1 July 2023)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond

Mr. Lam Williamson

Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen

Dr. Lam Lee G.

The biolographical information of the current Directors are set out in the section
headed “Directors & Senior Management Profiles” in this report.

The Board has an appropriate mix of skills, experience and diversity which
are relevant to the Company’s strategy, governance and business and supports
its efficiency and effectiveness. The Board’s composition as at the date of this
report under diversified perspectives is summarised as follows:

Education background (highest level)
BEER (BRBEE)

Designation
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BIUFMTES
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HigEALE
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EXTSEREBRA 2R BRREAM  mzE
R - KBRZIMERDNA KK EAREKR
BB UTRSEFSCHERME - RAREEH
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Postgraduate degree 6 Directors, Bachelor 2 Director, Other 1 Director
REBN-6BRES BLB2Y-28EFS Hit— 1 8E=

5 executive Directors, 4 INEDs

By SEITES ABBUKFHTES

Gender

Age group (years old)
FHE AR (FR)

Directorship with the Company (years of service)

RADRZEZHE (RBFE)

The Board aims to achieve gender diversity by the appointment of one more
female Director on or before 31 March 2024. To develop a pipeline of
potential successors to the Board to achieve gender diversity, the Company
has adopted relevant hiring policies for considering candidates of senior
management positions which would take into account diversity perspectives
including gender diversity.

8 male Directors vs 1 female Director

MH SEEMEFHIELUES

3 (between 41 and 50); 2 (between 51 and 60); 4 (between 61 and 70)
3B (41250m) ; 2% (512605m) ; 4% (61ZE705%)

4 Directors (Less than 10 years), 5 Directors (11 to 15 years)
AZEE (DRI0F) ' 5BREE(11&215%)
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As at 31 March 2023, the percentage of male and female in the workforce
(including the senior management) is 50% and 50%, respectively. The
Company’s workforce (including its senior management) has achieved gender
diversity between males and females. The Company will continue to take
into account diversity perspectives including gender diversity in its future
hiring to maintain gender diversity across its workforce (including its senior
management).

Each of the executive Directors has respectively entered into a service
agreement with the Company for an initial term of three years but is subject to
retirement by rotation and is eligible for re-election.

Each of the INEDs has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company
for an initial term of three years but subject to retirement by rotation and is
eligible for re-election.

None of the Directors has any financial, business, family or other material or
relevant relationships among members of the Board.

The Company has received confirmation from each of the INEDs about his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the
view that all INEDs meet the independence rules and continues to consider each
of them to be independent.

The Board has established mechanisms to ensure independent views and input
from any Director are conveyed to the Board for enhancing an objective and

effective decision making.

The governance framework and the following mechanisms are reviewed
annually by the Board, through its Nomination Committee, to ensure their
effectiveness:

(i) formal and informal communication channels have been established
whereby INEDs can express their views in an open and candid manner,
and in a confidential manner, should circumstances require; and

(i) the Nomination Committee and the Board will focus on assessing factors
such as the independence and time commitment of candidates to ensure
that the Board receives independent and professional advice and
recommendations from the relevant INEDs in the course of daily operation
of the Board.

The Board, as led by the Chairman, Mr. Zhang Xiaobin, and the Vice-
Chairman, Mr. Gao Feng, is collectively responsible for the establishment of the
Group's overall strategies, operating and financial policies, approval of annual
budgets and business plans, evaluation of the performance of the Company’s
business, and oversight of the management team. The management team is
responsible for the day-to-day operations of the Group under the supervision of
the Chief Executive Officer and executive Director, Mr. Chiu Sui Keung.
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The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The Company
would provide a comprehensive induction package covering the summary of
the responsibilities and legal obligations of a director of a Hong Kong listed
company, the Company’s constitutional documents and the Guides on Directors’
Duties issued by the Companies Registry to each newly appointed Director
to ensure that he/she is sufficiently aware of his/her responsibilities and
obligations under the Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The Company Secretary reports from time to time the latest changes and
development of the Listing Rules, corporate governance practices and other
regulatory regime to the Directors with written materials, and the legal advisers
of the Company prepare and provide the Directors with detailed interpretations
and analysis on the revised contents for them to understand the latest
developments in a timely and accurate manner and to perform their duties in
accordance with relevant laws and regulatory requirements.

During the year, all Directors were provided with regular updates on the
Group’s business and operations. The Company has arranged to update the
Directors on the amendments on the Listing Rules and guidelines on disclosure of
insider information and connected transactions.

Directors E=

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Zhang Xiaobin REEW B A&

Mr. Gao Feng 1 37

Mr. Chiu Sui Keung HIRREE
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIYFHTES
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond Bk 58 S5 A&

Mr. Lam Williamson mEEEE

Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen BEELRE

Dr. Lam Llee G MREBEL

At no time during the year and up to the date of this report, there was or
is, any permitted indemnity provision being in force for the benefit of any of
the Directors (whether made by the Company or otherwise) or an associated
company (if made by the Company).

The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance throughout the year, which provides appropriate cover the certain
legal actions brought against its Directors and officers.
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The positions of the Chairman, the Vice-Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer are held by separate individuals with a view to maintaining an effective
segregation of duties regarding the management of the Board and the day-to-
day management of the Group's businesses.

The Chairman and the Vice-Chairman lead the Board and oversee the
functioning of the Board to ensure that the Board acts in the best interests of
the Company and its Shareholders, and Board meetings are planned and
conducted effectively. The Chairman is primarily responsible for the approval
of the agenda prepared by the Company Secretary for each Board meeting,
and taking into account, where appropriate, matters proposed by members
of the Board and including them in the agendas. Full agenda and relevant
documents will be sent to the Directors in a timely manner prior to the Board
meetings. With the support of the Vice-Chairman, other executive Directors
and the Company Secretary, the Chairman seeks to ensure that all Directors
are properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings and receive sufficient
and reliable information in a timely manner before the Board meetings. The
Chairman and the Vice-Chairman also actively encourage Directors to engage
in the Board’s affairs and make contribution to the Board’s decisions.

The Chairman promotes a culture of openness and actively encourages Directors
to voice their opinion and be fully engaged in the Board’s affairs so as to
contribute to the Board’s effective functioning. The Board, under the leadership
of the Chairman, has adopted good corporate governance practices and
procedures and taken appropriate steps to promote effective communication
and ongoing engagement with Shareholders and other stakeholders, as outlined
later in this report.

The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the day-to-day management of
the Group’s businesses, the formation and implementation of operating and
financial policies of the Group and accountability to the Board for all the
Group's operations. The Chief Executive Officer together with the management
team ensure that the Company’s business plans are consistent with the strategies
and objectives established by the Board. In addition, the Chief Executive Officer
ensures that the Company meets its funding requirements and closely monitors
the operating and financial results against the Company’s business plans and
budgets, and takes remedial actions if necessary. The Chief Executive Officer
is also responsible for the establishment and maintenance of an effective
management team to assist him in the day-to-day management of the Group's
businesses.
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Regular Board meetings are scheduled at least 14 days in advance to give all
Directors an opportunity to attend in person and include matters in the agenda.
Four regular Board meetings had been held during the year ended 31 March
2023. Each of the Directors has full access to information of the Company and
has access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary in respect of
compliance with board procedures and all applicable rules and regulations.
Each of the Directors may also take independent professional advice at the
Company'’s expense, if necessary, in accordance with the approved procedures.
The minutes of the Board are prepared and kept by the Company Secretary
with details of the matters considered by the Board and decisions reached,
including any concerns raised by the members of the Board or dissenting
views expressed. Minutes of all Board meetings are open for inspection at any
reasonable time on reasonable notice upon request by any of the Directors.

Where material conflict of interest arises, a physical Board meeting with the
attendance of the INEDs will be held.

The Board held four Board meetings and one general meeting during the year
ended 31 March 2023 and the attendance record of each member of the Board
is set out below:
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EEENEE S =F=-A=1+—-RLFEREFT

THORESEEEER—ABRRRE BEEEEUKE

ZHELENT
Attendance of Attendance of

Board meetings  general meeting

EEOOMHERY BRAEFHERH
Executive Directors BiTESE
Mr. Zhang Xiaobin (Chairman) REWEE(XE) 4/4 /1
Mr. Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman) = EE (BIER) 4/4 Al
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung (Chief Executive Officer) HEEEE ((THER) 4/4 1/1
Independent non-executive Directors BiHTES
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond BoKBEE 4/4 /1
Mr. Lam Williamson MEEEE 4/4 /1
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen BEELE 4/4 /1
Dr. Lam Lee G. MERBEL 4/4 1/1

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Chairman has met with all INEDs
without the presence of the executive Directors. This has complied with the
relevant Code Provisions of the CG Code which required that the Chairman
should at least annually hold meetings with the INEDs without the presence of
other directors.

Between scheduled meetings, senior management of the Group provides to
the Directors, on a regular basis, monthly updates and other information with
respect fo the performance and business activities of the Group. It enables the
Board to make informed assessment of financial and other decisions.

BE-_Z_=F=A=+—BLFE TECEHT
EESHECERTERMEBYEHMTES - LTS
CEERTAUACHBITUARIAEREIREZLEF
EBVFHTESRT RS EHMESHEZEE -

BRAITERN AEBzEREEEEHOESRM
FREAEBXRARERFD BAEHBREREME
B ERESSHRAH VB R EMRRMELRNFTIML -
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In accordance with Article 86(3) of the articles of association of the Company
(the “Articles”), any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy
should be subject to election by Shareholders at the first general meeting of
the Company. In accordance with Article 87(1) of the Articles, every Director
(including those appointed for a specific term or holding office as the Chairman
or the Chief Executive Director) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years.

The Company adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions as set out in the Model Code in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules on
the terms no less exacting than the required standard set out in the Model Code
throughout the year ended 31 March 2023. After having made specific enquiry
to all Directors, the Directors are of the opinion that they have complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code and its code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions throughout the year ended 31 March 2023.

The following statement, which sets out the responsibilities of the Directors in
relation to the financial statements, should be read in conjunction with, but
distinguished from, the Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 53 to 57 of
this annual report which acknowledges their reporting responsibilities as the
external auditors of the Company:

(i) Annual and Interim Reports and Financial
Statements
The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare the financial
statements of the Company and of the Group for each financial year which
gives a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at the year end and of the Group's profit or loss and cash flow
for the year then ended.

(ii) Accounting Policies
In preparing the financial statements for each financial year, the Directors
have selected appropriate accounting policies and apart from those
new and amended accounting policies as disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements, have applied them consistently with previous financial
periods. Judgments and estimates have been made that are prudent and
reasonable.

(iii) Accounting Records

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Group keeps accounting
records which disclose with reasonable accuracy the financial position
of the Group and enable the preparation of financial statements in
accordance with the HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
applicable disclosure provisions of the Listing Rules.

REAQNRDASEERMAR (M) E86(3)F  E=F
FEFNERREZR2AENESERBRNALT
BRBRRAE LESRRESE - REAMAIES7(1)F
BUESE (BREZE—AEEEHNIEETEFERITH
BREABBE)RAZLB=FHERE R -

AKANAREBE=E-_=F=A=+—HILEEFEER—EH
R EmRAME T EETFARECESETESRR
SG2TASTA ERRZBEEETBAZESTRF
BoMFER KR RESFHBIEEHNE  BF
ERARENEBE-—Z-_=F=ZA=+—HLFER
—HETEEFRMB ST EAREERESET
BERGZTRATH -

TXRE (RAEEEABYBHRR2EM) BREAFR
ES3EES/TEEAACTNELHM2BME 2B
REMmEE—OE EMERD BB LER

() FERDHBSHMEHES

ESHARERHLIRARFTEERSHBREFE
ZHBHRX MEBYBBRREEER A TR
MRAQBRAEBRFER 2MHEMRURARE
EREEFEALFEZBERREREMNR -

(ii) & &t R
REREHBFEZMBRRE  EFCERE
E2EBE I (RUBRRMEMRE 25
AT RBIETT 2 BRI SRR LA B B B
—H2EFEE AL REFHEESEHE
R fhist e

(iii) & st 42 2%
ESFEARRAEEFESHAHE  MASL
BAUSEEREEAEBR 2HBMRR 0 URATR
BEEBEMMOASRM2EBMBRELL &
BEBERM SRR QARG (B BEME
O2E) MEBEREUR ETRB 2 BERER
NREBHE -
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(iv) Safeguarding Assets
The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary
steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud
and other irregularities.

(v) Going Concern
The Directors, having made specific enquiries, consider that the Group
has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is appropriate to adopt the
going concern basis in preparing the financial statements of the Company
and of the Group.

As an integral part of good corporate governance, the Board has established
the following Board committees to oversee particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. A majority of the members of each of these committees are INEDs. Each
of the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Committees is governed by its
respective terms of reference.

On 18 March 2002, the Board established an audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) which currently comprises three INEDs, chaired by Mr. Lam
Williamson with other two members Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond and Mr.
Wong Hoi Kuen.

The Audit Committee’s major responsibilities include:

(i Relationship with external auditors
e to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditor, and to approve
the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor,
and any questions of its resignation or dismissal;

e to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance
with applicable standards; and

® to develop and implement policy on engaging an external auditor to
supply non-audit services;

(i) Review of financial information
To monitor integrity of the Company’s financial statements and annual
report and accounts, interim report and, if prepared for publication
reports, and to review significant financial reporting judgements contained
in them.

(iii) Oversight of the Company’s financial reporting system, internal control
and risk management systems
* to review the Company’s financial controls, internal control and risk
management systems;

e to discuss the internal control system and risk management system
with management to ensure that management has performed its duty
to have an effective internal control system; and

(iv) R ERE
ESAEARN—YEBLEHE  URESE
BraEURGHREARENLhERAEE-

(v) HEES
BEURTENR ESRRFEEREALE
FOURETREREECERY AERL K
ARECEEERARDNARSEBZMBRE

BEENRE-

EARFEXERTAHIRN -] ESFCHILT
INEBZRES UEBAQRAZREARSE -%E
ZEEZRERSBABIUFHUITES - B FH
RRERZEEUZHAGCHELEMRE -

R-ZZBE-F=ZA+\B ESERIUEKREES
([FEZEE"])  BRAZEBIFHTESEN
MEEELERETFE MESMERERBWKRELER
BEEELE -

EREEETERBERRE

() EESPEER BT BR
o  HABREMZEMT EFEIREELDE
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e to consider major investigations findings on internal control and risk
management matters as delegated by the Board.

The Audit Committee’s authority and duties are set out in written terms of
reference which are publicly available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

° REZEZZR MEBRANERREARE
EEH ERREERETHE -

EREEEZRIRBERNEORELEERN  MEB
ERESETRAD R RBR 2@ EAMRER -

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year ended 31 March 2023 ERZEEEERBE-_E-_ZF=ZA=Z+—HLFE
and the attendance record of each Audit Committee member is set out below: RETMAER SERZESHEZHELEEHT
mTE
Attendance
of Audit
Committee
Meetings
ERZ=HRE
FRHERE
Independent non-executive Directors BIAFERITES
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond Pk EE 2/2
Mr. Lam Williamson MEEEE 2/2
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen HEELEE 2/2

The major work performed by the Audit Committee during the year ended 31
March 2023 is summarised below:

(i) Review of Financial Statements

The Audit Committee met and held discussions with the Group's external
auditors and senior management, and reviewed the draft annual report
and financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023 and interim
report and financial statements for the six months ended 30 September
2022 before making recommendations for the Board’s approval. It
reviewed and discussed the management’s reports and representations
with a view to ensuring that the Group’s consolidated financial statements
are prepared in accordance with the accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the applicable disclosure requirements of
Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules.

(ii) Review of the Company’s financial controls, risk

management and internal control systems

The Audit Committee reviewed the process by which the Group evaluated
its control environment and its risk assessment process, and the way in
which business and control risks were managed on an annual basis. It
made recommendations to the Board about the effectiveness of internal
control systems in the Group’s business operations. These controls and
systems allowed the Board to monitor the Company’s overall financial
position and to protect its assets.

EBREEENEBE-_S-_=F=ZA=+t—HLEER
BI2EEI/E@MtmT :

(i) FRAMBEE
EREETHAKEZIMERHARSRERE
HOTEFRRETHHR  UNESSREMEER
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ZESEMRIWEEE 2 RERRL - SEH®
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SRR FHRAM ST A2 ERRERE R
Bl o
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On 14 July 2006, the Board established a remuneration committee

(the

“Remuneration Committee”) which currently comprises two

INEDs and one executive Director, chaired by Mr. Lam Williamson

with

other two members Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond and

Mr. Chiu Sui Keung.

The Remuneration Committee’s major responsibilities include:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(i)

to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for all Directors’ and senior management and establishment of a
formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages to
individual executive Directors and senior management;

to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals with
reference to the Board's corporate goals and objectives;

to make recommendations to the Board of the remuneration of
non-executive Directors;

to review and approve compensation payable to executive Directors and
senior management for any loss or termination of office or appointment to
ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms and otherwise fair and
not excessive;

to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or
removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that they are consistent with
contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and appropriate;

to ensure that no Director or any of his associates is involved in deciding
is own remuneration;

to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in the group; and

to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The Group has adopted the remuneration policy for employees at all levels of
the Group with the following key principles:

competitive with the market: market competitiveness is assessed by
benchmarking against a predetermined target market positioning for
comparable jobs, including base salary, allowances, bonus and retirement
benefits;

differentiation of payment based on individual performance: all staff
will be given honest and comprehensive feedback on their performance
and how they are viewed by the Company their performance will be
assessed against these goals and how they measure up to the required
competencies for each role;

bonus: the award of a bonus is made at the Company’s discretion,
which will vary depending on the Company’s financial performance and
individual performance

retirement benefit: all staff are offered the opportunity to participate in a
suitable pension scheme to provide for their retirement

REZZBZERFLATHR EFERILFHNZEES
(FHMERE])  BAHMEBIFATESR—F
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The Remuneration Committee’s authority and duties are set out in written terms
of reference which are publicly available on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange. The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee
adopted the model under Code Provision E.1.2(c)(ii) and the Remuneration
Committee makes recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive Directors and senior management.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the year ended 31
March 2023.

Directors

BE

Mr. Lam Williamson MEEEE
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond KR EE
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung HIHREE

FINZEES R IRBERNEOREEERN ME
ERESEATRARARBERA 2@ ERARER -
FNEE S BREEEC R AIRSTEEE..2(c)(ii) 5
TRER FHEESSHENNTESRSREERE
ZHEWEBNESSRHERES -

GHERRRBE S -=F=A=-BLFEM
BT —REH -

Attendance of
Remuneration
Committee Meeting

FH=EEERHERR

7
1/1
1/1

A summary of the work performed by the Remuneration Committee during the
year ended 31 March 2023 is as follows:

- Assessed and reviewed the performance of Directors and senior
management in June 2022

- Determined the policy for the remuneration of the executive Directors and
senior management in June 2022

= Reviewed the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee

The remuneration of the members of the senior management of the Group by
band for the year ended 31 March 2023 is set out below:

Remuneration bands

GHMESENEBE S -_=F=A=1t—HLEFEE
TZIEMHINT :

- RIBEZ_FXRAFTGEERTESERENEE

Bz&R

- RIZBEZZEAAEEEBITEEZERSRE
BRE 2 HMEE

- ERFHESEHEHE

BE_Z_=f=A=+t—HLFEAKEESHEE
Bo#HMAaRmT :

Number of persons

FrEf R AB
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z£2%1,000,000% 5T 4
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,00138 T £2,000,0003 T 2

HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000
HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000
Over HK$4,000,000

2,000,001 5t £3,000,0003 T -
3,000,001 T £4,000,0003% T
#3B4,000,0005% 5T -

BELTRAME T AERESHEURTIERRESH
MAEBEERE ZE - SFBRANGES B HRMN

the Listing Rules are set out in Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements. 10

Further particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the five highest paid
employees of the Group as required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to
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On 14 July 2006, the Board established a nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) which currently comprises three INEDs, chaired
by Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond with other two members Mr. Lam
Williamson and Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen.

The Nomination Committee’s major responsibilities include:

(i) to review the structure, size, composition (including skills, knowledge
and experience) and diversity of the Board at least annually and make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to complement

the Company’s corporate strategy;

(i) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of
individuals nominated for directorship, having due regard to the Board
Diversity Policy (as defined below) and the nomination policy of the

Company;
(iii) to assess the independence of INEDs;

(iv) to make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or reappointment of Directors and succession planning for

Directors;

(v) to review the Board Diversity Policy as appropriate and make
recommendations on any required changes to the Board for consideration
and approval, and monitor its implementation so as to ensure its
effectiveness, and make disclosure of its summary and the progress of its
implementation in the corporate governance report; and

(vi) to review the nomination policy for the Directors and to make disclosure
of the summary of nomination policy in the annual report of the Company

annually.

The Nomination Committee’s authority and duties are set out in written terms of
reference which are publicly available on the websites of the Company and the

Stock Exchange.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year ended 31 March
2023.

Directors

-

Mr. Cheng Wing Keung [ $ -
Mr. Lam Williamson MEEEE
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen EERELEE
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Attendance of
Nomination
Committee Meeting

REZRETRHEREY

1/1
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The Nomination Committee has reviewed and discussed: (1) the prevailing
structure, size and composition of the Board; (2) the independence of the
INEDs; and (3) nomination of Directors for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting. The Nomination Committee has made recommendations to the
Board.

REZESRENRTM: ()ESE2RTRE R
BRAR Q)BUFHTES 22BN RO)RER
BRREFASGLREERER2ES -REEEEC
MESSRHES -
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The Group has a long-established practice of a benchmarked approach
in determining the fees of our INEDs, which does not involve equity-based
remuneration and performance-related elements, with an aim to avoid leading
to bias in their decision-making and compromising their objectivity and
independence. The level of fees payable to INEDs is subject to Shareholders’
approval.

Nomination Policy

The Board has adopted a nomination policy which aims to:

(i)  sets out the criteria and process in the nomination and appointment of
directors;

(i) ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the Company; and

(iii) ensure the Board continuity and appropriate leadership at Board level.

Below are the nomination procedures and the process and criteria adopted
by the Nomination Committee to select and recommend candidates for
directorship.

Selection Criteria
The Nomination Committee shall consider the following criteria in evaluating
and selecting candidates for directorships:

e character and integrity;

e qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and
experience and diversity aspects under the Board Diversity Policy that are
relevant to the Company’s business and corporate strategy;

e any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on the Board;

e  requirement for the Board to have independent Directors in accordance
with the Listing Rules and whether the candidate would be considered
independent with reference to the independence guidelines set out in the
Listing Rules;

e  any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the Board in terms
of qualifications, skills, experience, independence and gender diversity;

e willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a
member of the Board and/or Board committee(s); and

e any other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company’s business
and succession plan and where applicable, may be adopted and/or
amended by the Board and/or the Nomination Committee from time to
time for nomination of Directors and succession planning.
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Directors’ Nomination Procedures

The Board has the relevant procedures for Directors’ nomination which are

pursuant fo the Listing Rules and the Articles as detailed below.

(a) Appointment of Directors

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

the Nomination Committee identifies individual(s) suitably qualified
to become Board members, having due regard to the Board
Diversity Policy (as defined below) and the nomination policy of the
Company, and assesses the independence of the proposed INED(s)
as appropriate;

The Nomination Committee makes recommendation(s) to the Board;

The Board considers the individual(s) recommended by the
Nomination Committee, having due regard to the Board Diversity
Policy (as defined below) and the nomination policy of the Company;

The Board confirms the appointment of the individual(s) as Director(s)
or recommends the individual(s) to stand for election at a general
meeting. Individual(s) appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy or as an addition to the Board will be subject to re-election
by Shareholders at the next annual general meeting after initial
appointment in accordance with the Arficles.

The Shareholders approve the election of individual(s), who stand(s)
for election at general meeting, as Director(s).

(b) Re-appointment of Directors

)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(%)

The Nomination Committee considers each retiring Director, having
due regard to the Board Diversity Policy (as defined below) and the
nomination policy of the Company, and assesses the independence
of each retiring INED.

The Nomination Committee makes recommendation(s) to the Board.
The Board considers each retiring Director recommended by the
Nomination Committee, having due regard to the Board Diversity

Policy and the nomination policy of the Company.

The Board recommends the retiring Directors to stand for re-election
at the annual general meeting in accordance with the Articles.

The Shareholders approve the re-election of Directors at the annual
general meeting.
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The Board has adopted a “board diversity policy” in relation to the nomination
and appointment of new Directors, which provides that the selection of Board
candidates shall be based on a range of diversity perspectives with reference
to the Company’s business model and specific needs, including but not limited
to gender, age, race, language, cultural background, educational background,
industry experience and professional experience (the “Board Diversity
Policy”). The above measurements were also reviewed and adopted when the
Nomination Committee reviewed the composition of the Board. After assessing
the suitability of the Directors’ skills and experience to the Company’s business,
the Nomination Committee confirmed that the existing Board was appropriately
structured and no change was required. The Nomination Committee reviews the
Board Diversity Policy annually.

The Company’s corporate governance functions are carried out by the Board
pursuant to a set of written terms of reference adopted by the Board, which
include:

(a) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance and make recommendations to the Board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management of the Group;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees of the Group and the Directors;
and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in
the corporate governance report.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, in addition to carrying out the
above responsibilities, the Board reviewed the amendments to the CG Code
requirements under the Listing Rules.

The Board has overall responsibilities for maintaining sound and effective
internal control systems of the Group. The Group’s systems of internal control
include a defined management structure with limits of authority which is
designed to help the achievement of business objectives, safeguard assets
against unauthorised use or disposition, to ensure the maintenance of proper
accounting records for the provision of reliable financial information for internal
use or for publication, and to ensure compliance with relevant legislation and
regulations. The systems are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance against material misstatement or loss and to manage rather than
eliminate risks of failure in operational systems and achievement of the Group’s
objectives.
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(i) Organisational Structure
An organisational structure with operating policies and procedures, lines
of responsibility and delegated authority has been established.

(ii) Authority and Control

The relevant executive Directors and senior management are delegated
with respective levels of written authorities with regard to key corporate
strategy and policy and contractual commitments. Such delegation
arrangement is regularly reviewed in order to ensure its effectiveness.

(iii) Budgetary Control and Financial Reporting
Proper controls are in place for the recording of complete, accurate and
timely accounting and management information. Regular reviews and
audits are carried out to ensure that the preparation of financial statements
is carried out in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, the Group’s accounting policies and applicable laws and
regulations.

(iv) Group Risk Management
The Group has developed and implemented risk mitigation strategies
including ESG risks, the use of insurance to transfer the financial impact of
risk upon directors and senior management.

During the year 31 March 2023, the Group has complied with Principle D.2
of the CG Code by establishing appropriate and effective risk management
and internal control systems. Management is responsible for the design,
implementation and monitoring of such systems, while the Board oversees
management in performing its duties on an ongoing basis. Main features of
the risk management and internal control systems are described in the sections
below:

Risk Management System

The Group adopts a risk management system which manages the risks
(including ESG risks) associated with its business and operations. The system
comprises the following phases:

(i) Identification: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives and risks that
could affect the achievement of objectives;

(i) Evaluation: Analyse the likelihood and impact of risks and evaluate the
risk portfolio accordingly; and

(iii) Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective communication
to the Board and on-going monitor the residual risks.

Based on the risk assessments conducted in for the year ended 31 March 2023,
no significant risk was identified.
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Internal Control System

The Company has in place an internal control system which is compatible with
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the
“COSO") 2013 framework. The framework enables the Group to achieve
objectives regarding effectiveness and efficiency of operations, reliability of
financial reporting and compliance with applicable laws and regulations. The
components of the framework are shown as follows:

(i)  Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and structures that

provide the basis for carrying out internal control across the Group;

(i) Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for identifying and
analyzing risks to achieve the Group’s objectives, forming a basis for
determining how risks should be managed;

(iii) Control Activities: Action established by policies and procedures to help
ensure that management directives to mitigate risks to the achievement of

objectives are carried out;

(iv) Information and Communication: Internal and external communication to
provide the Group with the information needed to carry out day-to-day

controls; and

(v)  Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain whether each

components of internal control is present and functioning.

In order to enhance the Group’s system of handling inside information, and
to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness and timeliness of its public
disclosures, the Group also adopts and implements an inside information policy
and procedures. Certain reasonable measures have been taken from time to
time to ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach of the relevant
disclosure requirements in relation to the Group, which include:

(i)  the access of information is restricted to a limited number of employees
on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in possession of inside
information are fully conversant with their obligations to preserve

confidentiality;

(i) confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group enters into

significant negotiations; and

(iii) the executive Directors are designated persons who speak on behalf of the
Company when communicating with external parties such as the media,

analysts or investors.

Whistleblowing Policy

In the meantime, the Company has established a whistleblowing policy, which
allows employees of the Group and those who deal with the Group (e.g. customers,
suppliers, creditors and debtors) to report to directly to the Audit Committee any
suspected impropriety, misconduct or malpractice within the Group.

The policy aims to provide reporting channels and guidance on reporting possible
improprieties and reassurance to whistleblowers of the protection that the Group
will extend to them in the formal system, including anonymity and legal protection
against unfair dismissal or victimization for any genuine reports made.
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The Group has engaged an external professional to carry out the internal audit
functions of the Group. The internal audit function is independent of the Group's
daily operation and carries out appraisal of the risk management and internal
control systems by conducting interviews, walk-throughs and tests of operating
effectiveness.

An internal audit plan has been approved by the Board. According to the
established plan, review of the risk management and internal control systems for
agreed review scope is conducted under rotation basis annually and the results
are reported to the Board via the Audit Committee afterwards.

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group and ensuring review of the effectiveness of these systems has been
conducted annually. Several areas have been considered during the Board'’s
review, which include but not limited to (i) the changes in the nature and extent
of significant risks since the last annual review, and the Group’s ability to
respond to changes in its business and the external environment; and (ii) the
scope and quality of management’s ongoing monitoring of risks and of the
internal control systems.

The Board, through its annual review and the review made by internal audit
function and the Audit Committee, concluded that the risk management and
internal control systems during the year ended 31 March 2023 were effective
and adequate. Such systems, however, are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
It is also considered that the resources, staff qualifications and experience
of relevant staff were adequate and the training programs and budget of the
Company’s accounting, internal audit, and financial reporting functions, as
well as those relating to the Company’s ESG performance and reporting
provided were sufficient.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited (“HLB”) is currently appointed as the
external auditors of the Company, which provides audit and non-audit services
to the Company. In order to maintain HLB's independence and objectivity
and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with the applicable
standards, the Audit Committee, under its terms of reference, holds meetings
with HLB to discuss the nature and scope of their audit and related fees, and to
approve the nature and scope of non-audit services requested by the Company
and related fees.
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The nature of audit and non-audit services provided by HLB and fees paid
to HLB (including any entity that is under common control, ownership or
management with the audit firm or any entity that a reasonable and informed
third party having knowledge of all relevant information would reasonably
conclude as part of the audit firm nationally or internationally) are set out
below:

Auditors’ remuneration BT &
— Audit services - ZE R
— Tax services — B BR 7%
— Other services — H b R 7%

BEERECRERERERE-HERINTEE (2
FHGENMEEMSAPEH - BERNEE (M
B BAEFERBEN A BB E =S EE
EAZESTMBBMzERNSERD B2 FAHE) =
BRAMT :

HK$'000
FET

700

700

The Board has accepted the recommendation from the Audit Committee on
appointment HLB as the external auditors of the Company for the year ending
31 March 2023 at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining clear, timely and
effective communication with Shareholders and potential investors. Therefore,
the Group is committed to maintaining a high degree of transparency to
ensure the potential investors and the Shareholders receive accurate, clear
and comprehensive and timely information of the Group by the regulatory
publications such as publish financial statements, results announcements
and circulars, press release and news articles, general meetings and other
investment market communications such as roadshows and media interviews.

The primary platform for publication of all announcements and circulars made
by the Company in accordance with applicable regulatory requirements
is through a financial printer who maintains a site for the Company at
http://www.capitalfp.com.hk/eng/index.jsp2co=223 (English Version) and
www.capitalfp.com.hk/chi/index.jsp2co=223 (Chinese Version). In addition,
the Company also publishes all corporate correspondence on its website
http://www.elife.com.hk as an additional communication channel to the
Shareholders.

The Board maintains regular dialogues with institutional investors and analysts
to keep them informed of the Group’s strategy, operations, management and
plans. The Directors and the members of various committees would attend and
answer questions raised at the annual general meeting of the Company. The
auditor of the Company will also attend the annual general meeting to answer
questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and content of the
auditor’s report, the accounting policies and auditor independence. Separate
resolutions would be proposed at the general meeting on each substantially
separate issue.

The chairman of the general meetings of the Company would explain the
procedures for conducting a poll before putting a resolution to vote. The results
of the voting by poll would be published on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company respectively.

After taking into account that the Shareholders have multiple channels to
communicate their views as mentioned above as well as the steps taken by the
Board to solicit and understand the views of Shareholders and stakeholders
during the year ended 31 March 2023 including but not limited to open
discussion with the Shareholders during the annual general meeting, the
Board’s review of the implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholders’

\ H communication policy was found to be sound and adequate.
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Shareholders’ rights to requisite for and convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting (“EGM”)

According to Article 58 of the Articles, any one or more Shareholders holding
not less than 10 per cent of the paid-up capital of the Company may by written
requisition to require an EGM to be called by the Board or the Company
Secretary. The Board or the Company Secretary must proceed to convene
an EGM as soon as possible, within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition. The meeting shall be held not later than 2 months after the date of
deposit of the requisition. If the Board fails to convene the EGM as requisitioned
by the Shareholders within 21 days after the date of requisition was received,
all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure
of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Shareholders’ rights of procedures for sending
enquiries to the Board and making proposals at
Shareholders’ meetings

Shareholders have the right to send their enquiries and concerns to the Board or
make proposals at the Shareholders’ meeting by addressing them to the Company
Secretary by mail at the Company’s correspondence address in Hong Kong (Unit
806, Level 8, Core D, Cyberport 3, 100 Cyberport Road Hong Kong) or by
email to the Company’s official email address (info@elife.com.hk). The Company
Secretary forwards all enquiries and proposals relating to ordinary business
matters, such as suggestions, inquiries and consumer complaints to the Board.

The Company Secretary is Mr. Chow Chi Fai (“Mr. Chow"), who is also the
primary corporate contact person of the Company. Mr. Chow is an employee of
the Company and has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affair.

The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is subject to Board
approval. Whilst the Company Secretary reports to the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer, all members of the Board have access to his advice and

service.

Details of the biography of the Company Secretary is set out in the section
headed “Directors & Senior Management Profiles” of this annual report.

In compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Chow has undertaken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the year ended 31
March 2023.
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The Company has adopted the amended and restated memorandum and articles
of association of the Company by way of a special resolution passed on 29
September 2022 and effective on the same date, in order to, among other
things, bring the memorandum and articles of association of the Company
in line with the latest legal and regulatory requirements including the core
Shareholder protection standards set out in Appendix 3 to the Listing Rules
which became effective on 1 January 2022.

For details of the amended and restated memorandum and articles of
association of the Company, please refer to the announcement and circular
of the Company both dated 29 August 2022 respectively. Save as disclosed
above, there has been no change in the memorandum and articles of
association of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2023. The
amended and restated memorandum and articles of association of the Company
is available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange,
respectively.

The Company has adopted a dividend policy that, subject to the approval of
the Shareholders and requirement of the relevant law, the Company shall pay
annual dividends to the Shareholders if the Group is profitable, operations
environment is stable and there is no significant investment or commitment
made by the Group. The target annual dividend pay-out shall not exceed 30%
of the consolidated annual net profits (excluding extraordinary items, if any)
attributable to the Shareholders.

In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall also take into account,
among other things, the Group’s financial results, financial position, cash flow
situation, business conditions and strategies, expected future operations and
earnings, capital requirements and expenditure plans, interests of Shareholders,
any restrictions on payment of dividends and any other factors which the Board
may consider relevant. Any payment of the dividend by the Company is also
subject to any restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the
Articles and all applicable laws and regulations.

FARNBEBR-B-—ENA =N BEBZHS
SREERA (AR B 4N A AR 2 EET RE5IA
HERABRME - W (HHRE) EALARER
AARMAGEBRFARREERE  QER-F ==
F—A— B M b AN 8 = AR R0 R R
GER

BREARAEETREN 2 ESERRARMAA 2
B BERAALAEHHA-ZE 2SN NA=+N1A
ZAMRBR - BREMBEEN  ADRZEHBER
RARMANBE_E_=F=F=1+—HBLFEL
EEMEE AQBZKETREIEZERRAR
AR AT A A~ R 4900 R B S P vh & B o

AABEHEMREEE  EPFTAEMERRIMEL
EREHBERRET MEAEBEEER &8
RERERAEEIEFTMEAREYLAE - A2 7
ABRRKNFERE - FEREZERKERARSE
BBRREGGEEFEMATN (TREEMFHRER (I
B))230%°

EXSREBEMRBIRMGE - FEAFR (HPEHE)
REBZMBEE  BHERR - REREMRR - £5
MR R ER  FHAREERAREBRN EFAFREK
Xt E - RRER EARERE  URESET
ERRBARZEMNHEMEER - ARFAMEZEMRE
RN T EZHEBREQAEN - MBARAEERERE
FOEB ARSI

ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED % 4 & # A B A ® - Annual Report 2023 4 #



Report of the Directors

EESERE

The Board submits herewith its report and the audited financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the
principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in Note 18 to
the consolidated financial statements. The Group is engaged in commodities
trading, sales, marketing and brand building of anti-epidemic, daily cleaning
products and licensed branded watches businesses. It has also been expanding
its businesses into the consumer products market including but not limited to
health food and supplements, functional food and food additives in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC") conforming to the Group’s business principle and
mission of delivering “an easier life, greater health and better livelihood” (54

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2023 are set
out in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's loss for the year ended 31 March 2023 and the state of affairs
of the Company and the Group as at that date are set out in the consolidated
financial statements on pages 58 to 171.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend (2022: Nil) in
respect of the year to the Shareholders.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following is a summary of the published consolidated results and of the
assefs and liabilities of the Group:
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EEZE®RE

RESULTS E ¥
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE-ZT-_=F=A=1+—HItFE
2023 2022
=== —E-C
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET THET
Continuing operations RRBERE
Turnover =0 238,840 152,600
Cost of sales SHER A (236,973) (144,751)
Gross profit EF 1,867 7,849
Other income Hi g A 1,579 1,469
Other gain/(losses) — net Hilzs,/ (B18) —F % 701 678
Selling expenses HERX (1,898) (832)
Other operating expenses Hit & EM% (23,452) (24,017)
Equity-settled share-based payment DAREE i B3 BUR D Y 2 FRIR (697) (12,684)
Net allowance for expected credit losses on trade and EZRHEMEWRRE-EHEE
other receivables EIEREFE (442) (14,889)
Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment and #)% - BERREURFEREEE
right-of-use assets ZHEEE (599) -
Loss from operating activities REEBEIE (22,941) (42,426)
Finance costs & B AR (2,262) (2,489)
Loss before tax R A& B (25,203) (44,915)
Taxation BB (33) (1,645)
Loss for the year from continuing operations FREERBZFEEER (25,236) (46,560
Discontinued operation ERILEEEER
Loss for the period/year from a discontinued operation ~ B ILE& £ ANGE EEFHE - (2,815)
Loss for the year REEEE (25,236) (49,375)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) Ht2mka  (HiR)
ltems that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: TEEH EZBR2ER
Change in fair value of financial assets at fair BRAFEFAEMEZEEE 2
value through other comprehensive income MBEERNTEED (173) 390
ltems that may be reclassified HEAGRENTE
subsequently to profit or loss: EEHEZER
Exchange differences on translating BREBINSEER 2
foreign operations EXEH (3,964) 2,616
Reclassification of cumulative translation reserve B BRERENEEBMNEEEBE
upon disposal of a foreign operation EFSE - (1,014
Other comprehensive income FEERttZEKE
for the year (4,137) 1,992
(29,373) (47,383)

Total comprehensive loss for the year FEEREGIRETE
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL.INFORMATION (continued) BESHEHEE @)
2023 2022
= 3—= —EBZCH§
HK$’000 HK$’000
TFET FHET
Loss for the year attributable to owners of SERARAEEAZ
the Company REFEERE
— from continuing operations —RABERKEER (21,673) (38,025)
— from a discontinued operation —REBRILEE T - (2,815)
(21,673) (40,840)
Loss for the year attributable to BENIEERERZ
non-controlling interests REEEE
— from continuing operations —REFEREER (3,563) (8,535)
— from a discontinued operation —REERIEREET = -
(3,563) (8,535)
(25,236) (49,375)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to owners BERARREAAZ
of the Company 2HEEIEBE
— from continuing operations —REFEREER (27,788) (35,027)
— from a discontinued operation —REBKRIEEEER = (2,815)
(27,788) (37,842)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to BENIEERER
non-controlling interests FEBEER
— from continuing operations — RAFELEED (1,585) (9,541)
— from a discontinued operation — REERIEREER 3 -
(1,585) (9,541)
(29,373) (47,383)
Loss per share BRER
From continuing and discontinued operations FELEEBRERIELEED
- Basic and diluted —ERREE (3.0) cents{il (6.3) centsfll
From continuing operations FBREER
- Basic and diluted — AR #E (3.0) centsfil (5.9) centsfll
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

2023
HK$’000
FET

Assets and liabilities HEHAR
Non-current assets ERBEE 4,512
Current assets REBEE 73,638
Current liabilities RBEE (38,923)
Non-current liabilities ERBER (13,615)
25,612

BETHEE @
As at 31 March
®H=BA=+—H

2022 2021 2020 2019
ol bl T ZZTZTF ZT-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHBT FAT FHBT FHET
8,481 16,217 17,746 47,641
92,863 108,340 117,044 179,838
(56,300 (35,171) (71,870) (70,410)
(1,659) (18,258) (1,291) (25,320)
43,385 70,123 61,629 131,749

Note: The results of the Group for the two years ended 31 March 2022 and 31

March 2023 and its assets and liabilities as at 31 March 2022 and 31
March 2023 are set out on pages 58 to 171 of the consolidated financial
statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during
the year are set out in Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the year and
details of the Company’s share-based payment are set out in Notes 31 and 33
to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the share-based payment as disclosed below and Note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements, no equity-linked agreements were entered
into by the Company during the year or subsisted as at the end of the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the laws
of the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the Company is
incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-
rata basis to existing Shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

The Company or any of its subsidiaries had not purchased, redeemed or sold
any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

HiF: AEEBE-Z-__F=A=t-AR-ZT-=F
ERAEtT-HLIMEFEZREARRIR-2==
FZR=T-HR-BE-=f=ZA=t—-RHAZ&
EREEHNGEUBEREESBERI7IR -

MR - BE kR
FEBFAZYE BERRBEZDEFRNEEY
BIRMFE6 ©

BRERUBRGIMZREA
ARBFAZRAZEFERAE QR UMD S 2K
EBRNGEE M B IRRMEEI 1IR3 -

B 5% 1 89 13 it
BRTXRGEVBMRMEAISHWENAROG T2
B ARARFALER] LEAREHBIHZ
TENF RS FENRZE 5 -

BxREE

AMAREEHS (ARAREMH LR EER) &
PIMERBARNELBERZKR  MEAQARR
AR RERRBERRND -

ME MOXHEFL2FZLHTES

ARARREAWEADEFABEBE - WER Y
EEARARNZETRS -
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Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during the
year are set out in Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements and in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.

As at 31 March 2023, the Company did not have reserves available for cash
distribution and/or distribution in specie, calculated in accordance with the
Companies Law (2003 Revision) of the Cayman Islands to members. No final
dividend has been proposed out of such reserves for the year (2022: Nil).

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group’s largest and five (2022:
six) largest customers’ aggregate amount represented approximately 93.4%
(2022: approximately 14.3%) and approximately 98.4% (2022: approximately
83.2%) of the Group's total revenue, respectively. The Group's largest and five
(2022: five) largest suppliers’ aggregate amount represented approximately
25.2% (2022: approximately: 17.7%) and approximately 68.0% (2022:
approximately 67.7%) of the Group's cost of sales, respectively.

Save as disclosed in the consolidated financial statements, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors, their close associates or any
Shareholder owning more than 5% of the number of issued Shares, has any
interest in the Group's five largest customers or five largest suppliers.

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Xiaobin (Chairman)

Mr. Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman)

Mr. Chiu Sui Keung (Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Qin Jiali (Appointed on 1 July 2023)

Mr. Zhang Shaoyan (Appointed on 1 July 2023)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond

Mr. Lam Williamson

Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen

Dr. Lam Lee G.

In accordance with Articles 87(1) and (2) of the Articles, Mr. Zhang Xiaobin, Mr.
Gao Feng and Mr. Chiu Sui Keung will be eligible for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

In accordance with Article 86(3) of the Articles, the two newly appointed Directors,
namely, Ms. Qin Jiali and Mr. Zhang Shaoyan will retire and be eligible for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Company has received confirmation from each of the INEDs about his
independence pursuant of Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the
view that all INEDs meet the independent rules and continues to consider each
of them to be independent.

ERARAEEEFAZHBEBFBEINEAREGS
BB BMRMFNLRGEERBER -

AZEZ=F=ZA=+—H  ARAAUERRHER
SNEE(CEEZFEITMR) AEZTHERES DK
R/ RENDR2HEE RAFELEZZAERR
BRBARBRE (ZE=ZF 1 &) -

BE-_Z_=F=A=1+—-BLFE FAEERXE
FHERR(CZE--F BEAB)BRAEFERMZNK
HAESRMEAREBBKRZENIS A% (=T ==
#14.3%) R#H98.4% (ZFE-—F : £983.2%) ~ K&
ERAMEREEAE (ZE__F BH8)BAMH
EEERMHEELES B RNEBHEERRL25.2%
(ZE2==F N177%) EH68.0% (ZFE==—F: 4§
67.7%) °

BReEaMBRRMREEN  BESRMRA  HEE
B HERBRBEATHIEAEECSBITROBESWU
t2RFERAEBELERAT PR EREBRAME
BREAEAEE -

FARBEAREABRLEZESNT !

BITEE

REBW AL (EF)

B EE (BIER)

HHERALE (THAR)
EABZT(R=ZE-_=5tA-BEZEF)
RAERE(RZZE=Z5tA—BEZEE)

BIFRITES
WA
HEEEE
BRERE
ES 3RS

RIBARIES7 (1)K (2)fF - REW AL - SIEEERME
HBEEBHEERNERERRBFRS LEEET -

RIEMAIESOQ)MF  MEMTESEEE LTI RKA
EREREGRME UFEERREERREFAS L
BEEELE -

AARCKIABUBYFHUTESRELTRASE
SIMREHABEB UM ZBRAE - ARAARRME
BYFHTESHETHELRR  TEEIARSEY
RBIAL -
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group are
set out on pages 13 to 16 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS” SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with
the Company for an initial term of 3 years commencing from the date of the
employment and continuing thereafter until terminated by either party by giving
not less than three months’ notice in writing to the other.

All INEDs entered into a lefter of appointment with the Company for an initial
term of three years on 1 May 2018 and continuing thereafter until terminated
by either party by giving notice.

Apart from the foregoing, no Director proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

During the year, Directors’ remuneration, comprised payments to the Directors
and its subsidiaries in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Group, is as follow:

EFEREREEECHE

EERAEESHREEECHERANAFREIESE
16H °

EFZBRBESH

EUTESCRANDTIRBEH > BEREHE
HONSRB=F UWTRELEN HEHR-—HE
B-ARUTOR=EAZEABATULIERIL -

FEBILFATESHYR -_"ZT-—NFAA-—HEELD
AFNERE NSRHM=F HEK-HLE B
EEM-AHHBAMAKLERLE -

BRLEdEN  BREERRBEFASLEEEECE
EMERARQFAITUARAFIER-—FAKLEMBE
EHEEE CEERERN) 2 RBEEH -

EFEHe
FR EEME (BREREELAEEEBMIMSFAR
AREMBRARSESZRBE)MNT

Equity-
settled
Basic Other share-based MPF
Name of Director Fees salaries  allowances payment contributions Total
DESEEEL
EES g EFFe Rl ROIHZRE BREMD At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FEL FET
2023: ot o} 3
Executive Directors BTEE
Mr. Zhang Xiaobin (Chairman) REWEE (X)) - 3,600 - - - 3,600
Mr. Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman| BELE (BEE) - 1,560 39 - 18 1,617
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung (Chief Executive Officer)  #ina %4t (1THE%) - 1,200 - - 18 1,218
Independent non-executive Directors ~ BILFHTEF
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond xEEAE 120 - - - - 120
Mr. Lam Williamson WEEEAE 120 - - - - 120
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen BEELE 120 - - - - 120
Dr. Lam Lee G. HxREELT 120 - - - - 120
480 6,360 39 - 36 6,915
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) EFEME @
Equity-setiled
Basic Other share-based MPF
Name of Director Fees salaries allowances payment  contributions Total
RS
W IARR (R
BEfA He HEAEe Hi 228 Xz HE BEEHR Ch
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR T TR TR TR
2022: “E-Cf:
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Zhang Xiaobin (Chairman) REWELE (TF) = 3,600 = 94 = 3,694
Mr. Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman) SELE (BIXR) = 1,560 52 94 18 1,724
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung (Chief Executive Officer) HInR L (THER) = 1,200 = 94 18 1,312
Independent non-executive Directors BUKHTES
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond x4 120 - - 9 = 129
Mr. Lam Williamson HEEEE 120 = = 9 = 129
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen BRELE 120 = = 9 - 129
Dr. Lam Lee G. HREFL 120 = = 9 = 129
480 6,360 52 318 36 7,246
DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS EEZAVRES

No Director had a significant beneficial interest, either directly or indirectly,

in any contracts of significance to the business of the Group to which the

Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during

the year. Save as disclosed in this report, none of the Directors has had any

direct or indirect interest in any assets which have been acquired or disposed

of by, or leased to, or which are proposed to be acquired or disposed of by, or

leased to, any member of the Group during the year.
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Save as disclosed below, as at 31 March 2023, none of the Directors had
any beneficial interests (including interests or short positions) in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFO”)) which would be required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including the interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed
to have taken under such provisions of the SFO), or which will be required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
in that section, or will be required, pursuant to the Model Code in the Listing
Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Long positions in the Shares as at 31 March 2023

Long positions in the Shares and underlying Shares

Interest in Shares/

BRTXHREEN R=ZZB==F=A=+—-H #E
ESRAQRREEAEE QT ( Eﬁ‘ﬁ%&/ﬁﬂ 5 {6k 51
(ESRMBRGH ) EXVEAE T2 RE) 2D
*ﬁ%ﬁﬂxfﬁ)ﬂa%q]]‘ﬁ’ﬁ’*ﬁﬁmﬁﬁﬁﬁfhﬁ EXVER 15
%7&8 PEAMEARARRARBI N (BERERESR
HEROA2EBEXREFIRRAEET 2 EER K
‘%‘)‘HE?F*E%&EH = {5 5 56 35215 7B °C $2 A =X AR B P
M BRMRARBELEFHAS AR RBR 2
ENERER (BEERNAR) -

R-B-_ZF=ZRA=Z+—HREHZHE

RIRDRAEBERD 2HR

Number of Shares/
Underlying Shares
held (after the

Name of Directors Underlying Shares Capacity Share Consolidation)
Frislin HRERNZHE
EEeE RER HRERBZES E 0] (BRI EaHE)
Zhang Xiaobin Shares Beneficial owner 19,130,298
R ig7) BERERA
Share options Beneficial owner 5,800,000
R EREBA
Gao Feng (Note 1) Shares Beneficial owner 32,551,506
S (1) gl BERERA
Shares Interest of a controlled corporation 17,800,000
ig7) BESEFLAZER
Shares options Beneficial owner 5,800,000
BB BEREEA
Chiu Sui Keung Shares Beneficial owner 5,654,200
Bk ia7) BERERA
Share options Beneficial owner 5,800,000
R EREBA
Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond Shares Beneficial owner 408,200
1% igr) BEREBA
Share options Beneficial owner 580,000
R EREBA
Lam Williamson Shares Beneficial owner 436,200
HeE g} BEREBA
Share options Beneficial owner 580,000
B BEREBA
Wong Hoi Kuen Shares Beneficial owner 436,200
Bk R BEREBA
Share options Beneficial owner 580,000
B BEREBA
Lam Lee G. Shares Beneficial owner 200,000
HRE R BREBA
Share options Beneficial owner 580,000
BB BEREBA
Note: Kt -
1. Mr. Gao Feng is beneficially interested in the entire issued share capital of ACE 1. BSEEEBEHEBACE Channel LimitedZz 232 3

Channel Limited.

IR o
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Save as disclosed in Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements, at no
time during the year was the Company, its holding company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors, their respective
spouse or children under 18 years of age to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of Shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body

corporate.

Details of the Company’s share option scheme are set out in Note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, no share options were granted to
directors, employees and other parties while 7,592,000 (after the Share
Consolidation) share options lapsed. As at 31 March 2023, 40,980,000 (after
the Share Consolidation) share options remained outstanding. The number of
share options that are available for grant under the scheme mandate as at 31
March 2023 was 66,492,871.

The Group did not recognise any equity-settled share-based payment during the
year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: approximately HK$696,000) in relation to
share options granted by the Company.

On 27 June 2017 (the “Adoption Date”), the Board resolved to terminate the
old share award scheme with immediate effect. Such termination shall not affect
the share awards granted by the Board under the old share award scheme.
On the same day, the Board has conditionally resolved to adopt the new share
award scheme (the “New Share Award Scheme”).

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company has not granted any
share awards or approved any purchase of shares by trustee under the New
Share Award Scheme. As at 31 March 2023, no shares were held by any
trustee under the New Share Award Scheme.

The Group recognised an equity-settled share-based payment of approximately
HK$697,000 (2022: approximately HK$11,988,000) during the year ended
31 March 2023, which was related to the vesting of the fourth tranche of the
awarded shares granted on 28 January 2022. There was no more unvested
awarded shares as at 31 March 2023 (2022: 8,400,000).

For further details, please refer to Note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BRESUBHRRMAEIIFAWEESN 20T - HER
RAFHEAMBRARDEFABRET LETZH - &
FEE RERACBRBRISEAT ZFLAEEA
AABREMEMEABEZROIVESMEE -

ADTBBEH B2 HBERRGSHBRRMEIS -

REBE-Z-=F=ZA=+—-HULFE YERES
BEERAEMBFREBRE  BH7,592,0000 8 K&
(RROEHB) AR -R=FB=-_=F=A=+—H"
40,980,000 BB IR #E (R & HHR) M RITHRE - R=
ECZHFZA=T-HRBAARETHRHZEBR
HEHE 566,492,87117 °

AEBRBE-_ZE-_=F=ZA=+—HLEFEHRAR
ARECEREL SRR T MUESEE L LR B
YHRHZHRE(ZZZZF : 8696,00087T) °

REZB—tFAAZTLH(HRWBM]) EX23
REILTERDRBE - DEFER - BEL LB
LEFECRBEROEBAEARBZRORR - F
B EBSERGBRARAFTROEBDE S (HBG
Bmatdl) -

RBE-Z-_ZF=ZAZ=Z+-HLFE XAALE
BEFRORBDA AR TEARDRBIAEZTEA
BEEARMD R_ZB-_=F=ZA=+—8  XEF
AZEARBHROEBABSTERS -

AEBREBE-Z-_=F=A=1T—HLLFEEIU
BEEEL URM X ZHELH697,0008 T (=&
ZZ”F 1 #11,988,0008%) EFERR=_FT==
— A+ N\ARHEZENNERRO2EBE -R=F
TEF=AZT-HBEMNABBZREBRHG (=T
— =% :8,400,000/R) °

ERE-—DHE F2RRSUHMRMAEIS -
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND INTERESTS
DISCLOSABLE UNDER THE SFO

As at 31 March 2023, the following interests of 5% or more of the issued share
capital of the Company were recorded in the register of interests required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

FERFRRBEBESRURGEAATHRS
i

REZZBZ=F=ZA=+t—H A RFACBITRAES%H
UEZTHRSZDIERARAREZZRBEMRE
R AFEZ2EEETMA

Approximate
Number of percentage of
Shares existing issued
interested (after ordinary share
the Share capital of the Company
Name of Shareholders Note Consolidation) Nature of interests Capacity (Note 3)
EELFTRBERT
RRERZRANAE BERRFZBHEIL
BREE &8 [ (BRinaHE) HEHEHE L] (P &E3)
Ms. Liv Qivhua 71,763,400 long positions Beneficial owner 9.53%
EMELT #e BEREAA
ACE Channel Limited 1 17,800,000  Long positions Beneficial owner 2.36%
(“ACE Channel’) #E ERERA
Mr. Gao Feng 32,551,506  Long positions Beneficial owner 4.33%
BELE "R EREEAA
1 17,800,000 Long positions interest of a controlled corporation 2.36%
B#E BEZEALRAzER
2 5,800,000  Long positions Beneficial owner 0.77%
"R BEREAA
Mr. Zhu Qian ("Mr. Zhu") 41,800,000 long positions Beneficial owner 5.55%
REZEE ([REE]D "R EREAA
Notes: Bt
1. Mr. Gao Feng is beneficially interested in the entire issued share capital of 1. BBELEEREBACE Channel2BEBITRA 2

ACE Channel. By virtue of the SFO, he is deemed to be interested in the
17,800,000 Shares beneficially owned by ACE Channel.

2. Mr. Gao Feng is beneficially interested in 5,800,000 share options.

3. The shareholding percentages are calculated based on the issued share capital
of the Company as at 31 March 2023.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the year, save for the service contracts of the Directors, the Company
had not entered into any contract with any individual, firm or body corporate to
manage or administer the whole or any substantial part of any business of the

Company.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No other contracts of significance between the Company or any of its
subsidiary companies and a controlling Shareholder or may compete with the
business of the Group.

ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED 5 4 i e A7 LA+ -

@ o RIBFSF REERG - iR A#EHE 17,800,000
B EHACE Channel B&= B 2 IR0 2 4 o

2. PELEEEZREHFS 800,000 HRE R -
3. ROBBEZBEILNREAQNAR-ZT=-=%=A
=+ -HZEeBITRAH -

TEESH

FRBREESZRBSHON  XAAMBEETFAA
T EESEABRBITLEFASHOURADBEME
Bz2RREMERBHETERRTHRER -

EXEH
AARFEEMAMBELRERZRBRR 2B BT EH
EAREREBZEBBRATEBRRFEZEN ©
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Certain related party transaction(s) as set out in Note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements also constituted connected transactions under the Listing
Rules. Details of such connected transactions of the Group during the year are
set out below.

Guarantee in relation to the Loan Agreement
between Sino Talent Limited and Graceful Ocean
International Group Holding Limited

On 11 September 2014, Sino Talent Holdings Limited (“Sino Talent”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as lender, entered into a loan
agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) with Graceful Ocean International
Group Holding Limited (“Graceful Ocean”) as borrower and Mr. Ma Haike
(“Mr. Ma") as first guarantor whereby Sino Talent agreed to advance to
Graceful Ocean a term loan in the principal amount of HK$18 million (the
“Loan”) with interest accrued at the rate of 13% per annum. The parties
entered into five supplemental agreements to the Loan Agreement between April
2015 and June 2018 to, among other things, postpone the maturity date of the
Loan to 31 March 2019. On 24 June 2019, the parties and Mr. Gao entered
into the sixth supplemental agreement to the Loan Agreement with the interest
rate of 10% per annum, to further postpone the maturity date of the Loan
to 31 March 2020. Meanwhile, as an additional security of the repayment
obligations of the Borrower under the Loan Agreement (as supplemented
by the six supplemental agreements), Mr. Gao, an executive Director and
the Vice-Chairman, entered into a second guarantee contract (“Mr. Gao’s
Second Guarantee”) with Sino Talent and Graceful Ocean whereby Mr.
Gao agreed to act as the second guarantor and in the event and only when
Mr. Ma failed to or refused to fulfill its guarantee obligations as the first
guarantor, guarantee the due performance of Graceful Ocean in respect of its
repayment obligations under the Loan Agreement (as supplemented by the six
supplemental agreements). On 12 June 2020, the parties and Mr. Gao entered
into the seventh supplemental agreement to further postpone the maturity date
of the Loan to 31 March 2021. On 23 April 2021, Mr. Gao entered into a
repayment agreement with Sino Talent to take up responsibilities to repay the
outstanding balances with interest at the rate of 5% per annum by the end of
December 2022 on behalf of Graceful Ocean when Mr. Ma failed to settle the
Loan. On 17 January 2023, Mr. Gao entered into an amendment agreement
with Sino Talent to further extend the final repayment date to 31 December
2023. As at 31 March 2023, the total outstanding amount of the Loan and the
interest accrued thereon was approximately HK$21,936,000. Up to the date of
this report, HK$300,000 was settled by Mr. Gao.

For details of the amendment agreement, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 17 January 2023.

As at the date of Mr. Gao’s Second Guarantee, Mr. Gao is an executive
Director and the Vice-Chairman and is therefore a connected person of the
Company. Mr. Gao’s Second Guarantee therefore constitutes a connected
transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. However,
Mr. Gao’s Second Guarantee is conducted on normal commercial terms or
better terms and is not secured by the assets of the Group. In this regard, it is
exempt from all requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules pursuant to

Rule 14A.90 of the Listing Rules.
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Report of the Directors
EEEWE

In addition, as the principal amount of the Loan exceeds 8% of the assets ratio
as defined under Rule 14.07(1) of the Listing Rules, the Loan is regarded as
advance to an entity and is subject to the general disclosure obligation under

Rules 13.13 and 13.20 of the Listing Rules.

On 9 November 2020, Smart Challenger, an indirect non wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into the 2020 Procurement Framework
ltd (“Yangzhou
Yuanda”), pursuant to which Smart Challenger agreed that Smart Challenger
or its subsidiaries will procure and Yangzhou Yuanda agreed to supply the

Agreement with Yangzhou Yiyuantang Commodity Co.,

daily cleaning and anti-epidemic products for a term of two years and four
months from 1 September 2020 to 31 December 2022 (both days inclusive).
Mr. Zhu controls more than 30% of the voting power in general meetings of
Yangzhou Yuanda. Mr. Zhu is also a substantial shareholder of Century Smart
and Smart Challenger, and is, therefore, a connected person of the Company.
The transactions contemplated under the 2020 Procurement Framework
Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company under
the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to the 2020 Procurement Framework Agreement, Yangzhou Yuanda
agreed to supply the daily cleaning and anti-epidemic products to Smart
Challenger and its subsidiaries at the selling prices determined principally by
arm’s length commercial negotiations with reference to the prevailing market
prices and a markup to the per unit cost of the products.

Details of the continuing connected transactions under the 2020 Procurement
Framework Agreement are set out below, which are subject to the reporting and
announcement requirements but are exempt from the independent Shareholders’
approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules:

For the period between
1 September 2020 and
31 December 2020
—E_EFAA—HE
ZE2F+ZAH
=+—BHHME
RMB
AR¥T
FELR

Annual Cap 20,000,000
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For the year ended
31 December 2022

For the year ended
31 December 2021

BE"2T_—%1+Z-A BE-2-_"%+Z-A

=+—HIEEE =+—HLE®FE
RMB RMB

AR ARHET
57,000,000 60,000,000

On 9 January 2023, Mr. Zhu, Smart Challenger and Yangzhou Yuanda entered
into the 2023 Procurement Framework Agreement as they intended to continue
carrying out the existing transactions.

Under the 2023 Procurement Framework Agreement, it was agreed that Smart
Challenger or its subsidiaries shall procure, and Yangzhou Yuanda or Mr. Zhu's
Associates (that is, the companies which are held as to 30% or more by Mr.
Zhu) shall supply the daily cleaning and anti-epidemic products.
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The prices for the goods to be procured under the 2023 Procurement
Framework Agreement are determined principally by arm’s length commercial
negotiations according to the principles of fairness and reasonableness among
the parties with reference to the prevailing market prices and a markup to the
unit cost of the products.

Details of the continuing connected transactions under the 2023 Procurement
Framework Agreement are set out below, which are subject to the reporting and
announcement requirements but are exempt from the independent Shareholders’
approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules:

For details of the 2023 Procurement Framework Agreement, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 9 January 2023.

For the year ending
31 December 2023
BE—S"=
+ZRA=+—HLLFE
RMB
AR¥T
FE LR

Annual Cap 15,000,000

For the year ending
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For the year ending

31 December 2024 31 December 2025

BE_ZT_mF BE_S-5HF
+=R=+—HL*FE +ZRA=+—HIL¥E
RMB RMB

ARKET ARETT
20,000,000 25,000,000

The INEDs have reviewed and confirmed that the above continuing connected
transactions for the period from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022 have
been entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(ii) on normal commercial terms or better; and (iii) according to the relevant
agreement governing such transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable
and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole. The Company’s auditor
was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions
in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
(Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised)
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the HKICPA. The auditor has issued its unqualified letter
containing the auditors’ findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed by the Group in Note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A
copy of the auditors’ letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock
Exchange. The auditors of the Company confirmed that the above continuing
connected transactions (i) have received the approval of the Board; (ii) are
conducted in accordance with the pricing policies of the Group; (iii) have
been entered into in accordance with the relevant agreements governing the
transactions; and (iv) have not exceeded the annual cap disclosed in the
announcements of the Company dated 9 November 2020 and 30 June 2022.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

So far as the Directors were aware, none of the Directors or their associates
had any interest in a business that competes or may compete with the business

of the Group.

COMPLIANCE WITH CG CODE

Details of compliance with the CG Code is set out in the Corporate Governance
Report on pages 17 to 37 of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE

Details of compliance with the Model Code by the Directors is set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 17 to 37 of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group may from time to time become a party to various legal proceedings
arising in the ordinary course of business. The Directors confirm that, during
the reporting period and up to the date of this annual report, the Group had
not involved in any litigation, arbitration or administrative proceeding against
it or any of the Directors that could have a material and adverse effect on the
Group's business, financial conditions or results of operations.

Furthermore, to the knowledge of the Directors, there is no pending or
foreseeable litigation, arbitration or administrative proceeding against the
Group or any of the Directors that could cause a material and adverse effect on
the Group's business, financial conditions or results of operations.

During the reporting period, the Group had complied with the laws in all
material respects, including the requirements under the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Listing Rules, SFO and the CG
Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules) for, among other things,
the disclosure of information and corporate governance.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this report, the Company has
maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Details of the composition of the Audit Committee and the major work
performed by the Audit Committee during the year is set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 17 to 37 of this annual report.

AUDITORS

The accounts for the year were audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
whose term of office will expire upon the forthcoming annual general meeting.
The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board that HLB Hodgson
Impey Cheng Llimited shall be nominated for appointment as the auditors of
the Company for the year ending 31 March 2023 at the forthcoming annual

general meeting.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD HEMEER
Details of the events after the reporting period are set out in Note 40 to the RBEHE2EEFBHNGRES M ERKRMT40-

consolidated financial statements.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD RERESZ

Zhang Xiaobin REEHE

Chairman IE

Hong Kong i

29 June 2023 —EZ=FXA=+NAH
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Independent Auditors’ Report
BUZBEHRES

B &6 EH A R F
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

HLB

31/F, Gloucester Tower
The Landmark

11 Pedder Street
Central

Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Elife Holdings Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set
out on pages 53 to 171, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2023, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountant (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Key audit matter
AREFER

Allowance for expected credit losses on trade and other receivables

B RAMBUNIEZ BAEEERRE

Refer to Notes 4(iii), 5, 22 and 23 to the consolidated financial statements.
E2BRE MR RMEA (i)~ 5 22K 23 °

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had trade and other receivables of
approximately HK$7,705,000 and HK$27,005,000 respectively, net of
allowance for expected credit losses of approximately HK$25,986,000 and
HK$76,437,000 respectively.

R-ZZEZ=ZH=ZH=Z+—-H  BEEZFESIRAMEBERREILY
#7,705,0008 T k27,005,000t HIKFEHRACEEFEREIANH
25,986,000t K% 76,437,000/ 7T °

Management performed periodic assessment on the recoverability of the
trade and other receivables and the sufficiency of provision for allowance
for expected credit losses based on information including credit profile of
different customers or debtors, ageing of the trade and other receivables to
historical settlement records, subsequent settlement status, expected timing
and amount of realisation of outstanding balances, and on-going trading
relationships with the relevant customers or debtors. Management also
considered forward-looking information that may impact the customers’
or debtors ability to repay the outstanding balances in order to estimate
the expected credit losses for the allowance for expected credit losses
assessment.

EEECRBEARENBES RAMBERREZTREHREREEEERE
ZRAOMETERTME FREHNSREIRAEFREBRAZEELHE BHK
HtEWRE 2R - BEREELE  HEAEWRR - FHSRKNEELSRZ
HEKRESHE  URESHAEFIAEBACBNSELESTREAR - EEELE
BAHEFRERAEEREEER IR IBRTEZARMEER - UEEE
HEEBRRETGT 2RBEERE -

We focused on this area due to the allowance for expected credit losses
assessment of trade and other receivables under expected credit losses
model involved the use of significant management judgements and estimates.
BEMEIE—THERHREHENGEEFREEATHE S REMERTIEET
ZHEBEEFEBRIMIREEBHFLERME R -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
B EtmMMEERRTENER

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment
assessment on trade and other receivables included but not
limited to:
SHUEEENRE S R AMEWRREATET 2 BERE - HM
ETZRFEEETRR

Understanding the key controls that the Group has
implemented to manage and monitor its credit risk
and evaluating management’s assessment process
for allowance for expected credit losses;

TH BEEREERERAGERMAKRZE
ERAERE YHEBRE CHEREEBERBTG
HERES (he T

Checking, on a sample basis, the ageing profile
of the trade and other receivables as at 31 March
2023 to the underlying financial records and post
year-end settlements to bank receipts;
MERERENBLEREAN S _=F=A
=t —A2EZRHMEBYFIEZRERURETIR
BRBcFEBURZEER

Inquiring of management for the status of each of
the material trade and other receivables past due
as at year end and corroborating explanations
from management with supporting evidence, such
as performing public search of credit profile of
selected customers or debtors, understanding
ongoing business relationship with the customers
based on trade records, checking historical
and subsequent settlement records and other
correspondence with the customers or debtors; and
OEEEEHSES REMERRERNER 2B H
R - WRBEEE 2HE  MBEBARARERS
BERREEFREBAZEEMRN - BIBEH LK
TRERFZENFEEBIREAR BREFEFD
BEBACBELMEREELCHERAMERTFRER
AZBENXHBE &

Assessing the appropriateness of the expected
credit losses provisioning methodology, examining
the key data inputs on a sample basis to assess
their accuracy and completeness, and challenging
the assumptions, including both historical and
forward-looking information, used to determine the
expected credit losses.
EFEMEEBREBBLEZREN - HEER
TEZBEBABEUTGEEBRER TEMYE  URE
ENETHEHNEEFERIAZRR  BRELR
RUBEMER) -

We found that the management judgment and estimates
used to assess the recoverability of the trade and other
receivables and determine the allowance for expected
credit losses on trade and other receivables were to be
supportable by available evidence.
BMBRACEZREAMERRIE2ATREMEREEE S
R B A EWGRIE 2 FEEME BB R RE T A 2 128 H R
SHIBERARERF -
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The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the annual report, but does not include
the consolidated financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon (the
“Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the Other
Information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so, consider
whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not defecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of directors’ use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken
to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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TEEHE RIS TEXEREE - BAF

o EBIMETAEANRFRERTMBHG S P HREK
FREEABRRA AR  RIARPTETER
DS ELER  URERTEMEENETR
B EARMNERZER - BREGFAIREY RS
HoBE ERER EBRRL REXERRD
EEzb . FRERRARFMEFNELNE
R cEABENRAERRARERMERNEKR
SEERRR AL 2 BB o

o  THREERHBAMBER  URFTEENE
BF-EBENEFY EEERNNEEZBRM
BRER -

o HEESFRASHEEZREMRFELSIMH
SRR 2 A -

e HESRAREKESHERIREMFLE
W RBAEMZENERE BEREHFEHES
BRBEREBZERTEEN  EMATEEHR
Y BERECFEKERIELEERRE -WR
HMRAFEERTEEN - AEXEELEE
BETRBEAEIZFREUBHRR T 2 HEAARK
BE-BEEBENEESR  MRFAEERRFE
REBR - RNz ERERENLBEN RS B ILFH
WMEB2ENERE - AWM - KRBEAFERTRE

B BERETRFELYE -

e HESFCUBBRRIEBIRIX - LEBAR
B BERE URGEUBERREETPBERR
REHMBHE -

e B BERENEEIERIFDHMBEMNEDRR
B EENERR  UWEHESHBHRREE
2R -RMEE BEKREZISZA0 - BEENY
T-RMABFERAEZIESE-

FHMEBEN  HMEEREES BB T NS
#E KEZHE BEAEFBERS BRAMEST
HEBI BB R Z AR B KRG o

EMENELZESRREY  HARMCHEHE
BUMZHBABRER THAMBBETRESE
BRASHERMNBUIM 2 BERENEMSEE - N
REBRHBERT  BERREMRRZTEHRERA
ZEh g -
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Independent Auditors’ Report
BUZBEHRES

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current year and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in the independent auditors’
report is Ng Chi Ho.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Ng Chi Ho
Practising Certificate Number: P08084

Hong Kong, 29 June 2023

BRI EFRSMBERRRBZRE (&)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

- A= 22 S-Z
GEeEakEtEZERE X
For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-ZT-=F=A=+—HItEE
2023 2022
= = ZEZCH
Notes HKS$’000 HK$'000
B = FHET FHBT
Continuing operations FEBEEERY
Turnover =2 6 238,840 152,600
Cost of sales R (236,973) (144,751)
Gross profit EF 1,867 7,849
Other income Hapg A 7 1,579 1,469
Other gains, net Hth 25 ¥ 58 7 701 678
Selling expenses HERX (1,898) (832)
Other operating expenses Hib B % (23,452) (24,017)
Equity-settled share-based payment DIREREEW R 4 258 33 (697) (12,684)
Net allowance for expected credit losses on BZ R HMEWRBEBZ2BHEEEE
trade and other receivables BEFE (442) (14,889)
Impairment losses on property, plant and ME BERREBURTHAESEE>
equipment and right-of-use assets MBS (599) -
Loss from operating activities REEBER 8 (22,941) (42,420)
Finance costs SN 9 (2,262) (2,489)
Loss before tax BB AIE B (25,203) (44,915)
Taxation g 12 (33) (1,645)
Loss for the year from continuing BREERBZTFEEEBR
operations (25,236) (46,560)
Discontinued operation EHRILEEEY
Loss for the period from a discontinued ERIEREER 2 HREEE
operation 15 - (2,815)
Loss for the year FEEBR (25,236) (49,375)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income HMt2E (K8 e
Items that will not be reclassified to profit TEEF I EEREZEE
or loss:
Change in fair value of financial RAFEFAEMZEHRREZ
asset at fair value through MBEEEATFEEE
other comprehensive income (173) 390
ltems that may be reclassified HETREF ) BEZBR2EE !
subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating REBIREXB B ER
foreign operations (3,964) 2,616
Reclassification of cumulative translation Rt ERERLE
reserve upon disposal of a foreign BINEEEBREHR IR
operation - (1,014)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income HEEHM2ME (EIR) ka
for the year (4,137) 1,??2
Total comprehensive loss for the year & E2HFERAHE (29,373) (47,383)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

>
i
Bt
g

Lfth 2 T W =& R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-"T-=F=A=+—-HItEE

2023 2022
—F=E —ECHF
Notes HKS$’000 HK$'000
B &E TER FET
Loss for the year atfributable to owners of BERARABEEAZ
the Company AEEERE
— from continuing operations —REEELSE XK (21,673) (38,025)
— from a discontinued operation -~ RECRIEREER = (2,815)
(21,673) (40,840)
Loss for the year attributable to BERFERERZ
non-controlling interests AEEEE
— from continuing operations - REABELEER (3,563) (8,535)
— from a discontinued operation - RECARLEEEEK = =
(3,563) (8,535)
(25,236) (49,375)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to BEAERABREBEAZ
owners of the Company 2HEEBEHE
— from continuing operations - REFEKEER (27,788) (35,027)
— from a discontinued operation —RECKRIEEEEK - (2,815)
(27,788) (37,842)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to FEAFERESZ2HEBEHE
non-controlling interests
— from continuing operations -~ REFEKEER (1,585) (9,541)
— from a discontinued operation - REDREREER - -
(1,585) (9,5471)
(29,373) (47,383)
Loss per share BRER
From continuing and discontinued operations HEKLEEKRE K IELEEK
— Basic and diluted —EARAR#E 14 (3.0) centsfil (6.3) centsil
From continuing operations HEREER
— Basic and diluted —BEARAR#E 14 (3.0) centsfill (5.9) centsfll

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial

statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

SREMBARR R

At 31 March 2023 R-Z==#=A=+—H

2

Notes
M
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME BERRE 16
Right-of-use assets EREERE 17
Financial asset at fair value through other BRAFEGFAHEMEEKE
comprehensive income ZHBEE 20
Current assets mENEE
Inventories 7E 21
Trade receivables g 5 EWFIE 22
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables Ze EAREREMERRIE 23
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkRELEEERE 24
Total current assets mEEEHRE
Less: Current liabilities i RBAR
Trade payables B EARE 25
Accrued liabilities and other payables EtaBERHEMBESRIE 26
Contract liabilities eEHaE 27
Lease liabilities HEas 28
Amounts due to shareholders EARRRE 29
Amounts due to non-controlling interests FEAS FEEE R FE S FUE 30
Tax payables P HiE
Total current liabilities mEAEEE
Net current assets mENEERE
Total assets less current liabilities HERERTDHAR
Less: Non-current liabilities i ERBDAR
Lease liabilities HEAaE 28
Amounts due to shareholders EARRRIE 29
Amounts due to non-controlling interests FE A 3 12 IR R 28 TR IR 30

RERE

Net assets

2023
=

_———

HK$’000
FET

3,599
639

274

4,512

2,701
7,705
60,949
2,283

73,638

2,318
20,139
1,015
888
5,849
7,560
1,154

38,923

34,715

39,227

515
12,034
1,066

13,615

25,612

2022
==

HK$’'000

FHET

2,086
5,912

483
8,481
512
19,775

61,769
10,807

92,863
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e P BIRR &R

At 31 March 2023 R-ZE-_=#=A=+—H

/.

2023 2022
Z¥Z= —EF-=

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Mt 5 TFHT FHET

Capital and reserves B & K & o
Share capital ;&N 31 75,269 67,853
Reserves & 23,556 49,782
Equity attributable to owners of the Company AR TEE A EIGES 98,825 117,635
Non-controlling interests FEBER (73,213) (74,250)
Total equity i §=3 8 25,612 43,385

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 June 2023 REBZ=ZFRA-T N ARESSHERTRETIR

and signed on its behalf by: WHTFIATRTRES
Zhang Xiaobin Gao Feng
RBEH -1
Director Director
EF EF
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial BEM 2 M B ARG E SRR EE Y — 1D
statements.
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Consoli d
e

For the year ended 31 March 2023

AT Apil 2021

Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income/ loss
for the yeor

Totol comprehensive income/ oss|
for the yeor

Change in norscontrolling infersts
of subsidiories

Equitysetlled sharebosed payment
relofed fo share opfion scheme
Note 33)

Share opions lapsed

Grant of shares under share award
schemes Note 33)

Subscrption of shares (Nofe 31

Transaction cosfs otibutable fo
subscripton of shares

disposal of subsidiaries

At 31 March 2022 ond
! Ao 2022

Loss for the year
Other comprehensive (oss)/income
for he yeor

Tofol comprehensive loss
for the year

Deemed capital confrbufion arising
from shareholders ond
non-confrolling ineresfs

Equitysefled share-bosed payment
relofed fo share award scheme
[Note 33

Share opions lapsed

Placement of shares (Note 31)

Transacfion costs affibutable fo
placement of shares

At 31 March 2023

BE_F_=f=-A=1+—HIHE

ated Statement of Changes in Equity

Attributable to owners of the Company

KEEEE
KEEEMARE
U&ﬁ/ Eﬁlﬁ

RERRANE/ (5848

WEAFZAERRRSE

SERETBRE Y ERER
BHERR 23R
(H333)

ERERN
BEROERSIRLRG
Hi33)

PREG (W)
FEROFEL2REAE

HEHED

=

RIBZZEZR=1-HR
ZECCEMR-A

KEERE
AEERNRE
Eifﬁ/ i

FEEREREAE
HERRFEREEARLZ
RIEHER

SRhERHEEE ER
EEENRARAZHE
(H333)

EREXN

EER (1)

EERBFEL RG0S

RBZZEZRZ+-R

Share
capital

s

HK§'000

Tin

61933

3,020
2900

67,853

7416

75,269

LY TN
Financial assets Shares
at fair value held
through other for share
Share  Exchange comprehensive  Accumulated award
premium  reserves income reserve losses scheme
BAFEIA B
LA SMmata
EhER EREN CHBRERN Rithf sk
HK$000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000
T Tin T Tin T
(Note 32(b) (Note 32(o])
(&E32(p]) (HEE32(b))
33369 AT IR/ 71 Y
s T ;
2,608 39 -
2408 W 8 ;
13 = -
: — i
4679 . - 4289
5,075 - = - -
(19 - ; ;
- 3 690 =
U313 1,900 w0 1697
(21,673) :
(6,070) (#3) -
6,070) (45) (21,673) 5
- 697
- - 3,794 -
23 . . .
(283) - -
W05 (170) (002 (309788) -

Share
options Other
reserve reserve
PR i ]
HK$ 000 HK$'000
T TR
Note 32b)
(HEE320)
B ey
; )
696 -
8261) -
%)
0578 (14
97
(o790
5780 (10519)

Sub-total

l]\'l-ﬂ-
HK§'000
Tén
135,742

10840

299

(37842)
014

69

11,968
7975

(10

117,635

(21,673)

(6,115)

(27,788)
927

697
7639
(285)

98,825

Non-
controlling Total
interests equity
HER
fis L
HK§000 HK§'000
Tin TR
(65,619) 70,123
(6,533 (49,373)
(1,006] 1,99
(9,541) (47,383
910 M
696
11,988
7975
(10]
(74,250] 43,385
(3,563) (25,236
1978 (4137)
(1,585)  (29,373)
2,622 3,549
697
7,639
(283)
My 260

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial

statements.
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Consolidatepgl Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-T-=%f=A=1+—HALFE

2023 2022
—E-= —E:-=
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Hit 5 TET FExT
Cash flows from operating activities BREXBZRERE
Loss before tax FRBE Al 5 18
- continuing operations - BEREEK (25,203) (44,915)
— discontinued operation - BRIEREER - (2,815)
(25,203) (47,730)
Adjustments for: EHLL TRz :
Finance costs B KA 9 2,262 2,489
Interest income FIE WA (1,095) (1,281)
Net exchange losses/(gains) EREE (&) F8E 7 157 (1)
Equity-seftled share-based payment LIRS A E I R I 2 FE 697 12,684
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - -BERKBZITE
equipment 16 1,089 1,503
Depreciation on right-of-use assets EREEEZITE 17 1,741 1,887
Impairment loss on property, plant and ME BERZEZREERE
equipment 16 13 -
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets FREEEZRERSE 17 586 -
Net allowance for expected credit losses on EZREMERRBBZEHREE
trade and other receivables EiEEHTE 442 14,889
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWE BERRKEZ KR
equipment 7 (3) (60)
Loss on written off of property, plant and WEME BERREZERE
equipment - 160
Gain from sales and leaseback transaction ExHEXS W 7 - (475)
COVID-19-related rent concession COVID-19t8EEFE € /L & 7 - (32)
Gain on lease termination and modification B RIERAELY 2 W 7 (719) -
Gain on disposal of subsidiary HEWE D8z W 7 (41) -
Gain on waiver of other payable BREMEMTRIEZ RS 7 - (264)
Operating loss before working capital changes & E#E » RFTEEBEESLEF (20,074) (16,231)
Increase in inventories FEEM (2,222) (447)
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables ZESRRFREBERD () 9,705 (20,740)
(Increase)/decrease in deposits, prepayments  2#& ~ FEARER H b EUK
and other receivables FRE () R (1,785) 21,550
Increase in trade payables B 5 A FRRIEG N 2,072 141
(Decrease)/increase in accrued liabilities 2B BEREMENFRIE
and other payables CRL2) /& (3,304) 2,126
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities EHEECRD) /Ehn (757) 789
Cash used in operations REERERA RS (16,365) (12,812)
Income tax paid ENMER (33) (1,921)
Net cash used in operating activities BEXBDRACESSH (16,398) (14,733)

-

7

=

A/
63

a6
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Statement

of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HE-—T-_=#=A=1+—HIt5E

2023 2022
—E-= —E-—
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
M 5 TFHT FHET
Cash flows from investing activities BRAETHZRERE
Interest received 2WRFE 3 26
Payment for acquisition of NCI Uk B JE SR R RE 2% > {4 2k - (4)
Net cash outflow in respect of the disposal HENMBARZE SR FE
of a subsidiary (31) -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEYE BERRK (42) -
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HE&EWE - BMERREZFSRIE
equipment 29 60
Net proceed from sales and leaseback ERBERX S 2 REHIEFA
transaction - 5,769
Net cash (used in)/generated from REETH (BR) EEZHEPHE
mvestmg activities (41) 5,851
Cash flows from financing activities MEETBZRA&RE
Repayment of lease liabilities HEEGEZEX (1,809) (2,895)
Advance from/(repayment) to shareholders AR B (BR) 2,473 (4)
Proceeds from placement/subscription of BE RERDZFAERE
shares 7,639 7,975
Share i issuing expenses IR EITHX (285) (10)
Net cash generated from MEETHEEZRS
financing activities B8 8,018 5,066
Net decrease in cash and BeRB&SEEA
cash equivalents WO BE (8,421) (3,816)
Cash and cash equivalents at FPzReRBE&SERA
beginning of the year 10,807 14,590
Effect of exchange rate changes BIIEBEEBCEFEHZEE
foreign operations (103) 33
Cash and cash equivalents at end FRZESRBASEEHTH
of the year 2,283 10,807
Analysis of balances of cash and BeRBeFERAKRIN
cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances HERIRITEE 2,283 10,807

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial

statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZE-T-=F=-A=1+—-HI%%

Elife Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The registered office of the Company
is located at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The principal place of business of
the Company is located at Unit 806, Level 8, Core D, Cyberport 3, 100
Cyberport Road, Hong Kong. The Directors consider that Ms. Liv Qiuhua,
Mr. Gao Feng and Mr. Zhu Qian are the substantial shareholders of the
Company.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries include engaging commodities trading,
sales, marketing and brand building of the anti-epidemic, daily cleaning
products and licensed branded watches businesses. During the year ended
31 March 2023, the Group has established a new business through a
wholly-owned subsidiary Aishang e-buy, for the engagement of licensed
branded watches through television networks and online shopping
channels. The Group is actively expanding its businesses into the consumer
products market conforming to the Group’s business principle and
mission of delivering “an easier life, greater health and better livelihood”

(BETE KR BERAE).

The principal activities, other particulars of its subsidiaries are set out
in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements. The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which
is the same as the functional currency of the Company and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousand (HK$'000) except when otherwise
indicated.

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the “HKICPA") for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the
Group's annual period beginning on 1 April 2022 for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements:
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment —
Proceeds before Intended Use
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

2018-2020

SEFERERABD(F2V)) ARHERES
HMRLZBERAR  MEROREBHERS
FERAR LT - AARZEMPERMIUEH
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands 2%
REIZEELE X MBUREBEHBEEI00HEH
5 E3EDESIEB0E - ESRAMELL - 5
BEERAEZREERRNDATETERR °

RRAFRCERXBRREEZR -HMBEARZE
EXBEEREHEAR  BABERRETm
BFEoERES  HE - THRAEER &
E_ZC=F-A=t-HUEFE AEEEB
HR2EMBLAZHZHE  RERERAAKLR
LBYREHERTREFRIHTES - A5E
FEBRAREXBEHERTS  UEEAEE
[Z4E KER BEREIZKERARED -

ETHEBRARZETEXBERAMFERNGEH
B|MRMF8 - REVB|MKRLUBT RS M
T (BT FARRBA2HEEY RS HEH
S EBEINBEETRL(TFET) -

REFEBHERZEEMBREER
k=

RAFE RERGSHBRE AEEEAE
AEBETMAS (FRANMAR]) BiF>
THERRBREEAUBTA REBTAR=
Bo_FNA-BRBZAEEFEABRNE
M)

BRUBMELREIR (BTA) BER BT

BREEAEIOH (BITX) NE-BERREE
HBERBAZRER
BREHENETE (BTR) BAETFZE0-EX
A
BEMBHREERN-F
—N\FEZECRER
Mo FERE

BRMBRELALTH

ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED % 4 & # A B A ® - Annual Report 2023 4 #



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RARME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-T-=f=A=1+—HI%%

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (continued)

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance
for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

New and amendments to HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 (including
the October 2020
and February 2022
Amendments to
HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKFRS 10  Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
and HKAS 28

Insurance Contracts'

Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture®
Amendments to HKFRS 16  Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback®

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of liabilities as Current or Non-
current and related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)’
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants®
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Polices'
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates'
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities

arising from a Single Transaction'

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

The directors anticipate that the application of all new and amendments
to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.
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fEeT& (&)
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AIEBUBREEAREBITA
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BRUBRSLENFEI0RE REFEHABENTAAE
BRETERH28H tECHZEERES
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZE-T-=F=-A=1+—-HI%%

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA"). For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such information is
reasonably expected to influence decisions made by primary users.
In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and by the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

(a) Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments that are
measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis,
except for share-based payment transactions that are within HKFRS
2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted for
in accordance with HKFRS 16 Lleases, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36
Impairment of Assets.
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(a)

(b)

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (continued)

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair valve and
a valuation technique that unobservable inputs are to be used to
measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation technique
is calibrated so that at initial recognition the results of the valuation
technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements
are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety,
which are described as follows:

e level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

e level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

e level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

e has power over the investee;

e is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

(a)

(b)

FEMEBRZEREE (#)

REAFEHETIZMEENB 2 LFE
SAEDERSRAIBRBABEZMGER
METZERMIANS - ARALERNE T
LURZE » DU BRI 2 & RN TR
HERRZER -

o BERREM S A FET2RED
FEAEBEZHABITEREERAFEST
EZHABHHERECEEMH I EASE -
B ERBE=ZR . HEBWOT :

o E-ZWAENEBRNFEHTERE
WHEREERRENERT S 2RE
(RERE)

o EZWMAEDNHEEREEBEEEDR
Bt BEcBAE(F-RARER
ZRERMD) R

e E-HWMAENEEREBBZFAATB
EMAE-

GeREZEHE

FREVBRREEFRIARFQFIRA
WEASEH BRI HERE - HADT
RIERS L TR - BIAA TSR -

o HWRELEEELD:

e AXYEEBHSAWREFELZ
AR ARz B RER R

o HHITEEEIULEHERE -

HMEBRBERRBLAEF 2 =ZFEEEN
Hp—ERZHRHREH - AAREEEHRFT
HEEREHWERER -

EANTESHB QR ZERER - AR
HHGEAR MEXARAXEWEQA
ZHEARE  BTBHAGS AR - BEM
EAFERBRHENBAR ZWARR
X RAQXDESHBLREGEZAG
g HERAQBTBHEEWBEAGREZESEZ
Bit JAGEREREM2EBERA

Annual Report 2023 F % - ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED 5 4 i % Jit 45 Fit 2 #]




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ma

B 75 ¥R 2R MY &

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZE-T-=F=-A=1+—-HI%%

(b) Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even
if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the Group's
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein, which represent present ownership
interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets
of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that do not result in
the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as
equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant
component of equity and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries,
including re-attribution of relevant reserves between the Group and
the non-controlling interests according to the Group’s and the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate interest.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of
the Company.
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(b) Basis of consolidation (continued)

()

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries (continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and [(ii) the carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable
to the owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted
by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in
the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as
the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments or, when applicable, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets which includes
an input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs. The acquired processes are
considered substantive if they are critical to the ability to continue
producing outputs, including an organised workforce with the
necessary skills, knowledge, or experience to perform the related
processes or they significantly contribute to the ability to continue
producing outputs and are considered unique or scarce or cannot
be replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay in the ability to
continue producing outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

For Business combinations in which the acquisition date is on or after
1 April 2022, the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
must meet the definitions of an asset and a liability in the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 issued in June 2018 (the
“Conceptual Framework"”) except for transactions and events
within the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int21, in which the Group
applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 instead of the Conceptual
Framework to identify the liabilities it has assumed in a business
combination. Contingent assets are not recognised.
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(c) Business combinations (continued)

(c) ¥¥S 6t (&)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and
measured in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes and
HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

e liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree or share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured in
accordance with HKFRS 2 at the acquisition date (see the
accounting policy below);

e assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in
accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that
standard; and

e lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present
value of the remaining lease payments (as defined in HKFRS
16) as if the acquired leases were new leases at the acquisition
date. Right-of-use assets are recognised and measured at the
same amount as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect
favourable or unfavourable terms of the lease when compared
with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity inferest in the acquiree (if any) over the net amounts of
the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as
at acquisition date. If, after reassessment, the net amount of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum
of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair
value.
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(d) Subsidiaries

(e)

A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the Company. Control exists
when the Company has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern
the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain
benefits from its activities. The existence and effect of potential voting
rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered
when assessing whether the Company control another entity.

In the Company's financial statements, the investments in subsidiaries
that are not classified as held for sale are stated at cost less provision
for impairment losses. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by
the Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the
customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group's performance as the Group performs;

e the Group's performance creates and enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs; or

e the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.
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(e) Revenue from contracts with customers

(e) REAFEFREHZIWA ()

(continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A confract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group's unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of
time is required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract
are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

The Group recognises revenue from the following major sources:

Revenue from the trading of commodities

Revenue from the trading of commodities directly to its customer.
For trading of commodities to the wholesale market, the Group
considers the revenue is recognised when the control of the goods
has transferred, being when the goods have been delivered to the
customers and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the
customer’s acceptance of the products. The customer has accepted
the products and the performance obligation is satisfied at a point
in time at which the products are delivered according to the term of
sales contract.

Payment of the transaction price is due immediately when the
customer purchases the goods.

Daily cleaning, anti-epidemic and other consumable
products business

The Group considers the revenue is recognised when the control
of the goods has transferred, being when the goods have been
delivered to the customers and there is no unfulfilled obligation that
could affect the customer’s acceptance of the products. The customer
has accepted the products and the performance obligation is satisfied
at a point in time at which the products are delivered according to
the term of sales contract.
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(e)

(f)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

Esmart digital services income

Esmart digital service income is recognised at a point in time in the
accounting period in which the services are based on the actual
service provided.

Licensed Branded Watches

The Group considers that revenue is recognised at a point in time
when control of the goods has been transferred. This occurs when
the goods have been delivered to the customer and there are no
unfulfilled obligations that could affect the customer's acceptance of
the products.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest
method. For financial assets measured at amortised cost that are
not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the asset. For credit impaired financial assets,
the effective interest rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross
carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the asset.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost, less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less
their residual values over their useful lives, using the straight-line
method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.
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Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected
useful lives on the same basis as owned assets. However, when there
is no reasonable certainty that ownership will be obtained by the end
of the lease term, assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease
term and their useful lives.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets,
intangible assets with finite useful to determine whether there is any
indication that these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if

any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets, and intangible assets are estimated individually. When it
is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs.
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(f)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets (continued)

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate assets are
allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or
group of cash-generating units to which the corporate asset belongs,
and is compared with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-
generating unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a
group of cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of
the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that
group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount of the
group of cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit
or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an
asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero.
The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the
unit or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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(g) Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS
15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets at
FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest which is derived from the financial assets is presented as
other income.
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(g) Financial instruments (continued)

(g9) MBIR(&R)

Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assefs

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

e  the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVTOCI"):

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting contractual
cash flows; and

e  the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except
that initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably
elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity
investment in other comprehensive income if that equity investment is
neither held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by
an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.
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(g) Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for
financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost. Interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below).
For financial assets that have subsequently become credit- impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the creditimpaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of
the reporting period following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit impaired.

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are subsequently
measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes
in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the financial assets at FVTOCI reserve; and are not
subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will not
be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity investments,
and will be transferred to accumulated losses.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are recognised
in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the dividends is
established, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part
of the cost of the investment. Dividends are included in the “other
income and other losses” line item in profit or loss.
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(g) Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit
loss (“ECL") model on financial assets (including trade receivables,
deposits and other receivables, and cash and cash equivalent) which
are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting period. Assessment
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.
The ECL on these assets are assessed individually for debtor with
significant balances or collectively using a provision matrix with
debtors having similar credit ratings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.
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(g) Financial instruments (continued)

(g) MBI R (W)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

e  significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit
risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

e  existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

®  an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor;

e an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than 90 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event
of default occurs when information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of above, the Group considers that default has occurred
when a financial asset is more than 1 year past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a
more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

MR E ()
TR T BB B BRI
hZHBAEZAE ()

EE ARSI ()

WRIR RS AR EEE SN
BEEUTER

e MBTAZMNI(WE)RAIBEERT
RERNEREE R

e HNEHBEERBREREEESL W
FEFMNEREEM  EHEAZREEE
N HERREEMNE

s WX HERIELERBE2BEEHEN
ZAANEL MEBBETZER
BEEANBTHERSETZEIKRET
3N

o ERAKEXEEERIBHEEEL

e BERAFMEZEE KEIRMER
ERRNEHHR2ERTNEEH M
RSN ERARTHERE
EZREN KRIETFE -

T LA EERNE - EEHTRaHE
BOOR - AEENBEFERABRA DL H®
RURSHEEEN  REXREBESERSR
BEXBCENEHABELFML -

AEBENEERBANGEERBELTEE
BNz BEE NG  YREEBRTE
FARRE . LERZEERESHEAMA
HAEERR LM -

BHESE

BRABEERBRERENS  EAAMERS
BOABREME2ERBEREBATKA
BEENHERA (BEAEE) 28FE (T
FRAEEFEZEMERR)  AEEE
BeRBERBNSEMH-

TwEERNET  ERBEEGHEB]
FRIAEEESEEFEEXFZER
FUHEABRRRCENBEESRRES &
AIAEEBRENTEEE -

ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED % 4 & # A B A ® - Annual Report 2023 4 #



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ma

Bt 75 ¥R 2R MY &

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-T-=f=A=1+—HI%%

(g) Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

Creditimpaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that
financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
(b) @ breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would
not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off may still
be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries
are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default,
loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability
of default and loss given default is based on historical data and
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights. The Group uses
a practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade receivables using
a provision matrix taking into consideration historical credit loss
experience and forward looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

(g) MBI R (&)

MERE (#)
AREEBYHBHREERFEMEETTREF
ZHBEEEZHRE (#)
BHBEEEREZYHEEE
MBEEE—EI UL THZUBEEZ
R RRAESREBR I B =48
£ IRREBREERE - UBEELR
FEREZRBEEREEBETISH ZH
EHE

(o) BTAREBESTHREAVBNE
b) BEREXN (MEHRBEHEM)

c) BEFTZERAERBESMBRNE
ZREFEHNER MEEELRM
ERFEHMERTTEZRZERM

(d) BEFSTEBEERETHEHMHES
-1

le) APBRHBEEHUMBEERKTRED

2.

EREEHET X EZHTFERREVBRRH
BEERNEFIE 2 TRt (Flnx 58
FRERATEABRERFH) » AEES
WHEMBEE - BMB U BEECTLEER
ZHWERFTARNDAZSBHATIDR
R EEERRERLEZEEERER - W
BAREBUEER SN - AMEZKE 2 RIRE
EEERER -

FRHEEEE T ERER
HHEEFEZERENEER  BHNEER
= (MENKZBEREER) RENRARHO
R ENBERRENEREZTEIE
RELEERAELEER -BBEESEZ
R SERRERERNESE - TIUHEM
EREENZRARBEEET - AEBEM
EZRUSBACRMEESEERRAD
BEBBRELE  RUERAREEELZRE
BEEEFEERREFTTHEILERSE
RO ATME AL ER -

Annual Report 2023 F % - ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED 5 4 i % Jit 45 Fit 2 #]




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZE-T-=F=-A=1+—-HI%%

(g) Financial instruments (continued)

(g) MBI A (&)

Financial assets (continued) MBEEE (#)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment AREE BB HEEREOWETTRETF
assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued) FEHBEEEZRE ()

Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into consideration the
following characteristics when formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;
e Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
e  External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the
constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit impaired, in
which case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of
the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, with
the exception of trade receivables, deposits and other receivables
where the corresponding adjustments are recognised through a loss
allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another party. If the Group neither transfers
nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its
retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts
it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.
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(g) Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the
Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve
is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to accumulated
losses.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade payables, accrued liabilities and
other payables, lease liabilities, amounts due to shareholders and
amounts due to non-controlling interests are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.
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(g) Financial instruments (continued) (g) ¥R (&)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued) MEESBERE® (&)
Derecognition of financial liabilities (continued) HEREHEA G ()
Except for changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash BREFNZEENEEHRBEETENREREY
flows as a result of interest rate benchmark reform in which the HELHSHMAEBMY M EASESK
Group applies the practical expedient, when the contractual terms BIEFEN  EMKEEBE2EYIEREBKR
of a financial liability are modified, the Group assess whether the B AEESZEMEHEBESERER (B
revised terms result in a substantial modification from original terms EEMEZ) U R B2 GHERE
taking into account all relevant facts and circumstances including BERSEEEMERE (HEMTHZER
qualitative factors. If qualitative assessment is not conclusive, the TR AEERE  REEHIKART LB
Group considers that the terms are substantially different if the BESHERE (BFEEAEAEBINE
discounted present value of the cash flows under the new terms, AR RER  LHEAREMRA=ZAER)H
including any fees paid net of any fees received, and discounted ERKEEsRERIASESHRE RHE
using the original effective interest rate, is at least 10 per cent HEZEDLI0% > S GEEEEHER -
different from the discounted present value of the remaining I B EER I A RSB - mE
cash flows of the original financial liability. Accordingly, such MEeELE2RAREBEANER A SRS
modification of terms is accounted for as an extinguishment, any 2 WEREEB 2 —2D - MEBEZHEHEN
costs or fees incurred are recognised as part of the gain or loss on R10%  BERERRBBRIEAFESTEMLE
the extinguishment. The exchange or modification is considered as 2k o
non-substantial modification when such difference is less than 10 per
cent.
For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities that do not RAESIBEERRA Y KEBZHEHE
result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the relevant financial MERME Y REB2EREESIZE®R
liabilities will be calculated at the present value of the modified BrENBEERERETE  WIRMBEEE
contractual cash flows discounted at the financial liabilities' original ZRERFIERE c IEEZRSHASE
effective interest rate. Transaction costs or fees incurred are adjusted ANRAZRZERECVKEEZRER I
to the carrying amount of the modified financial liabilities and are REIEREAR A - WU BB EREEET
amortised over the remaining term. Any adjustment to the carrying ZEMBFAEGMEREBRBEPER o

amount of the financial liability is recognised in profit or loss at the
date of modification.

(h) Leases (h) A8
Definition of a lease Az EHE
A contract is, or contain, a lease if the contract conveys the right to HMESHNEFABIRNRENE —BRERR
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange BETEBNEECEAZER > ZANBHE
for consideration. HRBEEY -
For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial BREXREAEBUEREENEI6HEE
application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business combinations, the AR BT LRERIEEBSHMESE
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on ZENNE  ARERBEEVHREER
the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or BI6R2EEZRDH BB HRBEBE R
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed HOER IHZENRTBEHENREE
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently Y - RIFESHVBKRIFIRGEGEHREERES -
changed. BREBEENBRTFERTM
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(h) Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis
of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the shortterm lease recognition exemption to
leases of office premises that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option.
It also applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-value
assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:
e the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

e any lease payments made at or before the commencement date,
less any lease incentives received;

e any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

e  an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling
and removing the underlying assets, restoring the site on which
it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the
lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end of
the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the
lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

(h) HE& (#8)
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(h) Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)
Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not
readily determinable.

The lease payments included:

e fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

e variable lease payments that depend on an index or
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

e the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual
value guarantees;

e the exercise price of purchase options if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

e payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) whenever:

e the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the
related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease using a revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

e the lease change due to changes in market rental rates
following a market rent review expected payment under a
guaranteed residual value, in which cases the related lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liability as a separate line on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

(h) & (#8)
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(h) Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)
Lease modifications

Except for COVID-19 related rent concession in which the Group
applied the practical expedient, the Group accounts for a lease
modification as a separate lease if:

e the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the
right to use one or more underlying assets; and

e the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability, less any incentive
receivables, based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate
at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by
making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset.
When the modified contract contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the modified contract to each lease component
on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct consequence
of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has elected to apply the
practical expedient not to assess whether the change is a lease
modification if all of the following conditions are met:

e the change in lease payments results in revised consideration
for the lease that is substantially the same as, or less than, the
consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change;

e any reduction in lease payments affects only payments
originally due on or before 30 June 2022; and

e there is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of
the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for changes
in lease payments resulting from rent concessions the same way it
would account for the changes applying HKFRS 16 if the changes
are not a lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver of lease
payments are accounted for as variable lease payments. The related
lease liabilities are adjusted to reflect the amounts forgiven or waived
with a corresponding adjustment recognised in the profit or loss in
the period in which the event occurs.

(h) & (#)
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(h) Leases (continued)

(i)

Sale and leaseback transaction

The Group applies the requirements of HKFRS 15 to assess whether
sale and leaseback transaction constitutes a sale by the Group

The Group as a seller-lessee

For a transfer that satisfies the requirements as a sale, the Group
as a seller-lessee measures the right-of-use asset arising from
the leaseback at the proportion of the previous carrying amount
of the asset and recognises any gain or loss that relates to the
rights transferred to the buyer-lessor only. Right-of use asset and
lease liability with fixed payments are subsequently measured in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policies above.

If the fair value of the consideration for the sale does not equal the
fair value of the asset, or if the payments for the lease are not at
market rates, the Group makes the following adjustments to measure
the sale proceeds at fair value:

(a) any below-market terms is accounted for as a prepayment of
lease payments; and

(b) any above-market terms is accounted for as additional financing
provided by the buyer-lessor to the seller-lessee.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
legal or constructive as a result of past events, it is probable that
the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using
the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of
the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a
provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that
reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can
be measured reliably.
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Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency (foreign
currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair
value that are denominated in foreign currencies are refranslated at
the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined.
When a fair value gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised
in profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is also
recognised in profit or loss. When a fair value gain or loss on a non-
monetary item is recognised in other comprehensive income, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is also recognised in other
comprehensive income. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the seftlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise, except for exchange
differences on transactions entered into in order to hedge certain
foreign currency risks; and exchange differences on monetary
items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which
settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming
part of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are
recognised initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified
from equity to profit or loss on disposal or partial disposal of the
Group’s interest.

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations are translated
into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars)
using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period.
Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange
rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates
of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity under the heading of exchange reserve (attributed to non-
controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group's
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss
of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or an
associate that includes a foreign operation of which the retained
interest becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the
owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.
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(j) Foreign currencies (continued)

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that

does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the

proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are re-

attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in

profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals

of associates or joint arrangements that do not result in the Group

losing significant influence or joint control), the proportionate share

of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit

or loss. Seftlements of monetary items which formed part of net

investment in foreign operations without changes in the Group’s

ownership interests is not considered as partial disposals.

(k) Employee benefits

i

Paid leave carried forward

The Group provides paid annual leave to its employees under
their employment contracts on a calendar year basis. Under
certain circumstances, such leave which remains untaken as
at the end of the reporting period is permitted to be carried
forward and utilised by the respective employees in the
following year. No accrual is made at the end of the reporting
period for the expected future cost of such paid leave earned
during the year by the employees and carried forward as the
amount is immaterial.

Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
those employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF
Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The
Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, no forfeited contribution is
available to reduce the contribution payable in the future years.
The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operates in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government.

The contributions are charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.
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(

Equity-settled share-based payment
transaction

Share Options Scheme and Share Award Scheme

The fair value of share options and awarded shares granted to
employees in an equity-settled share based payment transaction is
recognised as an employment cost with a corresponding increase in
the share options reserve within equity. In respect of share options,
the fair value is measured at grant date using the Binomial option
pricing model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon
which the options were granted. In respect of awarded shares, the
fair value is based on the closing price at the grant date. Where
the employees have to meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the share options and awarded shares, the
total estimated fair value of the share options and awarded shares
is spread over the vesting period, taking into account the probability
that the share options and awarded shares will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options and awarded
shares that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any adjustment to the
cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is charged/credited
to the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
for the year of the review, with a corresponding adjustment to the
share options reserve and shares held for the share award scheme.
On vesting date, the amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to
reflect the actual number of share options and awarded shares that
vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the share options reserve).

The equity amount for the share options is recognised in the Share
options reserve until either the option is exercised (when it is
transferred to the share premium account) or the option expires
(when it is released directly to accumulated losses).

Shares held for Share Award Scheme

Where the shares of the Company are acquired under the share
award scheme, the consideration paid, including any directly
attributable incremental costs, is presented as “shares held for share
award scheme” and deducted from total equity.

When the awarded shares are transferred to the awardees upon
vesting, the related weighted average cost of the awarded shares
vested are credited to “shares held for share award scheme”, and
the related employment costs of the awarded shares vested are
debited to the share options reserve. The difference between the
related weighted average cost and the related employment costs of
the awarded shares is transferred to retained profits.

Where the shares held for share award scheme are revoked and
the revoked shares are disposed of, the related gain or loss is
transferred to retained profits, and no gain or loss is recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.
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() Equity-settled share-based payment
transaction (continued)

Shares held for Share Award Scheme (continued)

Where the cash or non-cash dividend distribution is declared in

respect of the shares held for share award scheme, the cash or fair

value of the non-cash dividend is transferred to retained profits, and

no gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit

or loss and other comprehensive income.

(m) Related parties
A party is a considered to be related to the Group if:

(A)

(B)

A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to

the Group if that person:

(i)
(ii)
(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

v

(vi)

the entity and the Group are members of the same group
(which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

the entity is a postemployment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related
the

to the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan,

sponsoring employers are also related to the Group.

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED 5 4= i 5 Jit 7 it 2w

the Consolidated Financial Statements

() LESENLLURGSERS (R
%5 (&)
R 17 2B a2 TR 17 (48)

fisd 2 AR 40 SR B =T BV P S R AD IR £ 33k

RERE  REYFREREZAFENE
AREBER > MiEeBRBEREMEEH TSR

TERIBEMPHRRESE -

(M BAEALES
HEUTER  ARATRRARAEERS

B
(A BEA+MBUTER AESK
EREAEEEEE
() BHREEAEHAEE;
i) HAZEEEEALE R
i) BAEERAEESATZEE
BEERE -
(B) BEEEMZAETHEMAGELE AL

HAREEARHE !

(i) ZEREAKEEBER-SBEZX
ERAR(NEFAT HWELQF
KREZRMEQRRLEAREE) -

n
1514

9H

(i) —EERAS-—BBEzBHE
FEELE(RE-—BRA
Az

AR ZEBIETRE
ARABERE) -

D) i N
_J“‘E*:t
W W O

_n:n

(i) WEERHAR-—F=Fz6E

2o
(iv) —BERAE=FERBzEED
% ms—BRAZE=NER

ﬁiM/‘\—J °

(v) BEARQXAHEALTEHE
ZBERNEEFZER ZBRHE
Mt - MAKEBE SR ELE
T8 FHEBZBETEAE
EHEEREE

(vi) BEZ(A)FENATESRZH
B o

- Annual Report 2023 F 3



Notes to

e M RARME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BZ=-Z=-=F=-A=1+—HItFE

(m) Related parties (continued)

(n)

(o)

(B) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies: (continued)
(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is part,
provides key management personnel services to the
Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person
in their dealings with the entity and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;
(ii)  children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(iii) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic
partner.

A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction when
there is a transfer of resources or obligations between the Group and
related party, regardless of whether a price is charged.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated statement
of financial position include cash, which comprises of cash on hand
and bank balances.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined
above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.
Such overdrafts are presented as shortterm borrowings in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from ‘loss before tax’ because of items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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(o) Taxation (continued) (o) MIA (&)

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from initial recognition (other than in
a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In
addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group
is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it
is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and interests
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will
be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all
or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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(o)

(p)

Taxation (continued)
Deferred tax (continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 requirements
to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately. Temporary
differences on initial recognition of the relevant right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities are not recognised due to application of the
initial recognition exemption. Temporary differences arising from
subsequent revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of lease liabilities
and lease modifications, that are not subject to initial recognition
exemption are recognised on the date of remeasurement or
modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except
when they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred
tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity respectively.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of business
and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of
products and services, the nature of production processes, the type
of class of customers, the methods used to distribute the products or
provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material may be
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.
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(q) Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Costs of inventories are determined on a first-in, first out method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make
the sale. Cost necessary to make the sale include incremental costs
directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs which the

Group must incur to make the sale.

(r) Borrowing costs
All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

(s) Government grants
Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to
them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they become receivable. Such grants are presented under
"other income".

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described
in Note 3, the directors of the Company are required to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.
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Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The

following are the critical judgments, apart from those involving

estimations, that the directors of the Company have made in the process

of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most

significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial

statements.

(i)

(ii)

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions.
Significant judgment is required in determining the worldwide
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognizes
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred
tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are stated
at costs less accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any.
In determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to
exercise judgment and make estimation, particularly in assessing:
(1) whether an event has occurred or any indicators that may affect
the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be
supported by the recoverable amount, in the case of value in use,
the net present value of future cash flows which are estimated based
upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate key
assumptions to be applied in estimating the recoverable amounts
including cash flow projections and an appropriate discount rate.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset (including right-of-use assets), the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
assets belongs. Changing the assumptions and estimates, including
the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow projections,
could materially affect the net present value used in the impairment
test.

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amounts of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets are approximately HK$3,599,000
and HK$639,000 respectively (2022: approximately HK$2,086,000
and HK$5,912,000 respectively). During the year ended 31 March
2023, the Group has recognised impairment loss on property, plant
and equipment of approximately HK$13,000 and right-of-use assets
of approximately HK$586,000. Details are disclosed in Notes 16
and 17.
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4, CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND 4, RBEMHIERGEHTFRERZEER
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY iR (&)
(continued)
Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (continued)

(iii) Allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets at amortised

FE & ot B3R AR S R o2 BRI B (48)

(iii) BIEAEEE I BEEEELH B EERE

5.

cost

The loss allowances for financial assets at amortised cost are based
on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates. The
Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and selecting
the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the Group’s
past history, existing market conditions as well as forward looking
estimates at the end of each reporting period. Details of the key
assumptions and inputs used are disclosed in Note 5.

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amount of trade receivables
and other receivables are approximately HK$7,705,000
(2022: approximately HK$19,775,000) and approximately
HK$27,005,000 (2022: approximately HK$28,855,000)
respectively (net of loss allowance of approximately HK$25,986,000
(2022: approximately HK$25,076,000) and approximately
HK$76,437,000 (2022: approximately HK$76,905,000)
respectively).

The provision of expected credit losses is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the expected credit losses and the
Group's trade receivables and other receivables are set out in Notes
5, 22 and 23.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) Categories of financial instruments

RRE
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5. BMBIR
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2023 2022
—=-= —E-=
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FTET FExT
Financial assets HMEBEE
At amortised cost b 5172 37,905 60,293
At fair value BRFE
Financial asset at fair value through BRAFEFTAHREKE
other comprehensive income MRERE 274 483
38,179 60,776
Financial liabilities MBAR
At amortised cost B ALK 50,369 54,803

ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED % 4 & # A B A ® - Annual Report 2023 4 #



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RARME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-T-=f=A=1+—HI%%

(b) MR EREHR

(b) Financial risk management objectives

The Group’s major financial instruments include financial asset at
fair value through other comprehensive income, trade receivables,
deposits and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, trade
payables, accrued liabilities and other payables, amounts due to
shareholders, amounts due to non-controlling interests and lease
liabilities. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments
and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

Market risk

(i Foreign currency risk

The Group operates mainly in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC") and Hong Kong and majority of transactions are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) and Renminbi
(“RMB”). The Group is exposed to limited foreign exchange
risk as most of the commercial transactions, assets and liabilities
are denominated in a currency same as the functional currency
of each entity of the Group. Therefore the Group will only
exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from the assets and
liabilities which are denominated in currencies other than
the functional currency of the entity to which related. The
conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the rules
and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by the
PRC government. The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency assets
and liabilities. The Group will monitor its foreign currency
exposure closely and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise. The Group does not
have significant exposure to foreign currency risk.

(i) Interest rate risk

At the end of the reporting period, the Group is exposed to fair
value interest rate risk in relation to lease liabilities, amount
due to shareholders and amount due to non-controlling interest,
while the Group did not have any financial assets and liabilities
which are at floating rate of interests. The Group manages
its interest rate exposures by assessing the potential impact
arising from any interest rate movements based on interest rate
level and outlook. The management will review the proportion
of borrowings in fixed and floating rates and ensure they are
within reasonable range. In the opinion of the directors, the
Group does not have significant exposure fo interest rate risk.
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(b) Financial risk management objectives

(b) A EFEERH R ()

(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its
confractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Group.
The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables,
deposits and other receivables, and cash and cash equivalents. At
31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk, which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure
to discharge an obligation by the counterparties arising from the
carrying amounts of the respective recognised financial assets as
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position. The Group
does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its
credit risks associated with its financial assets.

Trade receivables and other receivables

Credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit
terms. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of
making payments when due and current ability to pay, and take
info account information specific to the customer as well as to
the economic environment. The Group’s exposure to credit risk is
influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer
and therefore significant concentrations of credit risk primarily arises
when the Group has significant exposure to individual customers.

In respect of trade receivables in the PRC and trading businesses
across Asia, the Group has a concentration of credit risk in certain
individual customers. At the end of each reporting period, the
five largest receivable balances accounted for approximately
81.0% (2022: approximately 78.9%) of the trade receivables
and the largest trade receivable was approximately 29% (2022:
approximately 39%) of the Group's total trade receivables. The
Directors closely monitor the risk exposure of the customers and
collateral and would take appropriate action to ensure the risk
exposure is acceptable. The Directors are of the view that the
expected cash flow of trade receivables are sufficient to cover the
carrying amount of trade receivables as at 31 March 2023.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management has delegated a
team responsible for determination of credit limits, credit approvals
and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the management reviews
the recoverability of each trade debt at the end of each reporting
period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts. The Group applies simplified approach on
trade receivables to provide for the ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9.
The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a provision
matrix and considered relevant credit information such as forward-
looking macroeconomic information. As the Group's historical credit
loss experience does not indicate significantly different loss patterns
for different customer segments, the loss allowance based on past
due status is not further distinguished between the Group's different
customer bases.

15 5% B B2 B R {8 &F &
FERRERZHFTIBTAGHNEESRE
SETRMBEEzAR - RNEEZFER
RERRBEZERFR - ZERAMER
REUARBRERFEEERE - R=B==
FRZZBZZF=ZA=+—H ' XEEHRE
REBFAREBTEEIMSERYBEER
AZ v BEFEERRE  HREGFSHER
MRAIBHECHERUBERE ZREE - £
SEYERAMBEEESAEAERRS
HiERER -

B 7 P8 g R A R K fth BE U R IR
FEFENDHEMAEERNEEER 2T
FEH - ZEEEIRNE P XN EHFR
ZBEBRLRARK XD XEREP
BERERUAREHEREZBEES - £5H
AZCEERARIEZFEREFP ZERE
FE Rt MASERENFEFAZE
RER  H¥RXASEET2FERR -
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AEERETENEFEAZEFEERR
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=t—B ESEUFREZEHRSRER
U EESERRBEZREE-

AEEARABAERIE EEECRE-—X
ERaEEEEEEE BNEERATE
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-T-=%=A=+—HILFE

5.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Trade receivables and other receivables (continued)

In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under
ECL model on trade receivables with credit-impaired balances
individually. Except for other receivables, which are assessed for
impairment individually, the remaining trade receivables are grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics by reference to the
Group’s aging of outstanding balances.

The following table provides information about the Group’s exposure
to credit risk and ECLs for trade and other receivables as at 31
March 2023 and 2022:

5. MBI R (&)
(b) MIMBRERH® (&)

15 5 B B2 R (B 3F 15 (#8)

B2 50 M My 0 A R L i R My R O ()

AN AEEEER LR EERELSRZE
SEBREETEABGEEBREXT 2R
B o BREMEWFUEREBETRERT
fhoh - HrE S RWRATN 2 EREEARE
BEGZERE  REAREERBRIBSEET

A

TREHEEARER-_Z-_=FK_-%
TCHEZRA=t-HRESRBRRFIARH
tEWREFERZZEFERBREABARE

EFBEz2ER
Trade Receivables BEBEWRE
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
RGRE H#IREE BIRE R
At 31 March 2023 W-E_=F=A=+—H % HK$’000 HK$’000
THET THET
Current (not past due) BNER (REHn) 38.4 2,362 (907)
Less than 1 month past due BELR—EA 41.4 169 (70)
Over 1 to 3 months past due BHBEB—Z2=M@A 41.0 61 (25)
Over 3 months to 1 year past due BHREB=ERE—F 52.3 218 (114)
More than 1 year past due BEEB—F 80.5 30,881 (24,870)
77.1 33,691 (25,986)
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
RHEEE BIREE EiERE
At 31 March 2022 RZE-_—_F=H=+—H % HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEx
Current (not past due) BNER (REH) 20.7 1,475 (306)
Less than 1 month past due BELR—EA 22.0 59 (13)
Over 1 to 3 months past due BHEBR—Z=EA 21.1 175 (37)
Over 3 months to 1 year past due BHBB=EAZE—F 23.2 19,336 (4,487)
More than 1 year past due BB —F 85.0 23,806 (20,233)
55.9 44,851 (25,076)
<=
\‘\
Annual Report 2023 3 - ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED 5 % i £ I # W44 7 102



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-ZT-=F=ZA=1+—AILtFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. BBIAR(E)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) MM ERHR(HE)
(continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment 15 55 BB By i {E BF 4l (#8)
(continued)
Trade receivables and other receivables (continued) B 5 FE W 7R I8 Ry it B U R IS (#8)
Other receivables H B R IR
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
REGRE #IREE BiRRE
At 31 March 2023 R-E-=f=A=+—H % HK$’000 HK$’000
THT FET
Stage 1-12 months ECL FIRR-12AEHEERE = 267 -
Stage 2-life time ECL F2MEBE -2 HEHEEEER = = =
Stage 3-life time ECL (credit impaired)  Z3[EER — 2 HFEHEERBE
(BHREERE) 74.1 103,175 (76,437)
73.9 103,442 (76,437)
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
RHEEE BIREE gt g
At 31 March 2022 R-E-_-F=A=+—H % HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Stage 1-12 months ECL FIRER-12EAAHREERE - 2 -
Stage 2-life time ECL F2REBR -2 HEREEEE - - -
Stage 3-life time ECL (credit impaired)  ZE3[EER — = HITEHEEBE
(BEHBREERE) 72.7 105,758 (76,905)
72.7 105,760 (76,905)
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-T-=f=A=1+—HI%%

(b) M¥mbEEREH & (&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment 15 55 BB By i {E BT il (#8)
(continued)

Trade receivables and other receivables (continued) R 5 BRI R Hfth FE U R IR (48

R-ZBZ=FR-ZF--_HF=ZF=+—1H"
HEFEZRWFAER ARYEHIA R
HARABERBREENNBERREHRNT !

The closing loss allowances for including trade receivables and
other receivables as at 31 March 2023 and 2022 reconciled to the
opening loss allowances as follows:

Trade Other
receivables receivables
loss allowances  loss allowances Total
B ABBRE Hft BRI
WER pedi-td ] st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TEr
At 1 April 2021 RZZ--5MA—H 6,517 80,575 87,092
Increase in loss allowance recognised in profit or loss FRRBRIER ZEERELM
during the year 18,597 21 18,618
Reversal of loss allowance recognised in profit or loss FRARBRER ZEBEERE
during the year (38) (3,691) (3,729)

At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 RZZB--_F=A=1+-AK
“E--FNMA-H 25,076 76,905 101,981

Increase in loss allowance recognised in profit or loss FRRBHER 2B BELM

during the year 3,581 78 3,659
Reversal of loss allowance recognised in profit or loss FRRBHERER 2 FREERD

during the year (2,671) (546) (3,217)
At 31 March 2023 R-EZ=%ZA=+-H 25,986 76,437 102,423
Trade receivables are written off when there is information that BESRUREREERBERERAENR

debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of a
debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Group, and a failure
to make contractual payments for a period greater than agreed

contract terms.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented as net
allowances for expected credit losses on trade and other receivables
within operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited against the same line item.

EY RN E B &S 1B 8 L A] U] 5RIE
#HoRAREBETREREZTR (K
BE)BEBARERREBLFHEERF
2 UEREBBHESOMR 2BBRKR
BEEHE AN -

BESRWFRZBAESEDREEENRNE
NABSREMEWFBZAMEESE
BEFE HEMUEEACT M 2 S
HRE-ETREAED -
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZE-T-=F=-A=1+—-HI%%

(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) MBRPERHRK (&)
(continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment 15 65 B B B ik (B EF 44 (48)
(continued)
Trade receivables and other receivables (continued) BOHBBRRER R MERRE (&)
Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience over the past FAHEEEDERBEZRFZERFRL
few years. These rates are adjusted to reflect differences between BETE ZEHBRELBRABURRNKE
economic conditions during the period over which the historic data B 5 SR HAR 2 RBEAR - BRI EARE
has been collected, current conditions and the Group’s view of B & 5 FE WSROI TR AT 6 H 2 R AROR P i
economic conditions over the expected lives of the receivables. BYMCHEHNESR -
As at 31 March 2023, the Group has trade and other receivables R-ZEBE_=F=ZA=1+—0B ' HARAELA
with approximately HK$25,986,000 and HK$76,437,000 EEERASECESREMERRES
respectively (2022: approximately HK$25,076,000 and Bl #25,986,0005% Tt &76,437,000% T
HK$76,905,000 respectively) being impaired since the management (ZZ2=Z=F : 5 5I#25,076,000% T &
of the Company considered these balances are unlikely to be 76,905,000/ ) &~ A 7 s g =l =K &8 5
recoverable or partially recoverable. WE - MEBEERE HRHE -
Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s exposure to FRAEERE 5 FE WK IE & H 8 WK
credit risk arising from trade receivables and other receivables are HAZZEERBZE—SEERE 1
set out in Notes 22 and 23 to the consolidated financial statements. 2RI BRI FE22/%23 -
The management monitored the financial background and EEEREEERSERAZHEES
creditability of those debtors on an ongoing basis. The Group seeks FRE AEEEBRREAERFEEELZ
to minimise its risk by dealing with counterparties which have good REBFETRG  UREREHRAR - 1
credit history. Majority of the trade receivables that are neither past REABTRHEZABD E S EURIEY
due nor impaired have no default payment history. In this regard, the ETEEREZIEZ RUMS  EERH
directors consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced. AEBZEERBE RERE -
Deposits Be
The Group accounts for its credit risk by appropriately providing for AEEEBERATEHEERBHELES
expected credit losses on a timely basis. The Group has assessed BREREMEHEERR -AEECRE2
that the expected credit loss rate for these receivables are immaterial BRAEMEEBRETEZSERWFIEZE
under 12 months expected credit losses method. Thus, no loss HEEBBEERATER Bt R=ZF==
allowance for deposits was recognised as at 31 March 2023 and FR-ZZE-“F=ZRA=1+—0 BEES
2022. BRABEBHE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-T-=f=A=1+—HI%%

(b) Financial risk management objectives

(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Deposits with bank

In respect to the Group’s deposit with bank, the Group limits its
exposure to credit risk by placing deposits with financial institution
with high credit rating and no recent history of default. Given the
high credit ratings of the banks, management does not expect any
counterparty to fail to meet its obligations. The Group has assessed
that the expected credit loss rate for the deposits with bank are
immaterial under 12 months expected credit losses method. Thus, no
loss allowance was recognised as at 31 March 2023 and 2022.
Management will continues to monitor the position and will take
appropriate action if their are changed. As at 31 March 2023 and
2022, the Group has no significant concentration of credit risk in
relation to deposit with bank.

In these regards, other than the credit risks mentioned above, the
management considers the Group does not have any other significant
credit risk and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an
ongoing basis.

(b) A EEEER B R ()

15 5% B B2 B iR {E °F 1 (#8)

BITHER

RAEBZRITERMS » ZEEHEFRE
R EARFEEFR BN EENL
ZHEHE  UREIEAZS ZEERK - &
REZERTEAESEETR  EEEHEBT
BERARSZUHFELIBITHER - AEH
ERBEI2EABHEEFBETEZER
TERZEHEEFERATER - At
R-B_=FR-_ZF-__F=A=+—AH"
WEERAGERE TEESBEESRT
WARR  MEFRBEER( > BREEET
B oR_B_=FR-_ZB__F=A=+-—
B AEEYERRTEREAZIBESETZ
8RR -

BRUME  BREREERRN  EEERS
AEBYETMEMEREERSE - &
BRREEERBDTUREESR -
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-ZT-=F=ZA=1+—AILtFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. MBI A&
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) MM ERHR(HE)
(continued)
Liquidity risk i B ] & R B
The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash FEEBBERZERERIRITHEE BT
and cash equivalents, monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and FEARERRERE  URBEHBEER

matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

The liquidity risk is under continuous monitoring by management.
Reports with maturity dates of borrowings and thus the liquidity
requirement are provided to management for review periodically.
Management will raise or refinance borrowings whenever necessary.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities that will
be settled into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the end of the reporting period to the contractual maturity
date. The amounts disclosed in the table are based on the contractual

SEZIHMRBE  BLEERDESER -

EEESEEERDESRR - HEEEE
HEHREEARDESERZBREEHME
EERRUMERN - FHE - EEEAEM
BERHEETBRE -

TRETAEESEE 2UBEE IR
RAABEEHMAR  REABEPRRESHE
HAZRGREETON RARBE2SH
RESHORBBRAIRFE  FHEOT

undiscounted payments, as follows:

At 31 March 2023
RZBZZ§ZA=+-H

Weighted
average  On demand Between Between Between Total Total
effective  or less than 1to3 3 months 1 year undiscounted carrying
interest rate 1 month months to 1 year to 5 years cash flow amount
i EsY BEfs BEUMHR
RRRf® —@EAR —¥=f@A =[EAE-% —-FER% nén #EEE
% HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TET TR TiEx TER TER
Non-derivative financial ~ EffEHERR
liabilities
Trade payables ESEMNFE - 2,318 - - - 2,318 2,318
Accrued liabilities and ZHEEREMEATE
other payables - 20,139 - - - 20,139 20,139
Amounts due fo shareholders e 11.7 5,849 - - 14,220 20,069 17,883
Amounts due to ERFEREGTE
non-controlling inferests 1.6 7,560 - - 1,260 8,820 8,626
Lease liabilities HESE 12.4 171 384 435 560 1,550 1,403
36,037 384 435 16,040 52,896 50,369
At 31 March 2022
R-B-=F=f=+-A
Weighted
average On demand Between Between Between Tofal Total
effective or less than 1103 3 months 1year  undiscounted carrying
interest rate 1 month months fo 1 year fo 5 years cash flow amount
MEFH FEER BAREB
BRAZ —fHAR -Z=flf =fAZ-% —-$Z0F BeR BEREE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERL FHER FAR TARL FER TERL
Non-derivative financial FITEHBER
liabilities
Trade payables EHRMAFE - 261 - - - 261 261
Accrued liabilities and ZHEEREMEATE
other payables - 24,725 - - - 24,725 24,725
Amounts due to shareholders ERRERY 10.5 3,563 - 13,995 - 17,558 16,973
Amounts due to Fgﬁiwﬂﬂﬁﬁi
non-controlling interests 55 4,410 - 4,635 - 9,045 8,851
Lease liabilities HESE 12.4 340 420 1,912 1,827 4,499 3,993
33,299 420 20,542 1,827 56,088 54,803
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-T-=f=A=1+—HI%%

(c) Fair value of financial instruments (c) MBIRZAFE
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are BREERMBEEZATEEATAER
determined as follows: EBE:
e the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities o HAEEZEEKRIRREKEMLG TARKRER

(including derivative instruments) with standard terms and
conditions and traded on active liquid markets are determined
with reference to quoted market bid prices and ask prices
respectively; and

e the fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities o
(including derivative instruments) are determined in accordance
with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted
cash flow analysis using prices or rates from observable current
market transaction as input. For an option-based derivative, the
fair value is estimated using option pricing model.

TEREECMBEERMBEE (B
PETIR)ZAFE  HoRI2EMmS
BEARBHBEEE &

HtWBEERMBRE (BETET
B)Z2AFE DREAREBEN
TEBBRBREREDN  HAERER
AZABRAETERS 2ERIE
RAE -BUMBREEZITETA
mE ' XFEDRAREEERX (G
o

Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated statement of RGEHBERERAERZ 2 FHEE
financial position

The following provides an analysis of financial instruments that UTRENSERERATERRTEZ
are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value on a MBETEDN  DREAFEZTEERE
recurring basis, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to PRE—ZEFE=ZHR:

which the fair value is observable:

- Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted -
prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities;

- level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs =
other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as
prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

- level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from <=
valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability
that are not based on observable market data (unobservable
inputs).
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZE-T-=F=-A=1+—-HI%%

(¢) Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
Fair value hierarchy as at 31 March 2023

(c) MBI RZAFE(E)
R-B-Z£=A=Z+-HZLTHERER

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£—# B E=H et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
F#ExT FHET FHET FET
Financial asset HMBEEE
Financial asset at FVTOCI BEAFEGFAEMEZEKE 2
(Note 20) (Note) I EE (F1£20) (K1aE) = - 274 274
Fair value hierarchy as at 31 March 2022 RZZB-ZF=ZA=+—-HBZAFEER
Level 1 Level 2 Llevel 3 Total
E— FZR E=4 wet
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
F#ExT FHExT FHET FHET
Financial asset MHREE
Financial asset at FVTOCI BEAFEFAEMEEKREZ
(Note 20) (Note) B35 E 7 (BY7#20) (B 3F) = = 483 483
Note: Bt -

As at 31 March 2023, the fair value of financial asset at FVTOCI of
approximately HK$274,000 (2022: approximately HK$483,000) was
valued by an independent valuer, APAC Asset Valuation and Consulting
Limited. The calculation was based on investment costs and including
some unobservable inputs.

Below is a summary of the valuation technique used and the key
inputs to the valuation of financial asset at FVTOCI:

R-ZZZ=F=F=+—H0  BAFEFTAH
thEERE 2T EEEQFEN274,000E T
(ZEZ 5 #483,0008 7T) I B M fHE
MEAEETGERERERAFME - G/
EERBERALBELE FAUBERE -

TR AP EFF A b2 E RS2 8
BEEZMEPRRAGERNR T ZHE

Valuation Significant unobservable
technique inputs 2023 2022
fh{E i EXFUHRNE —E== —=-=
Financial asset at FVTOCI Market comparative Adjusted Profit-To-Sales ratio 0.6 0.6
RAFESAHEZEKRE TS AL RE B ER MR
ZUBEE
Marketability discount rate 20.5% 20.6%
miSRBEITIIZE
Sensitivity analysis BRE 7
If the adjusted profit-to-sales ratio is higher and all other variables HERABREERN B LARMEREMESRS
were held constant, the fair value of the financial asset at FVTOCI HETE RAVEFAHG2ERE M

would be higher.

If the marketability discount rate is higher and all other variables
were held constant, the fair value of the financial asset at FVTOCI
would be lower.

BEE 2D FEGEM-

HHSRBEENMELARMEHMES
HEFTE > BATEAHGREWS 28
BEEZAFESRD -
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-T-=f=A=1+—HI%%

()

Fair value of financial instruments (continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial asset

(c)

MEIRZOFEGE)
MBEEEE=RATEFRZYE

2023 2022
—®== =F—C
HK$’000 HK$'000
T#xT FHET
As at 1 April REA—H 483 89
Change in fair value of financial asset at BAFEFARMEEKEZ
FVTOCI in other comprehensive income BREEZ AT EEE (173) 390
Exchange realignment BE 5 % (36) 4
As at 31 March R=B=+—H 274 483
Included in other comprehensive income is an amount of JIREMEZEBRRZRER A FEBED

approximately HK$173,000 fair value loss (2022: fair value gain
of approximately HK$390,000) relating to unlisted equity securities
classified as financial asset at FVTOCI held at the end of the current
reporting period and is reported as changes of “Financial assets at
fair value through other comprehensive income reserve”.

Except as disclosed as above, the directors consider the carrying
amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised costs in the consolidated financial statements approximate
to their fair value.

(d) Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior
year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts which includes
amounts due to shareholders, amounts due to non-controlling
interests, lease liabilities, less cash and cash equivalents, and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share
capital and reserves.

The Directors of the Company review the capital structure on an
annual basis. As part of this review, the directors of the Company
consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class
of capital.

The Group monitors capital using gearing ratio, which is calculated
as either total borrowings divided by total capital or net borrowings
divided by total capital. The gearing ratios as at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

(d)

173,0008 T (=2 -—F : A FERIEY
390,000 7T) - HERBEHRFEL D
BARAFEFAEGEZERE 2HBE
EZHLETRAZHEH  L2IB/IEA
FEFAHMCEEARE 2V BEERE]Z

BREXFIRBEEN  ESRBREESUBR
REBERATRZYBEERVBEE
ZIEREEEEAFEMES -

BERBEE
AEEERHES  URAAEEBEE
AREEE  WEBECERREREHRE

MEEEETREREDR - AEERER
MRS HEAFHERE -

FEBEAEBAERMRRIA - BN
FERERRAREBEEESEY  BER
ERAELEEEE  URADAEEAEMN
B (BECBITREARRE) -

KABDEBSBERTELLERS - FRALRE
Z—EM  AEEESEEELRAREHE
BAREM 2 B R o

rEBRAEAEBHLRERER  NEE
ERUBEARFEERNBER - KRS
HREXEBLRMT
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-T-=F=A=+—-HItEE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. BBIAR(E)
(d) Capital risk management (continued) (d) ExRpEER ()
31 March 31 March
2023 2022
= =3 ==
=HEsRH =H=rF=H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Total debt (i) @ m (i) 27,912 29,817
Less: Cash and cash equivalents W BReRREEEER (2,283) (10,807)
Net debt FES 25,629 19,010
Equity (ii) R (ii) 25,612 43,385
Net debt to equity ratio FEBHERLLE 100.1% 43.8%
Total debt to equity ratio REBHERLE 109.0% 68.7%
Notes: B &E
(i)  Total debt comprise lease liabilities, amounts due to shareholders (i) BEKEEHT28 29Kk ZEE
and amounts due to non-controlling interests as detailed in Notes BE BIRRAEREGHFERES
28, 29 and 30. FRIE o
(i)  Equity includes all capital and reserves of the Group. (i) REBEAEEZHMEERREHS -
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. PEEH

Information reported to the chief operating decision maker ("CODM")
for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance focuses on types of goods or services delivered or provided.

For commodities trading business operation, the information reported to
the CODM is further categorised into different major type of products,
each of which is considered as a separate operating segment by the
CODM. Accordingly, daily cleaning, anti-epidemic and other consumable
products is separately considered as a reporting segment by the CODM.
No operating segments have been aggregated in arriving at the
reportable segments of the Group. In addition, licensed branded watches
is separately considered as a reporting segment by the CODM during the
year.

The Group organised into four operating divisions: commodities trading
business, daily cleaning, anti-epidemic and other consumable products
business, licensed branded watches and e-smart digital services. These
divisions are the basis on which the Group reports its segment information.

MERLERARE(EREERRE ) MELE
TERAERFEDHBREZENDEFRAR
NHRE2ERARB 2 ER -

NEREZEBCEENS AT BEEREKE
ERcERDE-— SO RTREEEERER -
HEARIBREERRERRBUKE D -
- BRBER BERARMEBEREBREIRE
BRREEBRRAPHD M - RERAEE 2T
REOME WEEKEIBES I TE
EEARERFARBFREFHEES BB
D E -

FEESRAOEEES N AREZXEK BR
BE -BRARIEERER  BrREFRE
BREEBERE ZZE0BRTKEE2HAED
MERZEE-
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-T-=F=A=+—HItEE
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

The four operating and reportable segments under HKFRS 8 are as

follows:
Commodities trading business Provision of agency services and
commodities trading in the PRC,
Hong Kong and overseas
Daily cleaning, anti-epidemic Engaged in the sales, marketing and
and other consumable products  brand building of daily cleaning,
business anti-epidemic and other consumable
products in the PRC and overseas
Licensed branded watches Engaged in the frading and online
business sales via television network and
online shopping channels of the
licensed branded watches in the
PRC and overseas
E-smart digital services Provision of e-smart digital services in

the PRC

Revenue represents the aggregate of the amounts received and receivable
from third parties, income from commodities trading business, sales of
daily cleaning, anti-epidemic and other consumable products, licensed
branded watches and esmart digital services. Revenue recognised during
the years are as following:

6. FWBEH(])

REEBMBHRELEDNESS  NETHREE
DHERAT :

13

BmESER RAE - BB REINMEM
PNRBEEERES

RABE BEAR RPERBEBIMMESAMRE
MHFERER 2 EARNEER
ZIHE - THRAEE

s

BHmEFREE RPEREINEEBE
BRERE LBYEE
ETRTREFRZE
SRFLEHE

BRBBERE AP EE A R BB IR 3%

WmEemRERE= S WEZRERAE  §F
BAREERESER HERARBE HEA
mAVERER B REFRREERERE - F
RIER ZWENT -

2023 2022
—E= —EF-C
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FExT
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts RHERSHZERES
with customers
Recognised at a point in time RE—FRBRE
Commodities sales EmEE 223,759 IN1aly1:52
Sales of daily cleaning, anti-epidemic and other HEHABZR  BHEARIERER
consumable products 8,191 41,448
Sale of licensed branded watches HESTTmEFER 6,890 -
Total revenue from contracts with customers REEZEF&HZKREHA 238,840 152,600

Annual Report 2023 3§ - ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED 5 4: i # i A7 R 4+ 7]



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-ZT-=F=ZA=1+—AILtFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. SEEH (M)
Segment revenue and results SRR R
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by AEBRERFBZRATRABRD IS D 220
reportable segment: 5.5
2023 —EB=%
Continuing operations HREERS
Daily
cleaning,
anti-epidemic
and other
Commodities consumable Licensed Esmart
trading products branded digital
business business watches services Consolidated
BRER
B R EF R g
[CIEh EE 2 HERER FREB iR IR 75 =]
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET TET FExT FExT
Turnover BxE
Turnover from external customers REINAEF 2 & %5 223,759 8,191 6,890 - 238,840
Result RE
Segment loss 2 ER (2,877) (2,337) (4,050) (439) (9,703)
Unallocated other income KOBMEMBA 1,443
Unallocated corporate expenses 7 Bl b # i (13,984)
Equity-settled share-based DEREEW ARB S 2B
payment (697)
Finance costs ES- 2% (2,262)
Loss before tax KRB ATEE (25,203)
Taxation i (33)
Loss for the year REEEE (25,236)
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-T-=%=A=+—HILFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. ZEBEH(E|)
Segment revenue and results (continued) MBS REER (E)
2022 =B
Continuing operations RFHREERB

Daily cleaning,
anti-epidemic

and other
Commodities consumable Esmart
trading products digital
business business services Consolidated
RREZ-
P& A mA B
BmE 5 EH HFEmES SUER )
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET FHET
Turnover EXT
Turnover from external customers RENREF & EE 111,152 41,448 - 152,600
Result ES
Segmen{loz]/ proT 8 (B18) /%7 (11,837) 54 (7,476) (19,259)
Unallocated other income ROEMEMUA 1,469
Unallocated corporate expenses KA EEEL H (11,952)
Equity-settled share-based payment LAz 4 & I SR 13 2 FE (12,684)
Finance costs B E A (2,489)
Loss before tax BRBE A A5 18 (44,915)
Taxation iiE (1,645)
Loss for the year TEEEE (46,560)
Turnover reported above represents revenue generated from external EXFEREXBERAMATFZKRE - B
customers. There were no inter-segment sales during the years ended 31 E-ECCHER-E--F=ZA=+—HLFE
March 2023 and 2022. 3 R ER S o
The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as AERRI M ST BHREWFIA R 2 AEES
the Group’s accounting policies described in Note 3. Segment results SRR - pEEEE RSB E THEMERA
represent the profit or loss from each segment without allocation of certain UREREESURM S 2HE - XML -/
other income, equity-seftled share-based payment, corporate expenses, ERARBEZARIBEEZERE - MHAOE
finance costs and taxation. This is the measure reported to the CODM DEERREREUIBERRIMIPBRRZ
for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment Tk e
performance.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-T-=F=A=+—-HItEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. PEBEHE(48)
Segment assets and liabilities SHEERAR
Daily
cleaning,
anti-epidemic
and other
Commodities consumable Licensed Esmart
trading products branded digital
business business watches services Total
HR®E
B & #n SET R g e
BREHES HEREE FEREH R 5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$/000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT THERT THET FHET TER
31 March 2023 —E2_=¥=A=+—H
Segment assets PHEE 25,513 21,245 2,457 5,438 54,653
Segment liabilities AHBEE 985 3,343 2,855 9,397 16,580
Daily cleaning,
anti-epidemic
and other
Commodities consumable Esmart
trading products digital
business business services Total
AREZR
Bh 7% A R AN Bhe
EIRECES S HRERER HIERY Fohy
(Restated)
(&)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FTHET TR FTHET
31 March 2022 —E__F=H=+-H
Segment assets PEEE 38,143 26,802 6,948 71,893
Segment liabilities PHEE 5,172 5,415 10,475 21,062

ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED % 4 3% # B A B A ® - Annual Report 2023 4 #§



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RARME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-T-=%=A=+—HILFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. HEPEH (&)
Reconciliation of reportable segment assets and ARESBEERAFRHIE -
liabilities:
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
THER FHBT
Assets BE
Total assets of reportable segments AR M EELE 54,653 71,893
Unallocated and other corporate assets: RABMREMEEESE
Property, plant and equipment W - BERRE 1,284 1,648
Right-of-use assets EREEE 350 1,399
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables e ARFEREBENRRE 21,368 23,801
Cash and cash equivalents RekALZEEER 495 2,603
Consolidated total assets BEEEREBE 78,150 101,344
Liabilities af
Total liabilities of reportable segments ARRsHzEEREE 16,580 21,062
Unallocated and other corporate liabilities: AOBREMEEEE :
Accrued liabilities and other payables 2t 8 EREMENRE 8,944 9,164
Lease liabilities HEEE 505 1,909
Amounts due to shareholders IR E 17,883 16,973
Amounts due to non-controlling interests FEAS FEIR IR RS TR IE 8,626 8,851
Consolidated total liabilities meaEsE 52,538 57,959

For the purpose of monitoring segment performance and allocating
resources between segments:

e dall assets are allocated to reportable segments other than unallocated
corporate assets (mainly comprising certain property, plant and
equipment, certain right-of-use assets, certain deposits, prepayments
and other receivables and certain cash and cash equivalents); and

e all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other than
unallocated corporate liabilities (mainly comprising certain accrued
liabilities and other payables, certain lease liabilities, amounts due to
shareholders and amounts due to non-controlling interests).

RERSBRRARIMA BHERME :

e RBRASBELEEE(FEGEETUE K
EREBE ETEAEEE ZETRe 7
HREREMERZBEURETRERE
SELEBE)N EEEPBEATRERS
R

e KBRAIEBLEEB(XEBFEETRITEE
REMENKIE BTHEAE BEYRR
RIEUREAFERESRIR) I EE
BEAOBETHRD I -
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-T-=F=A=+—-HItEE
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

6. FWMEH )

Other segment information Hfth 4283 #
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BEF-_E_=-F-HA=1+—HIFE
Continuing operations BREERS
Daily
cleaning,
anti-epidemic
and other
Commodities  consumable Licensed Esmart
trading products branded digital
business business watches services  Unallocated Total
BRER -
BER RN Fiarmne HinE
BRAARE ARARE FEREH BR 7% *PE @it
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000
TRL TET TR TH#T TET TRT
Depreciation of property, plant and N% - BERRGBZAE
equipment 543 34 - 119 393 1,089
Depreciation of rightof-use assets EREEEZNE 587 87 18 - 1,049 1,741
Gain on lease termination and RUERBUAN 2 W
modification (138) - - - (581) (719)
Net allowance for expected credit ESREMERGEZRERE
losses on trade and other receivables  EEREFE (776) 2,069 218 (528) (541) 442
Impairment loss on property, plant and ~ #1% - BERZEZHEFE
equipment = - 13 - - 13
Impairment loss on rightofuse assets ~ EAEBEEZHEHE - - 586 - - 586
Additions to non-current assets* FREBEE2EM* - - 13 - 29 42
For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE-ZE--_F=A=+—HLFE
Continuing operations BEREXEK
Daily cleaning,
anti-epidemic
and other
consumable
Commodities producfs Esmart
frading business business digital services Unallocated Tofal
ARER.
BEARA BERHUE
BmE %% HEMER R KB @z
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAR TER TER TER TER
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ~ #1%  BERZEZHE 560 37 453 453 1,503
Depreciation of right-ofuse assets EREEEZNE 752 85 - 1,050 1,887
Gain from sales and leaseback transaction ERRERG 2WE (475) - - - (475)
Gain of disposal of property, plant and HENE - BEREE2WE
equipment - - - (60) 160)
Loss on written-off of property, plant and MENE  BERREZEE
equipment - - 154 - 154
Gain on waiver of other payables HEEMESTEZ NG (129) - - (135) (264)
Net allowance for expected credit losses on ESRAMERTECREEE
trade and other receivables BERHERE 6,539 6,506 5,158 (3,314) 14,889
* Additions to non-current assets excluding right-of-use assets, and financial * FREEEC RN EEEAEEEURIED

asset at fair value through other comprehensive income.

z

FESARMEAREZMBEE -

ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED % 4 3% # B A B A ® - Annual Report 2023 4 #§



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MWK

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-T-=F=A=+—HItEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. HWEH ()
Geographical information HhE 3 E
The Company is domiciled in Hong Kong. The Group’s operations are RABREBEM AEBZEBETENURF
mainly located in the PRC and Hong Kong. The following analysis of the BREB BE_FT-_=ZFR_ZFT-_F=A
Group's turnover by geographical area is disclosed for the years ended ST-BLEFE AEERGESHD 2EXHED
31 March 2023 and 2022. MEEWOT ¢
Continuing operations FHREERD
2023 2022
—E-= —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
THT FHET
The PRC HE 234,039 152,515
Overseas isEl 4,801 85
238,840 152,600
The following is an analysis of the carrying amount of non-current assets TRAFNDEE (TEERLFEFAHMLS
(excluding financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive HbZzWBER) REEME®HEE S 2KE
income) analysed by the geographical area in which the assets are B
located:
Continuing operations BEEBERE

Carrying amount of
non-current assets

FRBEEZIREE

2023 2022

= =T —
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
The PRC FEl 331 1,002
Hong Kong O 3,907 5,800
Overseas Eoh - 1,196
4,238 7,998
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-T-=F=A=+—-HItEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. SEEH (M)
Information about major customers AFREEERZEH
For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group’s largest customer BE-Z-_=ZF=ZA=+—-BLFE XEEK
(2022: largest six) individually contributed over 10% of total R(ZBZZF  BARBR) RFBEBEMB RS
revenue of approximately HK$223,113,000 (2022: approximately HBiB10%%223,113,0008 Tt (ZE=Z=F: ¥
HK$126,924,000), which represent approximately 93.4% (2022: 126,924,000/ 7T) @ B EXEEN3.4% (==&
approximately 83.2%) of total turnover. ZZ”F 1 #83.2%) °
2023 2022
== ===
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FET
Customer A (Note (i) & {ii)) =P A (MY E (i) & (ii)) - 21,770
Customer B (Note (i) & (ii)) = P B (M =E(i) & (i) - 27,036
Customer C (Note (i) & (ii)) &= P C (B &E(i) R (i) - 22,825
Customer D (Note {i)) = FD (MEE(i) 223,113 21,497
Customer E (Note (i) & {ii)) %= FE (B EE(i) & (i) - 18,269
Customer F (Note (i) & (ii)) B FF (M EE() & (ii) - 15,527
Notes: e -
(i) Revenue generated from commodities trading business (i) REPREZEBZWE -
(i) No information on revenue is disclosed for the customers since it did not (i) HREBEFIEEMEMBBEIMERM2ZBED
contribute any or contributed less than 10% to the Group's revenue for RAEEBEZE-E-=F=ZA=+—-HLEFE
the year ended 31 March 2023. WEZ10% M J|IFERBER -
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-T-=F=A=+—HItEE

7. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES) -

NET

Continuing Operations

Other income

Interest income on:
Bank deposits
Other receivables

Government grant (Note)
Sundry income

Other gains/(losses) - net

Net exchange (losses)/gains

Gain on waiver of other payables
COVID-19-related rent concession

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Loss on written-off of property, plant and equipment
Gain on lease termination and modification

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries

Gain from sales and leaseback transaction

Others

BREERE

Hti A

FIEUWA -
RITIERK
Hth fE W 3R 18

BT ¥ B (B &E)
FETEW A

Httie s (FR)—B8E
EX (B18) W FHE

B HmENRE W
COVID- 191 H %
HEME - BB KRGz W
MEEME - BERRBZEE
KRIEREHRBELN 2l
B B 4 B) 2 Wi
EREARR S 2 WE

Hth

7. Rttt AREMER (&SiR) - $ 8

2023 2022
=P =="5F =Ea
HK$’000 HK$’000

FH&T FHET

3 26
1,092 1,255
1,095 1,281

249 -
235 188

1,579 1,469

(157) 1

- 264

- 32

3 60

- (154)

719 -
41 -
- 475
95 -
701 678

Notes:

Bt -

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recognised government
grants of HK$192,000 under the Employment Support Scheme launched by
the Hong Kong Government. The Group also recognised government grants of
approximately HK$57,000. The grant is generally made for business support
on promoting economic growth by the PRC government. There are no unfulfilled
conditions or contingencies relates to these subsidies.

BE-Z-_=F=ZA=+—-HLEE FEEER
ERBUNHET 2 RMRETEET ZBUFHEN 192,000
BT AEETEIABFTHENLN57,0008 T o 26
B—RIOPEBRFAISCEURELSEERMAE
He WHRTMEZSEHEERZGERBASE N
RERK ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-T-=F=A=+—-HItEE

8.

LOSS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

8. BEXRWB#R

2023 2022
= —E—
HK$’000 HK$’000
Continuing Operations BEESER Fi#T FBTT
The Group's loss from operating activities is arrived ZRNEBMEEEBEBEE MK (GTA) :
at after charging/(crediting):
Auditors’ remuneration* BT 2>
— audit services — R ER 700 700
Cost of inventory sold EEFEHRK 236,973 144,751
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment* NE BMERZEBEZINE" 1,089 =508
Depreciation of right-of-use-assets* ERAREEZITE" 1,741 1,887
Expenses relating to shortterm lease* EEHENERE 2FAX” 566 588
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment  #1%¥ - BMER X B 2 HEEIE 13 -
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets FRAEREEZRERE 586 -
Legal and professional fee* EEREXER” 3,847 2,948
Net allowance for expected credit losses BHEEFRBERE
- allowance for expected credit losses on - EZRURECZEREESERE
trade receivables 3,581 18,597
— allowance for expected credit losses on - HttEWRE AR EEEBRRE
other receivables 78 21
— reversal of allowance for expected credit - EZREWREZEREEFERRE
losses on trade receivables &me (2,671) (38)
— reversal of allowance for expected credit - HttEWREZ2 AR EEERRE
losses on other receivables &m (546) (3,691)
442 14,889
Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration BINK (BRESHME) (#Z10)
(Note 10))
- wages and salaries* —-IERFE* 13,185 12,663
— equity-settled share-based payment —URERAELURO A 2HE 697 12,684
— retirement benefits scheme contributions* —RIKEREH B AR 813 350
14,695 25,697

*

Expenses included in the “other operating expenses” *
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-T-=F=A=+—HItEE

9. FINANCE COSTS 9. MERE
2023 2022
= == —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
Continuing Operations BiEEeER T FHIT
Interest on lease liabilities HEAGBZFIE 314 450
Imputed interests on amount due to shareholders EARRARBBZEERNE 1,659 1,532
Imputed interests on amounts due to non-controlling I FIZERERREZEEFE
interests 289 507
2,262 2,489
10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 10. E5El £
Directors’ remuneration for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, BELTRAREEARKRAZREMERER
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules and Hong Kong Companies E-E_CZHFR-ZE-__F=ZRA=1+—HLEFE
Ordinance, is as follows: ZESBHEWT :
Basic Other MPF
Name of director Fees salaries allowances contributions Total
EEpe e BEfFHe Hoth By ot R &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTiEr FTiEx T FTiEr FTiEn
2023: —E”=
Executive directors BiTEE
Mr. Zhang Xiaobin (Chairman) REW AL (XFF) - 3,600 - - 3,600
Mr. Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman) SEEE (BIER) - 1,560 39 18 1,617
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung WAL (THAR)
(Chief Executive Officer) - 1,200 - 18 1,218
Independent non-executive BIAFRTES
directors
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond ~ EBki& 5% 4 120 - - - 120
Mr. Lam Williamson MEEEE 120 - - - 120
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen BERELE 120 - - - 120
Dr. Lam Lee G. MRE[L 120 - - - 120
480 6,360 39 36 6,915
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-T-=F=A=+—-HItEE
10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

Basic
Name of director Fees salaries
e
#He EXEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FiEn FAT
2022: =EEZiE
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Zhang Xiaobin (Chairman) REEW L4 (EE) - 3,600
Mr. Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman) BlELE (RIERE) = 1,560
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung BRRLE (THER)
(Chief Executive Officer) - 1,200
Independent non-execufive directors  BIFHTES
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond ~ Bfki& % 4% 120 -
Mr. Lam Williamson H2EEE 120 -
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen BERELLE 120 -
Dr. Lam Lee G. MREBL 120 -
480 6,360

10. EEM & (#8)
Equity-settled
Other share-based MPF
allowances payment  confributions Total
NEHEE
PABRH A
Hir28 AR BEEMT At
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000
TEx TR TiEn Ti#x
5 94 = 3,694
52 94 18 1,724
- 94 18 1,312
- 9 - 129
- 9 - 129
- 9 - 129
- 9 - 129
52 318 36 7,246

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to the directors as an inducement to join, or upon
joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office. None of the
directors has waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the year
(2022: Nil).

BE-S-=—FR-S--F=A=+-B1i
FRER - AEEE I A RS B B
B SRFAERBEAESZAMS FhlE
EENERAEHECANE (CB==F @) o
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-T-=F=A=+—HItEE

11.FIVE HIGHEST PAID_ EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included three (2022:
three) directors. Details of whose remuneration are set out in Note 10 to
the consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the details of the remuneration of
the remaining two (2022: two) highest paid employee who is non-director
is as follows:

1N.EERSHER
FRAEEReHEERBE=R (22 =
F)ES HSHBRNGEMBRERME10
W o

BE_T_=F=ZA=1t—HILEE BTWHA
(ZZ-—F WMRBR)FESHESFEEZHEH
BT :

2023 2022

—E"= —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FET
Basic salaries and allowances EAXFHE R 1,440 960
Equity-seftled share-based payment AR A E I LR D AT 2 FRIE - 5,357
Retirement benefits scheme contributions BIRERIFEIER 36 18
1,476 6,335

The number of the highest paid employee who are not directors of the
Company whose remuneration fell within the following band is as follows:

HWENFUTSHBEZH AR DESRSHE
BZABWMT :

2023 2022

—=_-= —EF

Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 ZHBTZE1,000,000/8 T 2 1
HK$ 1,000,000 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,000 57t £ 1,500,000 7t - -
Over HK$1,500,000 H#3®1,500,00058 T - 1

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to the non-directors, highest paid employees as an
inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss
of office.

BE_Z-_=FfR-ZB--_F=RA=t—-RHL
FER  RAEBXESRS|IMERRMBRES
B SESERBREENFESRSHESIIM
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HE-—T-=#=-A=1+—-HIt5E

12.TAXATION 12. IR

Continuing operations RHREERE
Current tax ANEB A
- PRC —HE

2023 2022
—_B_-= —_EB—=
HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

33 1,645

No provision for taxation in Hong Kong has been made as the Group's
income neither arises in, nor is derived from, Hong Kong for the years
ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”)
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC
subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008 onwards.

Taxation in other jurisdictions are calculated at the rates prevailing in the
respective jurisdictions. No provision has been made as the Group had no
assessable profit for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the loss before tax per
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as follows:

Continuing operations BFHEERY
Loss before tax Bt A& 18

Notional tax on loss before taxation, calculated at rates

applicable to loss in the tax jurisdiction concerned F{FﬁﬁﬁgﬂéZ%%ﬁﬁ
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses FTHNERZ2RETE
Tax effect of non-taxable income BEARBRAZHBSZE
Tax effect of unrecognised temporary difference ABEREHZB BB E

Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised

Tax charge at the Group's
effective rate for the year

AERAVEBEZBETE
BABRTAERBIEER

BEEEARTEFEZER
BEFHE 2 BERX

HRAEBRBZE-Z-_=FR=-2--F=4
St—HEFEZRABRFRETBES  THERK
BEB RWERBFBHIRMFEHERE -

RY5 P B P75 ?ﬂJi(FﬁiFﬂaﬁiﬁJ K i
XSGR EAzBRAR  B-TENF-A—H
i ¢@BTT%’RTZ$R$?%25%

Hitt e 2B 2 BB REB R ERE 2 EAHR X
AE -ARAEERBE-ZE-=FR=-Z2=Z=
FZA=t-HEFEYERHEMAEREES
FESRBLRFI - w0 EEAF BB -

BREBRBREREERBERENEL

AEEHRBERITRGEEEREMMEZEKER
AERB A BBEENT
2023 2022
—E-= —E-CF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT T
(25,203) (44,915)
(4,908) (9,000)
2,045 7,195
(371) (295)
120 89
3,175 3,657
(28) (1)
33 1,645

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had unused estimated tax losses
of approximately HK$332,247,000 from continuing operations
(2022: approximately HK$348,595,000) available for offset against
future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. The unrecognised tax losses may
be carried forward indefinitely except for the tax losses arising from the
PRC which may be carried forward for five years.
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RZZEZ=ZH=ZA=+—-H FA5EFELE
¥ BEREAN332,247,0008 T (ZE=_F :
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-ZT-=F=ZA=1+—AItFE

13.DIVIDENDS 13.8 R
The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect of EETERMNBEZE_=F=A=+—-HL*F
the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil). ERMEMNRE(ZTE=Z2F : §#) -
14.LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF 14.F 0P BE ABLSREGIR
THE COMPANY
(a) Basic (a) EF
The calculation of basic loss per share from continuing and RATEEAEBEREFESERDRLER
discontinued operations attributable to owners of the Company is EEBZBRERBEIIRUTH8IBTE

based on following data:

2023 2022
—2_= —E==
Loss for the year attributable to RABREBEAREARFEREE
owners of the Company (HK$°000) (F#E7T)
— From continuing operations - REFEREEK (21,673) (38,025)
— From discontinued operation - RECRILEREER - (2,815)
(21,673) (40,840)
Weighted average number of SRITEBR 2 ME
ordinary shares in issue (7000) FIE (FR) 728,685 641,533
Basic and diluted loss per share BREARBEEE
(HK cents per share) (8RR EAL)
— From continuing operations - REFESEEK (3.0) (5.9)
- From discontinued operation - RECKRILEEETE - (0.4)
(3.0) (6.3)
(b) Diluted (b) #@
The basic and diluted loss per share are the same for the years BE-_Z-=HR-ZF-__F=A=+—H
ended 31 March 2023 and 2022. The calculation of the diluted LFEEEREARBESIENERE - FES
loss per share does not assume the exercise of the Company’s share Hﬁﬁ&%%?ﬁﬂ%iﬂﬂé’iﬁﬂiﬁﬁzﬂ%ﬂﬂ’éﬁ
options because the exercise price of those share options was higher T FRARRBE-_ZS-_=HfR=-Z_—
than the average market price for the shares for the years ended 31 fﬁ A=t-HLFEZEBREZTHE
March 2023 and 2022. BEERROFEHE-
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-T-=F=A=+—-HItEE

15.DISCONTINUED OPERATION 15.ERILEEBER
On 30 July 2021, the Group entered into a sale agreement to dispose REZBZ-FtA=+H rEEFTIHEH=R
of subsidiaries, Multi Century Technology Development Limited and its LHEWBARALHRBERAERAT (REK
subsidiaries, which carried out all of the Group’s unconventional gas BAR)  ZARIAEASEMEFRERRAARE
business. The disposal was effected in order to generate cash flows BeLE FRALEEEEERSREBUARSE
for the expansion of the Group’s other businesses. Upon completion of SEHEMER BFEHER-ZS=-—FtA=+
the disposal on 30 July 2021, the control of Multi Century Technology HE®E  AIEANRBERERAG 2EZFECE
Development Limited was passed to the acquirer. BEWETS -
The loss for the year from the discontinued unconventional gas business EREZEERRARER 2FEBFREART
is set out below. The comparative figures in the consolidated statement Yo HFERERAMEAKRBERZLERHTFET
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income have been restated to B B RAARREBREHRZ25HE LKL
represent the unconventional gas business as a discontinued operation. MEE -
Period ended
30 July 2021
BE_B_-%
+tA=+H
LEHARE
HK$'000
FET
Loss of unconventional gas business for the period FERRARER Z2HREEER (3,886)
Gain on disposal of unconventional gas business HEFERRAREKZ
(Note 34) Wi (HfaE34) 1,071
(2,815)
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HE-—T-_=#=A=1+—HIt5E

15. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (continued) 15.E#ILEEXEY (])
The results of the unconventional gas business for the period from 1 April FERAAREBR-_Z-_—FOA-HE=Z
2021 to 30 July 2021, which have been included in the consolidated ——FtA=THHEEBERRNGEEER
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, were as HEttzmksER e FHOT
follows:
Period ended
30 July 2021
HE-Z-_—F
tA=+H
LEHAR
HK$'000
FET
Other loss Hibgia (6)
Other operating expenses Hitg 8% (3,880)
Loss for the period HREE (3,88¢)
Loss for the period from discontinued operations ERLREER CHEBREENTIER
includes the following:
Loss on write-off of property, plant and equipment MEEMZE - BERRE2EE 6
Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration) EIRA(BRESHE)
— wages and salaries - IERFE 23
— retirement benefits scheme contributions —BRIRBRIF B 9
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the disposal group of companies BEZZ--_F=ZA=+t-HLFE HEHE
paid approximately HK$335,000 in respect of the Group’s net operating NAHBRAEBALLERERNEFEAIMNY
cash flows. 335,000/ T °
The carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of disposal group at the WHERBNEERH2EEREBERAENH
date of disposal are disclosed in Note 34. 34 E o
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-"T-=F=A=+—-HItEE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. % - BERRE
Freehold Plantand  Lleasehold Furniture and  Fixturesand ~ Computer Motor
land Building  equipment improvement  equipment fittings  equipment vehicles Total
KARELY BF  BERRE HAWRRE  BARBR  RERE# RERAH it | ait

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000
T Thn Thn T Thn Thn T Tin Thn

Cost: BAE:
AT April 2021 RZE--FQmA-H 1513 4,346 7,161 4,245 3,207 989 1,829 1,272 24,562
Additions B - - - - - - - - -
Wit of s = - 7,340 A 1562 60) 1556 (YT
Disposal HE [1.513) (4,346) - (31) - - - (630) (6,520)
Exchange realignment Eig = z 179 62 78 30 38 25 412
At 31 March 2022 and RZE-ZE=B=1-RK

1 April 2022 “ECCEMA-A - - - 4276 2723 759 1311 606 9,735
Additions iR = = = = 13 = 29 = 42
Witen off e ’ : ) 324 o) ! k] N ]
Disposal LE - - - - 31) (15¢) (262) = 449)
Tronsfer from rightofuse assels ~ BUHERREE - - - = L 2 - 4,849 4,849
Exchange relignment Enag . - - (114) (123 (44) 51) (43) [377)
At 31 March 2023 RIBZZEZA=+-R = = - 3,838 2,555 559 914 5470 13,336
Accumulated depreciotion ~ RiHiERAE:

and impairment:
AT April 2021 R-E--£MA-R - 486 7,161 2417 2,282 699 1,416 1,086 15,547
Charge for during the year EREY - 93 - 282 590 172 40 126 1,503
Witen o i - ; 7.340) - 1489 30) 1499 ) B39
Digosd be - 1579 - i : - ) 1630 1213
Exchange realignment Ejg2 - - 179 62 6] 3 27 19 371
At 31 March 2022 and RZEZZEZR=1-BR

1 April 2022 ZECCERA-R - - - 2757 2,444 664 1,184 600 7,649
Charge for the period FARX - - - 268 253 66 89 413 1,089
Wt oft i - - - 32 o) - k] - 164
Disposal LE - - - - (31] (130) (262) - 423)
Transfer from rightofuse assets BYORREEE - - ] - - - - 2,23 2203
Impairment loss, net HEERTE - . - - 13 - . - 13
Exchange realignment En@E - - - (113) (112) [41) 43) (39) 350)
At 31 March 2023 RZBZZEZH=+-A - - - 2,586 2,540 559 855 3,197 9,737
Net book value: FEFE:
At 31 March 2023 RZBZZEZA=+-A - - - 1,252 15 - 59 2,213 3,599
At 31 March 2022 R-F-ZE=B=1-A - - - 1519 279 95 127 66 2,086
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-T-=f=A=1+—HI%%

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated over
their estimated useful lives, after taking into account of their residual value,
on a straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

Building 2.5%
Plant and equipment 20%
Leasehold improvement 10%
Furniture and equipment 20-33.3%
Fixtures and fittings 20-33.3%
Computer equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 10%

Impairment assessment

As a result of the poor performance the Group’s commodities trading
business, daily cleaning, anti-epidemic and other consumable products,
licensed branded watch and E-smart digital services for the year ended 31
March 2023, the Group carried out a review of the recoverable amount
of the property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets (the “Tested
Assets”) for impairment assessment from the valuation performed by an
independent professional valuer. The recoverable amount was the higher
of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.

The Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
units to which the asset belongs when it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount individually. The recoverable amount of cash-
generating units have been determined based on a value in use
calculation. The calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by the management of the Group for the cash-
generating units covering the following 5 years with an average discount
rate of 12.7% (2022: 11.5%) as at 31 March 2023. The cash flows
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using 2.0% (2022: 2.0%)
growth rate.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group has recognised
impairment losses of approximately HK$13,000 and HK$586,000 on
certain property, plant and equipment and certain right-of-use assets (note
17) respectively in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

L%  BERREEEHRAGTIEAE
Wt ARG ERUESENE  TAER
RITF :

BT 2.5%
MER R 20%
HMEMEEE 10%
BRRRRE 20-33.3%
REREM 20-33.3%
BRE 20%
AE 10%

i (E B S
HRAEEvERESELE - BRABZ  BEHA
MAHERER BIRETFREXRSEEE
BRERBE-_Z-_=F=A=+—HILFEX
BARE AEESBRELEEGEMTETZE
B HYE BMERSEBEUAREAREE (&8
REE) 2 TkESEETHR  UEETRE
FE e ARESEADFEREERAEEAE
BEREZREE

REZEBMGTATRESER  KEEMGTEE
FBzREEEENzTlE2E REELES
Uz BB SBEDREEFEAEEZTEME
E -ZiEFERAERAEEEEENRREELS
UM EZRRSFHVBERERS2EERER
B HhR—ZZ-=F=ZA=+—-HzZPHHR
EBI127%(ZFEZ=F 1 11.5%) - AFHUE
ZEEREFA2.0%(ZE_—F 1 2.0%) &R
RREEBH -

BE-Z_=F=A=+—HILEE TxEER
GEREREMEARERBRETYE BE
REBURETERREE (MZ17) 2RES
B2 BI#13,000/8 T K 586,000 T (ZE==
FE) o
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-T-=F=-A=1+—-HI%%

17.RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17.EHREE
Leased Leased
office motor
Building premises vehicles Total
#F HERFRE HAKE #at
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FHET FHET FHET
Cost 5% 3
At 1 April 2021 R=-ZE-_—FWMA—H - 6,694 4,849 11,543
Additions R 1,209 461 = 1,670
Exchange realignment PE % - 103 - 103
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 RZB-ZF=A=+—-HRK
—E__FMNA—H 1,209 7,258 4,849 13,316
Additions IR - 602 - 602
Disposal of subsidiary HEMBLRT (1,209) - - (1,209)
Lease termination ALK L - (1,876) - (1,876)
Transfer to property, plant and BAYE - BEKRRKHE
equipment - - (4,849) (4,849)
Exchange realignment fE R - (167) - (167)
At 31 March 2023 R-IEZ=%=A=1+—H - 5,817 - 5,817
Accumulated depreciation and Bt ERAE
impairment
At 1 April 2021 R-E-_—FWMA—H - 3,819 1,616 5,435
Charge for the year FARX 67 1,335 485 1,887
Exchange realignment FE 5 R - 82 - 82
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 RZBZZE=A=+—-HK
—E--FWMA—H 67 5,236 2,101 7,404
Charge for the year FRMX 336 1,283 122 1,741
Disposal of subsidiary HEHB AT (403) - - (403)
Lease termination AL - (1,804) - (1,804)
Transfer to property, plant and EAYE - BEREE
equipment - - (2,223) (2,223)
Impairment loss, net VERIENSE=P=E:] - 586 - 586
Exchange realignment ERAR - (123) - (123)
At 31 March 2023 R-EZ=%=A=+—H - 5,178 - 5,178
Carrying amounts: IRTE{E :
At 31 March 2023 R-B-=%=A=+—H - 639 - 639
At 31 March 2022 R-B——Z#=H=+-—H 1,142 2,022 2,748 5,912
//
o//
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-T-=f=A=1+—HI%%

The lease terms of the Group's office premises and motor vehicles range
from 1 to 10 years for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022 and

their useful lives are as follows:

Leased office premises 1 to 2 years
Leased motor vehicles 10 years
Leased building 3 years

Details of total cash outflow of leases is set out in the consolidated
statement of cash flows.

On 1 February 2022, the Group and an independent third party (the
“Purchaser”) entered into sale and leaseback agreements pursuant to
which (i) the Group agreed to sell and the Purchaser agreed to acquire
buildings with the freehold land (the “Properties”) at a consideration
of approximately USD775,000 (the “Disposal”); and (ii) the Purchaser
agreed to lease the Properties to the Group for a term of 3 years starting
from the completion date of the Disposal (the “Completion”). The sale
and leaseback transaction was completed on 1 February 2022 and a
net proceed of approximately USD740,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$5,769,000) was received. The Properties with a net carrying
amount of approximately HK$5,307,000 has been derecognised from
the property, plant and equipment. The lease liabilities arising from the
lease agreements of approximately HK$1,196,000 are recognised with
the related right-of-use assets of approximately HK$1,209,000 at the
Completion.

As a result, the Group has recognised a gain on the sale and leaseback
transaction of approximately HK$475,000 that is included in other income
and gains for the year ended 31 March 2022.

BE-Z-_=ZFf=ZA=1+-HLEEFXEEREF
BRAEZHBRBIZ10F  HAlEAFHMT ¢

HRBFE 1225
BARE 106
HRAgF 3%

FRENELE 2R ERHARIBENGERE

REX-

RZZBZZHFZA—R FAEER-ELHIE=
FTEFDITLERADGS B FEEHE
SHE(MERTESWE) BFERKAXEL
i (TEFME]) - FrFKEHN775,000% 5T ([H
EER)  RHNESBEAAEEBALZEY
¥ o HHAHESHETHAEH (X)) EFAH
3F - ZREREARZN-ZE-__F-_F—H=
B 32 WER AT 15 SRR F 88 49740,000%% T (48
ER#5,769,000/87T) » BREFEAS,307,000
BLZZENEERYE BERRBIUERE
R-HEHBEMEE2HERBLHI, 196,000
BAIRXESHER  IARIANBEAEEED
1,209,000 7T °

At - AEECHREREOXZBRAWEN
475,000 &  Ht ABE-Z2-=-F=A8
=t -HILEFEZHMRARKE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-"T-=F=A=+—-HItEE
18.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(a) General informations of subsidiaries (a)

18. RINB AR
MEBARZ—RER

Details of the Group’s material subsidiaries at the end of the

reporting period are set out below:

RBERR - AEEZEENMB AR 215

BT

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company

Nominal value and proportion of
Place of Form of of issued voting power held
incorporation business share capital/ FnERKEER
Name and operations structure paid up capital ~ BRLREAGRFELEA(%)
& HMBIR EREHp EB{TES/ Direct Indirect Principal activities
aEnE EHRRAEE -1 Mg TERH
Sino Talent Holdings Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company HK§1 - 100 Operating company
HEEEERAR & ERAH 1A% £ENF
World Grace Enterprises Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company HK$1 - 100 Trading of commodiies
tHEEXERAT 3 BRAA 187 BREZ
KigEBHERRAA() The PRC Limited liability company Us§151,611 = 100 Provision of agency services and
frading of commodities in the PRC
HE BRERLT 151,611%7 RAEREPNBERERES
Elife Capital Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company HK$10,000 - 100 Investment holding
FEEEAERAR £ BRAA 10,000/87 REER
Shenzhen Aishang e-buy The PRC Limited liability company RMB500,000 - 100 Trading of licensed brands watches
Technology Co., Ltd. {ii]
MImEE2RNEARAT) HE BRERLT AR#500,0007 KHaRTERES
Hui Min Infernational {HK) Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company HK$1 - 100 Investment holding
ERER (BH) BRAA & BRAF 187 REER
Zhongnongxin Supply Chain The PRC Limited liability company RMB39,999,999 - 100 Trading of commodities
Management Limited (ii
HREMBEEE (b R) BERAF) HE BRERLT ARH39,999,9997 BREs
HESERERBERARL (i) The PRC Limited liability company RMB15,528,360 - 100 Trading of commodiies
HE ERELLA AR#15,528,3607 BREs
Sunfield Global Invesments Brifish Virgin Islands Limited liability company Us$100 - 51 Investment holding
Limited ("Sunfield Global’)
HERRREARLA EBRLNE BRAR 100%7 REnRk
(T#ERER])
Esmart Holdings Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company HK$1 - 100 Investment holding
BfEERERAR & BRAA 187 REER
KEEABEREERD i) The PRC Limited liability company RMB31,887,168 - 100 Provision of esmart digital services
TE BRERLT ARH31,887,1687 RESHHERY
FREARES (BN BRA i) The PRC Limited liability company RMB989,913 - 100 Trading of daily cleaning and ant-
epidemic products
B BREALF AR#989 9137 BEEIRHRESES
Notes: Bt

(i)  The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group, which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results or assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the

opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive lengths.

(i)  These companies are wholly-foreign owned enterprises in the PRC.

() LEXRFAFIBAEEZRBELT DES
ARRBHEAEE XA EERYE
E-EERAR JIHEMKMEB AR ZHF
B ETENBOHAR-

(i) ZERXRARPEZIEBELE-

ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED % 4 3% # B A B A ® - Annual Report 2023 4 #§



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MWK

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-ZT-=F=ZA=1+—AItFE

18.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 1. RMIBLATIZE (&)
(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiary that has material non- (b) REFEFEAFERBRZIZENE
controlling interests: NRZFHE
The table below shows details of the non-wholly owned subsidiary of TRETNREDPEEEAFERER 2K
the Group that have material non-controlling interests: EEF2EWMBELR 2B

Proportion of

ownership
Place of incorporation interests and voting Loss allocated to Accumulated
and principal rights held by non- non-controlling non-controlling
Name place of business controlling interests interests interests
FERERFRIER SEF
&F B 2L 4t B B ZHhARERR FRiERiER it
& FEERME BRREZLE ZBiR RS
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-= —E--F ZEZ= —E--F Z®Z= Bt i
% % HK$’000  HK$'000 HK$’000  HK$'000
Fign TER FiEn TER
Sunfield Global* British Virgin Islands 49.0 49.0 (1,149) (4,053) (46,853) (48,846)

BRI RERZEHS

Individually immaterial subsidiaries with
non-controlling interests (26,360) (25,404)
REFEEFERERZERFEAMBAR

(73,213) (74,250)

*  An non-wholly owned subsidiary of Admiral Glory *  Admiral GloryZz ¥ 2 &M B2 =
Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s FHBREERFEREZEZCHFZEMBL
subsidiary that has material non-controlling interests is set out below. A2 BERBMERIMT - LTEBER
The summarised financial information below represents amounts BMEREREBR D RBMEAN 2E5 -

before intragroup eliminations.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-"T-=F=A=+—-HItEE
18.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiary that has material non- (b)

18. RIFBAFZES (M)
RETERERFEREZZHFZEWES

controlling interests: (continued)

DA ZFHE ()

Sunfield Global ¥ 18 35 Bk
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Current assets RBEE 5,028 7,873
Non-current assets FRBEE 277 614
Current liabilities REEE (87,834) (62,742)
Non-current liabilities kRBERE (13,100) (45,431)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company RARER ANELER (48,776) (50,840)
Non-controlling interests R ER (46,853) (48,846)
Revenue 2= - -
Loss for the year AEEEE (2,355) (8,272)
Loss attributable to owners of the Company KAREBAEMEER (1,206) (4,219)
Loss attributable to owners of FEREREMNER
non-controlling interests (1,149) (4,053)
Loss for the year AKEEEFE (2,355) (8,272)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) attributable RABEEAEEEMER
to owners of the Company Wz (Eia) 1,460 (1,643)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) attributable FERERELEMEE
to non-controlling interests Wz, (&i8) 1,403 (1,579)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year rEEHMmEEmEKE S (FE) 2,863 (3,222)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to ARNTEEARMGEZEKE (FE) A%
owners of the Company 254 (5,862)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable FEREREGEE W (FR) 2858
to non-controlling interests 254 (5,632)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year AEERHEKGE(FE)BE 508 (11,494)
Deemed capital contribution from non-controlling FEREBAZRELER
interest 1,739 -
Net cash outflow from operating activities KEER RS RHFEHE (2,526) (1,973)
Net cash inflow from financing activities RMETHRERAFHE 2,473 1,736
Net cash outflow BE&RHFE (53) (237)
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19. GOODWILL 19. 5 &
HK$'000
FTHBT
Cost: B#F(E :
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022, REZB--—FWA—-B -ZB=f=ZA=+—-8"
1 April 2022 and 3] March 2023 —ECCFNA-BAR=ZZE==F=HA=+—H 68,057
Accumulated impairment: RetiEE :
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022, R-ZE-_—-FNA—-H - —ZT=-_—_f=A=+—H0"
1 April 2022 and 31 March 2023 —E__FWNA-BR-ZB-=F=ZA=+—H 68,057
Carrying amounts: IRTE(E -
At 31 March 2023 R-IEZ=%=A=+—H 5
At 31 March 2022 REZBZZF=ZA=+—H =
20.FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 20. BAFEAARZARRZMHEETE
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
2023 2022
—E-= —ECHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET
Unlisted equity investment in the PRC (Note (i) & (ii)) FEIE ERRANIRE (M) K (i) 274 483
Notes: =
() On 23 January 2019, Esmart Technology Company Limited, a non i) R=ZF-—NAFE-A=-+=B ' rEEz#2E
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, entered into a sale and purchase WEARKWESENERNEARATILTES
agreement to subscribed 4.61% of unlisted equity interest. The company HBEUARBAOI%BELTRAIRE - 22 A E
is principally engaged in the business in relation to vending machine EREEHERERRBEAEEZERK - B
and convenience store. The directors of the Company have elected to RERRESHEZEREBERRE - BF
designated these investments in financial asset at fair value through other EEFREEE HHESCERESLZSRER
comprehensive income as they believe that the investment is strategic EABEATFEFAEMEZENRE -
investment and intended to be held for medium to long-term.
(i) The unlisted equity investment is measured at fair value and is classified (i) FELTRABRERATFENELSIEALE=R
as level 3 fair value measurement. The details of the fair value AFEFNE - AEAFEFEZHBISEMW

measurement reference to the Note 5. 350
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-"T-=F=A=+—-HItEE

21.INVENTORIES 21.%F8
2023 2022
= o —=E-=
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
Finished goods BIER M 2,701 512
22.TRADE RECEIVABLES 22. 8 5 EWRIE
2023 2022
={ = ==
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Trade receivables (Note) B 5 IR (M EE) 33,691 44,851
Less: allowance for ECL on trade receivables B ESRWREZBHEESERE (25,986) (25,076)
7,705 19,775

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables, based on past
due date, at the end of reporting period.

UTARBERRRESHARREIN 2ES
FE W RROR -

2023 2022

—EZ= —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
0 to 30 days 0&£30H 2,362 1,475
31 to 60 days 31260H 169 59
61 to 90 days 61Z90H 61 175
90 to 365 days 912365H 218 19,336
Over 365 days HBiB365H 30,881 23,806
33,691 44,851

Note: Bt

According to the credit rating of different customers, the Group allows a range
of credit periods within 30 days to its trade customers. Trade receivables are
denominated in HK$ and RMB.

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables for the years ended
31 March 2023 and 2022 are set out in Note 5 to the consolidated

financial statements.

RETREF2RAFR ARERFHESEF
ZEEBRAI0E - BRMBKELBTLRA RS
BHE

BE-_Z_=FfR-_ZF-__F=ZA=+—-HLEFE
RESERREETZHETGEIEERNGETHE
RARMEES ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-T-=%=A=+—HILFE
23.DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER

23. 5 AMARFERHAMERRTA

RECEIVABLES
2023 2022
—$-= =
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FExT
Deposits e 912 856
Prepayments FESRIE 33,032 32,058
Other receivables (Note (i) & {ii)) ol FE W IR (B a2 (i) & (i) 103,442 105,760
137,386 138,674
Less: allowance for ECL on other receivables W HMERRE A REESERE
(Note {iii)) (£ (iii)) (76, 437) (76,905)
60,949 61,769
Notes: =
As at 31 March 2023, included the other receivables are several significant Eﬁ‘:?:EEE -i—— H UTHEEKREED
items as follows: aF A L At FE WK
(il  Outstanding consideration for sale of minority interest in an associated (i) HEBERARLHEZZAEERE

Company

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement dated 2 June 2015
(as supplemented and amended by two supplemental agreements
thereto dated 23 June 2017 and 28 November 2017) (the “Disposal
Agreement”) between Elife Investment Holdings Limited (formerly known
as Sino Rich Energy Holdings Limited) (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company) (“Elife Investment”) and Jetgo Group Llimited (“Jetgo”), Elife
Investment agreed to dispose of 10.5% of the issued share capital of an
associated company to Jetgo at the consideration of HK$150,000,000.
The first and second instalments of the consideration of approximately
HK$75,304,000 were seftled in accordance with the schedule.

In relation to the third instalment of the consideration of approximately
HK$74,696,000 due on 31 December 2018, Jetgo seftled HK$200,000
in June 2018 and approximately HK$74,496,000 has remained
outstanding as at 31 March 2023 and 2022.

The Group will seek legal advice for the repayment action plan if
necessary. As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, a full provision was made.

Annual Report 2023 $3§ -

REAQDGAZZEMBLARZEETREER
ERAFR (AIBEMNEERRERERAA)
TZFEERENEESEBERLAT ([#E))
e LB A-—E—HEANA-AZEEH
ZR(KAPRA-ZT—tFRAZ+=BEKZ
—tF+-AZ+tN\AZRMOEEHERER
k&) (HEHRE]D @ ZETRERZER
& 150,000,000 T HE %‘é‘"ﬂa‘;‘éﬁﬂﬂi
2105% cREBZE-—HRE AEARIEL
75,304 ooo,ﬁnamﬂﬁ*ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁma °

BER=-Z-NE+-A=+—-H2HzRE
ZEZHoHRIBEN74,696,0008 T #ES
MR-ZE—\EXHAEIE200,0008T 88 TH
74,496,000 TR B _=FR_T__
ZA=t-—HEKREE-

REBLERERERTHAESREAEZE
R - RZB_=fK-T-_-F=A=+-—
B BELEERE-
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-T-=F=-A=1+—-HI%%

Notes: (continued)

(ii)

Loan to Graceful Ocean International Group Holding Limited (“Graceful
Ocean”)

On 11 September 2014, Sino Talent Holdings Limited (“Sino Talent”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as lender, entered into a loan
agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) with Graceful Ocean, as borrower and
Mr. Ma Haike (“Mr. Ma") as first guarantor whereby Sino Talent agreed
to advance to Graceful Ocean a term loan in the principal amount of
HK$18 million (the “Loan”) with interest accrued at the rate of 13% per
annum. The parties entered into five supplemental agreements to the Loan
Agreement between April 2015 and June 2018 to, among other things,
postpone the maturity date of the Loan to 31 March 2019. On 24 June
2019, the parties and Mr. Gao Feng (“Mr. Gao”), an executive director
and the vice-chairman of the Board, entered into the sixth supplemental
agreement to the Loan Agreement with the interest rate of 10% per
annum, to further postpone the maturity date of the Loan to 31 March
2020. Meanwhile, as an additional security of the repayment obligations
of the borrower under the Loan Agreement (as supplemented by the six
supplemental agreements), Mr. Gao, entered into a second guarantee
contract (“Mr. Gao’s Second Guarantee”) with Sino Talent and Graceful
Ocean whereby Mr. Gao agreed to act as the second guarantor and in
the event and only when Mr. Ma failed to or refused to fulfill its guarantee
obligations as the first guarantor, guarantee the due performance of
Graceful Ocean in respect of its repayment obligations under the Loan
Agreement (as supplemented by the six supplemental agreements). On 12
June 2020, the Seventh supplemental agreement entered into the parties
to further postpone the maturity date of the Loan to 31 March 2021.
On 23 April 2021, Mr. Gao entered into a repayment agreement with
Sino Talent to take up responsibilities to repay the outstanding balances
according to the repayment schedule on behalf of Graceful Ocean when
Mr. Ma failed to settle of the Loan. The repayment schedule has been
agreed and due on 31 December 2022. The interest rate was changed to
5% per annum.

On 17 January 2023, Mr. Gao entered into an amendment agreement to
the repayment agreement with Sino Talent to extend Mr. Gao’s payment
schedule in respect of the outstanding balance of the Loan. The repayment
schedule has been agreed and due on 31 December 2023. The interest
rate is remained 5% per annum.

As at 31 March 2023, the total outstanding amount of the Loan and the
interest accrued thereon was approximately HK$21,936,000 (2022:
approximately HK$24,655,000) and included in other receivables. The
loan was repaid in the amount of approximately HK$3,811,000 (2022:
approximately HK$3,982,000) during the year ended 31 March 2023
and approximately HK$300,000 (2022: approximately HK$200,000)
subsequent to year ended 31 March 2023 and up to date of this report.

BT (48)

(i)

[6] 12 ERE 5 B IR A R 2 A ([12 8B ) 42
H’E
RZE-—NEAAT—B XD BAZZ2EWE
AFFEEEERLAT (FE]) EHERR)
HEBEE (FABER) REBRILELE (B
£ 1) (EBE—ERN) T LERBZ &R
=) Bt FEREEESERREMRNSE
#%18,000,000i8 T2 EMER ([ZERK]D -
REFEIZ%:TE - FFIHNHAHER =T -1
FHNAE=ZZ-N\EXAHBRERBET L
A EGE W (HFEE) EEZERZE
HEE-Z-AFE=BA=+—H -R=Z—Hh
FRA=-THNAR ST FEAPTESRES
BREESBAEE ((SEE]) RERBET L
ERPERHE  BAETAERNEI0% I
E-—SHEZERCAPRZE-_S-_TF=4
=+—B- B FREEFBTERERD
FEEANDBEEBEAIER) TZEREEZZ
HEIMNER  SrAEHEFERESHEBRITLES
EREN(BREZEZERD Bl 5%
AREETFZERA TR (AREE)EL
EEIRIEBEBITHERE - ERAZERSE
F2BRT  ERESHBRIEBITHERER
BE (EADEERRENER) T2ERSME -
RZZ-ZTEARA+T=H SFTHAFTILEL
DREZEHE UE—SPLEEZERZAHAZE
—E_-F=ZA=t+-H -RZ-ZE-—FMA
“+=R si4EHFETIERBE UR
BRAERKBEZERZBRBER KB
BERRERRERBEAREEREES S
EFT - FHEERRBERERER  BR2E
HMEMA—E-__F+-A=+—8  FXA
HBFER RS -

R-ZZ-=F—-A++tH SrEEFEHRE
RBBFLIEFT R URBRERERS AL
ZARBEEHCENERE BHE2EREBXR
RipER BRI EARB[-T=F+=
B=+—H  FRARFFRNESS -

REZZBZ=ZHZA=Z+—-H ZERZREE
ERERRFFIBEHL21,936,0008 T (=
T F 1 4924,655,0008 T) JIEt AH A RE
BHRE RBE-Z-_=ZF=ZA=+—HLHF
ERNEEENIB811,0008 T (ZFE=F:
#93,982,000B ) EF  MRBE-T ==
FZAZT-HUEFEREEAREAHCE
#E #300,000% T (=F = =4 : 49200,000
BRT)ER -
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-T-=%=A=+—HILFE

23.DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 23. &% WAAREAREMEWRIE (K)

RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued) et o (#E)

(iii) In respect of the sales consideration in Note (i), on 28 November (iii) MMMz EEREMS &8 (BT
2018, 2 January 2019 and 25 April 2019, the Group (either by itself REBHEZEBEB EEAER-_ZE—N\F+—
or through its legal advisers) issued demand letters to Jetgo while the B-+N\B -ZB—hE—B-BR=-Z—H
management of both parties continued to discuss the means to settle FOA-+HBANESRHEEREREYG
the outstanding amount. The Company sought legal advices from two RELEEBTTEHMZEREERBE2EN
separate Hong Kong law firms on the viability and pros and cons of B BRIE - RRREHESRERBHE
taking legal action against Jetgo on its failure to make the repayment HEEHER —SMOERBCEETBHZAT
in accordance with the Disposal Agreement. The Company will further HRAE  FHAEBMREMITEREESR
instruct professionals to assess the assets and financial conditions of the RoXRDNBBE-—FEREAEEALTMHE
Vendor, its associated companies and the sole shareholder of the Vendor S HEERAARESZHE—"RRERNEERA
in Hong Kong and elsewhere and will then decide whether or not to take fitth 5 2 EERFEMR > RABERAERLEE
legal action against the Vendor or explore other options including but not HESKICEIETDERERTEMS ZE - 8
limited to disposal of the outstanding amount. BEFRRREEZEREERE -

Due to the expected possibility of repayment from Jetgo in short period HARESTHEINERBENER 2 TR EER
of time is very low and its ECL was assessed at a very high level by an HEHCEEREBHEYEXAEMTIERRE
independent firm of professional valuers, after thorough consideration, REBEKT  HEBFMAZEE ESFRE
the Board decided to make a full provision of allowance for ECLs on the REBEE-Z-AE=A=1+—-HLEEHEHR
respective receivables, during the year ended 31 March 2019. EWREELEEE-2EHEEEBRES -
Regarding the loan balance in Note (i), the ECLs are relatively low as BRME() iz ERES  EREFEX
supported by the repayment schedules and the personal guarantees, BEERREALER EEEHEEBEM
the provision allowance for ECL on other receivables is approximately HEE R-ZZ-_=F=ZA=+—HBaHEM
HK$1,762,000 as at 31 March 2023 (2022: HK$2,302,000). ERREBEFEz2EREEREBRETRNA
1,762,000 Tt (ZF = =% : 2,302,000/
JT) e

Details of impairment assessment of other receivables for the years ended BE-—E-=FK-_T--—F=ZA=+—HALtHF

31 March 2023 and 2022 are set out in Note 5 to the consolidated EREMERFIEET ZREFRGEBHERES

financial statements. B AR EES ©

24.CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 24 e RBEE£FERHE

At the end of the reporting period, cash and cash equivalents were RREHA BEeRBESZSEEBEIUTH S

denominated in the following currencies: EE

2023 2022
= = —E-_=
HK$’000 HK$'000

FHERT FHET

RMB ARME 1,611 1,427

HK$ BT 672 6,265

us$ EV - 3,115

2,283 10,807

The remittance of cash and cash equivalents denominated in RMB out of DARBEEZESRESSEEAELTEHSA

the PRC is subject to the foreign exchange control restrictions imposed by BrHhEBEMERZMEEH -

the government of the PRC.

Cash and cash equivalents carry interest at market rates which range from ReRBRLEEEERTSNEFE  NTFEF
0.25% to 0.75% per annum. 0.25%20.75% °
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-"T-=F=A=+—-HItEE

25.TRADE PAYABLES 25. RS EMARR
The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the UTARBERRBREBEZEZAHIRREINZE
invoice date, at the end of the reporting period. 2 AT FRIE ¢
2023 2022
=== ot
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFHT FHBT
0 to 30 days 0%30H 228 1
31 to 60 days 31Z60H 77 2
61 to 90 days 61E90H 103 =
91 to 180 days 91Z180H 460 49
Over 180 days #i1B180H 1,450 209
2,318 261
The average credit period on purchases of certain goods is 30 days. The ETERRBZFHIEEHAI0R - AEFEE
Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all ECvHKEREERE  UWRERABESTER
payables are paid within the credit timeframe. EEBBIERRIA -
26. ACCRUED LIABILITIES AND OTHER PAYABLES 26. Rt AR RAMEFRRIER
2023 2022
—eZ= —ECF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
Accrued liabilities 2itaE 7,151 7,016
Other payables H T FR0E 12,988 17,709
20,139 24,725
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-T-=F=A=+—HItEE

27.CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Contract liabilities (Note)

27. 8RR
2023 2022
=5 o
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH&T FHET
EHNEE () 1,015 1,912

Reconciliation of contract liabilities for the years ended 31 March 2022

and 2023:

At 1 April 2021
Receipts in advance from customers during the year
Revenue recognised during the year that was included

At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022

Revenue recognised during the year that was included
in the contact liabilities at the beginning of the year

At 31 March 2023

BE_Z__FR-TF-_=F=A=+—HIHF

EZEHNEBEHEK:

HK$'000
R-ZE-_—FMAB—AH 1,067
FREWEFRIE 1,912

FAFHEHNEBZFRARR 2 WA
(1,067)

R-ZBZZF=A=+—HK

—E-_FWA—H 1,912

STTAFNENEBEZFARR WA
(897)
W-_E_=fF=A=+—H 1,015

Note:

Contract liabilities in relation to sales of finished goods are expected to be
settled within one year. The revenue is recognised upon the performance

obligation had been performed.

HEERARERCZANEERNR - FREE -
BERBENEETEITRHREEER -
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-"T-=F=A=+—-HItEE

28.LEASE LIABILITIES 28. HE AR
The Group’s lease liabilities arise from the leasing of buildings, office rEBCHEEEECEHAZTE BFERA
premises and motor vehicles with a fixed lease term from 2 to 5 years. The B FRENZEEEBNF2E5F - REERK
incremental borrowing rates applied by the Group range from 11.35% to AZBEEERMENFI1.35%E13% (=2 ==
13% (2022: 1.85% to 14%). F 1 1.85%&14%) °
The Group had lease liabilities repayable as follows: TEBETFEHECHESBEWT :
As at 31 March 2023 As at 31 March 2022
R-S—_=%=A=+—H R=B=_=—F=H=+—8H
Present Present
value of the Total value of the Total
minimum minimum minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments
wEHR wEHES REHE REHESE
iRz BE iR RRZRE R4
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT THERT FHET FHET
Within 1 year 1R 888 990 2,334 2,672
Over 1 year, less than 2 years 1F#&EB2FR 405 446 1,031 1,152
Over 2 years, less than 5 years 2F®%B5FR 110 114 628 675
1,403 1,550 3,993 4,499
Less: total future interest expenses & : REF BRI 4255 (147) (506)
Present value of lease liabilities HEEBZRE 1,403 3,993

Analysis for reporting purpose as: Gk B EH D47 -

Current liabilities REAE 888 2,334
Non-current liabilities FRBERE 515 1,659

1,403 3,993
The Group’s leases in respect of approximately HK$2,748,000 were R-ZE-__F=A=+—H  £%#%2,748,000
secured by the lessee’s title to the leased assets as at 31 March 2022. The BRAZAREBHENLUREACREESEE£EFER
Group's lease liabilities are denominated in Hong Kong dollars and RMB, o REFBHEEEUBTIRARESE  B148
being the functional currency of the relevant group entity. BEEEEEBZmEEY -
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-T-=F=A=+—HItEE

29. AMOUNTS DUE TO . SHAREHOLDERS

Current liabilities

Amount due to Gao Feng (“Mr. Gao”)
(Note (i] & Note (ii))

Amount due to Zhang Xiaobin (“Mr. Zhang”)
(Note (i] & Note (ii))

Amount due to Chiu Sui Keung (“Mr. Chiu”)
(Note (i] & Note (ii))

Amount due to Zhu Qian

Non-current liabilities

Amount due to Mr. Gao (Note (ii))
Amount due to Mr. Zhang (Note (ii))
Amount due to Mr. Chiu (Note (ii))

29 B BEERERA
2023
= =
HK$’000
F#T
mEAE
EAmE (TEEE]) RE
(B aE(i) R Bt a2 (i) 1,642
FEfRBEW ([REE]D) RE
(B EE(i) B K&z (ii)) 2,285
R ([ EE ) RE
(B aE(i) R Bt a2 (i) 57
EfxREZRE 1,865
5,849
JEREAR
FEAS & S £ TRIE (Bt aE (i) 9,901
FE A 5R 55 £ TR IE (Bt aE (i) 1,942
@m‘aa&ﬁx B (/WE//(}) 191
12,034

2022
=

HK$'000

FHET

11,258
4,662

216
837

16,973

Notes:

(i)  The amounts due to shareholders under current liabilities are non-trade
in nature, unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand (2022:

repayable within one year).

(i)  During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company has further signed
certain supplementary agreements with shareholders for extending
the repayment date to 12 July 2024. The fair value amounted to
approximately HK$10,960,000 was reassessed and was reclassified
as non-current liabilities. Deemed capital contribution arising from
shareholders amounted to approximately HK$3,260,000 has been

recognised in other reserve.

(ii)

ARBRBET ZENRRAEBERZHE
HARER RERABREREERE (ZFT=C

FAR-FREE) -

REBEE-_Z-_=F=A=1+—HLFE &2
FHERRE-—SHIETHAGZ  ULERE
HAPE-_F-_MELA+=H - 2FEY
10,960,000 T I & EHTE > WEEH S
FRIERDHAEGE HRREEZEELEEY

3,260,00058 7T JH 1 H b i 48 Th #ERR.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-ZT-=F=ZA=1+—AItFE
30. AMOUNTS DUE TO NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 30.FEfIERRRiE R FRIA

2023 2022

= = —EF—_—
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
Current liabilities REEE 7,560 8,851
Non-currenr liabilities FREEE 1,066 =
8,626 8,851

Notes: Hret -

(i) The amounts due to non-controlling interests under current liabilities are (i) HABEETZEMFZERERTEBIRS
non-trade in nature, unsecured, interestfree and repayable within one MHE EAEEKF RERER-—FARAREE
year or on demand (2022: repayable within one year). REB(ZEZZF . AN —FREE) -

(i)  During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company has further signed (i) RBE-Z=-Z=ZF=ZA=+—-HLEE X2
a supplementary agreement with certain non-controlling interests for HHEETHERERNE—DEITHAHE
extending the repayment date to 12 July 2024. The fair value amounted MERERBHPE-_ZE-_NELA+=H-
to approximately HK$971,000 was reassessed and was reclassified DNFELI71,0008 T EEHE X E
as non-current liabilities. Deemed capital contribution arising from non- HAEAERBEE HIEREZAEEZ
controlling interests amounted to approximately HK$289,000 has been RIELEFELN289,000/8 T I £ H A& & 1
recognised in other reserve. 78 e
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-T-=F=A=+—HItEE

31.SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY 1. XL FIKRE
Number of shares Amount
BiH#®E &8

2023 2022 2023 2022

—E-= = —E-= —Fs=F

000 ‘000 HK$’000 HK$'000

Tk TR FET TR
Authorised: $E
Ordinary shares EBR

At beginning of the year [of HK$0.1 each) REA (BREEO.1ET)

(2022: of HK$0.02 each) (ZZ-=%  §REE0.02E ) 3,000,000 15,000,000 60,000 300,000

Share consolidation (Note (iii)) B3 & BF (Bt i) - (12,000,000) - (240,000)
At end of the year [of HK$0.1 each) REL (BREE0.1ET) 3,000,000 3,000,000 60,000 60,000
Issued and fully paid: BRETRAR:
At beginning of the year REH 678,528 3,096,643 67,853 61,933
Subscription of shares (Note {i)) RERD (W) - 145,000 = 2,900
Grant of shares under share award scheme (Nofe (iil] #5843 52 Bh st 214% 843 (4742 /ii)) - 96,600 - 3,020
Share consolidation (Note (iii)) BRAD & B (B i) - (2,659,715) - -
Placing of shares (Note (iv)) BRERS (#&t(iv)) 74,160 - 7,416 -
At the end of the year REHK 752,688 678,528 75,269 67,853
Notes: Kiat :

(i) The Company was successfully subscribed 145,000,000 Shares at
HK$0.02 each on 15 September 2021 at a subscription price of
HK$0.055 per share for a total consideration, before expenses of
approximately HK$7,975,000. The proceeds were used for the working
capital to maintain the Group’s daily operations and funding for
developing the Group's business.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-T-=F=-A=1+—-HI%%

Notes: (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

On 8 April 2021, the Board has resolved to grant and transfer a total of
5,050,000 existing awarded shares to Mr. Zhang Shaoyan, the Chief
Investment Officer of the Group under the shares held by Trustee and
83,000,000 new awarded shares are to be granted to eight employees
of a subsidiary under the share award scheme by way of issue and
allotment of new shares with par value at HK$0.02 each. The Company
issued the respective awarded shares at fair value of HK$0.069 per
share.

On 6 December 2021, the Board resolved to, subject to the completion
of the share consolidation and approval of the independent shareholders
(where necessary), award an aggregate of 13,600,000 awarded shares
to seven selected participants under the share award scheme by way
of allotment and issue of new shares with par value at HK$0.1 each.
Subsequent to the completion of share consolidation and shareholder
approval, the Company issued the respective awarded shares on 28
January 2022. The Company issued the respective awarded shares at fair
value of HK$0.145 per share.

On 9 December 2021, The Board proposes to implement the share
consolidation on the basis that every five issued and unissued existing
shares of HK$0.02 each be consolidated into one consolidated share
HK$0.1 each (the “Share Consolidation”). The Share Consolidation was
approved by the shareholders on 25 January 2022, and became effective
on 27 January 2022. Accordingly, the total number of issued capital
was consolidated from 3,324,643,562 into 664,928,712 on 27 January
2022.

On 15 July 2022, the Company successfully placed 74,160,000 shares
at the placing price of HK$0.103 through a placing Agent to not less
than six independent placees. The gross proceeds from the placing were
approximately HK$7,639,000, and the net proceeds, after deducting the
placing commission, professional fees and all related expenses borne by
the Company, were approximately HK$7,354,000.

BiaE - (&)

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

R-Z-—FWANR  EFSRRUAZTA
FAZRAOFAEEEREREBERBELE
R REZESHS5,050,0008 75 2B R G R
RIBR D R BT B A BB R BITERE(E0.02
BRZHBROzAXMNEHEBERRESRE
83,000,000/ # @R 10 - AR AL A FE
BR0.069% THITHBERBRD -

RZB-Z—E+-A 0 B2 RERHD
EHTERELLB I BRAE (WEE) - RIE
R EBTEARERBITEREEC. BT
ZHBRAZARNAtBEMESEERREHR
13,600,000 BB 12 - MRS ERE
BRE#MESR  RAFAR_BE-__F—A=+AN\
BRTHEBREBRG AQAREBRAFEER
0.1458 T THBEEBR®D -

R-B-—5+-FNHB EZZEHETR
nEas EEABARERMEE02ETZ
BRORARBTRAROGHA-RERE
EO.1BTZ2EHRMD (TROEH] - RHE
HR-ZBZ-F-A-T+HARAERRAE -
YRZFBZZF-A-+tREF AR B
BITRABER-_Z-__F-A=-++tHH
3,324,643,562R & 51 5664,928,712f% °

RZBZZFLA+THEA  ARAHDHEBE
ERBUREE0.103B T RPN AEEY
ABABE74,160,000R KB 7% - BEABREZ
FRIGFBEEENR7,639,0008 T » LHBRE
ERE EXBARMEREAQARREZEE
X FERIEFENA7,354,0008 T
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-T-=F=A=+—HItEE

32.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 2. XNFICHERARR G
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
(a) Statement of Financial Position (a) BRI &
2023 2022
—EC-=% —E-CHF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
M7t FHET FET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries RHE AT > 12,920 13,667
Property, plant and equipment Y% . BERBRE 1,284 1,647
Right-of-use assets ERREEE 350 1,399
14,554 16,713
Current assets mERE
Deposits, prepayments and other e FENREREMEKRZE
receivables 1,184 1,374
Cash and cash equivalents B4RBLZEER 424 2,226
1,608 3,600
Less: Current liabilities WcRBRE
Accrued liabilities and other payables S e B R EibENSSRE 8,374 8,491
Lease liabilities HEaE 505 1,405
8,879 9,896
Net current liabilities EEHEERE (7,271) (6,296)
Total assets less current liabilities SERERTEAE 7,283 10,417
Less: Non-current liabilities W :ERBDAER
lease liabilities HEaRE = 504
- 504
Net assets SERHE 7,283 9,913
Capital and reserves SEREE
Share capital R A 31 75,269 67,853
Reserves 5 32(b) (67,986) (57,940
Total equity BaBE 7,283 9,913
Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 R=B-=FAA-THhBEESEHE
June 2023 and signed on its behalf by: REENE  YATIHATRARESE
Zhang Xiaobin Gao Feng
R B 4 = &
Director Director
EE E
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-"T-=F=A=+—-HItEE

32.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 2. XNFIZHERAERR IS ()
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (continued)
(b) Reserves (b) & f
The detail movement of reserves of the Company is as follows: RATEEZHMASHUWT -
Shares held
Share for share Share
premium  Contributed Accumulated award options
account surplus losses scheme reserve Total
B {7 58 Wt ) {33
{7 R RAR #BARR RiER s -1 | #a
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FiEn FET FiEn TAR FET
[Note {i)) [Note {ii)) [Note (iii))
(&) (Hiitfii)) (Hi&tfiii))
At 1 April 2021 R-E--EmA-A 333,369 7,076 (420,110) (4,986) 35,143 (49,508)
Loss for the year KEEFE = = (23,161) i - (23,161)
Grant of shares under share 1R 15 R4 BB EB LR
award scheme 4,679 L L 4,289 = 8,968

Equity-setfled share-based ~ EEBERETEBB 2 NEREER
payment related to share U RH T 2B

option scheme - - - - 696 696
Share options lapsed BRELN - - 26,261 - (26,261) -
Subscription of shares RBRG (WZ31)

[Note 31) 5,075 - . - - 5,075
Share issuing expenses ROBITHEX (10) - - - - (10)

At 31 March 2022 and R-ZBEZZEZf=+-HAK
1 April 2022 —g--£mA-A 343,113 7076 [417,010) (697) 9,578 (57,940)

Loss for the year REEER - - (10,681) - - (10,681)
Equity-setfled share-bosed ~ ERARBHEAB 2 AERE
payment related to share BUARBIHZRE

award scheme - - - 697 - 697
Share options lapsed BRELNY - - 3,794 - (3,794) -
Placement of shares RERD (HZ31)

[Note 31) 223 - - . - 223
Share issuing expenses B2 TEL (285) - - - - (285)
At 31 March 2023 R-EZZ£ZA=+-H 343,051 7,076 (423,897) - 5,784 167,986)

ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED % 4 3% # B A B A ® - Annual Report 2023 4 #§




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ma

Bt 75 ¥R 2R MY &

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-T-=%=A=+—HILFE

32.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

(b) Reserves (continued)
Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Contributed surplus

The Company’s contributed surplus represents the excess of the
fair value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to
the Group reorganisation during the year ended 31 March 2002,
over the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange
therefore and the capitalisation of the 30,000,000 shares allotted
and issued nil paid. Under the Companies Law (2001 Second
Revision) of the Cayman Islands, the contributed surplus account
is distributable to the shareholders of the Company under certain
circumstances. Details of distributable reserve are set out in page
61 of the consolidated financial statements.

Shares held for share award scheme

The shares held for share award scheme is the consideration paid,
including any directly attributable incremental costs for purchase
of shares under the share award scheme, in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in Note 3(l).

Share options reserve

The share options reserve relates to share options granted to
employees under the employee share option scheme. Further
information about share-based payments to employees is set out in
Note 33.

Distributable Reserves

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Company did not have
reserves available for cash distribution and/or distribution in specie,
calculated in accordance with the Company Law (2003 Revision)
of the Cayman Islands to members. No final dividend has been
proposed out of such reserves for the year (2022: Nil).

Annual Report 2023 $3§ -

32. X XTFZ MK R T B & ow (&)

(b) i (#8%)
UEE

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-T-=F=-A=1+—-HI%%

Equity-settled share-based payment presented in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income analysed as follows:

Share Option Scheme BB RS
MR1D 2R BT 8l

Share Award Scheme

REEEERAMEHKREREN ZUEREH
WA 2 REBEDHMT :

2023 2022
=== e s
HK$’000 HK$'000

THET FHET

- 696
697 11,988
697 12,684

Share Options Scheme

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the
purpose of enabling the Company to grant share options to the eligible
participants as incentive or rewards for their contributions to the Group.
Eligible participants of the Scheme include any directors, employees,
officers and/or consultants of the Company or its subsidiaries. The Scheme
became effective on 23 September 2021 and, unless otherwise cancelled
or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that date. The Scheme
replaces the old share option scheme which was adopted on 8 October
2010 and amended on 17 August 2017.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently permitted
to be granted under the Scheme is an amount equivalent, upon their
exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Company in issue on the date
of approval of the Scheme by the shareholders at the annual general
meeting. The maximum number of shares issuable under share options
to each eligible participant in the Scheme within any 12-month period
is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time.
Any further grant of share option in excess of this limit is subject to
shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

The share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are subject
to approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors. In
addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their
subsidiaries, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at
any time or with an aggregate value (based on the price of the Company’s
shares at the date of the grant) in excess of HK$5,000,000, within any
12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a
general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days from
the date of the offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1
in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share options granted
would be determined by the directors.

R B B

RATRRE-—BBRESS (ZtE])) - #FU
BARAMSERSHEERHBRE - FRHR
SEFREEMZSBR REHK - 2B 2EE
RBEEBEAQAFAIEMBLAEMNES - &
E - SRBER /NEMH - ZFER-_ZE=_-F
NAZ+=ZBBER  RIFUHEMBXNEUERE
AzsEt8 BRIZFEAZB R TEARSR
MeoZABMAR_Z-—FFETANBRA (XL
REZ-—EHENATLRER) cEBRETE -

BB 2T BIRBGEER i R 1T 2 B IR
BITzESROBEHENBERETERAQF
REZFEERRBFASLERRMEEACH
TRB210% ° Zat BB EERSEERMEMI 2
BAMEREBERETERXT2ESROHE N
RABEABECETROZI%BMR - LE-F
RHBALREEBRE  XARRRASLE
BRERHALAE o

NEOARBDES  TBTRAELTERRAME
EZEMBBATREBRE  LASENES
MIEITESRUE - thHh - ARMEMI1218 A B
AERRBHEEAMBARN ZEERRIEB L
FUTESREEMBRE  MAERKFEEALR
NEAMEMEFECSEITRM 20.1%58E (REX
HEBARAB RN 2 EHRFE) EES5,000,000
BT BEBERBRRAELESRRAE -

RHBRECEZZITNERZZERNET28AR
B ARAAZINEH 1B Z2EZBARE-
FEBREZITENHESEE -
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Share Options Scheme (continued)

The exercise price of the share options would be determined by the
directors, but may not be less than the higher of (i) the Stock Exchange
closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of the offer of the
share options, which must be a business day; and (ii) the average Stock
Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of the offer, provided that the subscription
price shall not be lower than the nominal value of the shares.

The fair value of share options granted to any directors, employees and
other parties is recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding
increase in a share option reserve within equity. The fair value is
measured at grant date using the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing
model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the
options were granted.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at
shareholders’ meetings.

The closing prices (before and after Share Consolidation which took effect
on 8 January 2019) of the Shares immediately before the following dates
on which share options were granted are set out below:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RARME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-T-=%=A=+—HILFE
33.SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

33. LI ZRIA (&)

PR Rt B (48)
WREZTEEOESEE  ETHERN)S2
ARGRBREZERR AN (XAREEA)E

B P 2 T B 5 R (i) AR RAIRM N EEREHE
BEOMAEERS B EBRA PR TERE
TEReE ERBETSERROEE -

RPEMES  BERHMAL 2BREZAY
ERRA-EHEERL MEZAZELRES
HEEM - ZATEIHRREEHEHRBRE
ERHE 2HRARGEERAEHREREEERS

e o

BRESEAZRUERERERRAG LIRE -

TREIBRONBEBRENRT I BHREAT 2
BHER=FE-NF-BNBROEHMBEAN

22 September
2015
Z2-1%
AR=+ZH
HK$
B
Closing price immediately before SR H AMA 2 K 1E
the grant date 0.179
Closing price immediately before SR H AHA 2 K 1E
the grant date (after Share (R=2-n%—-ANAH
Consolidation on 8 January R aoE)
2019) 0.358
Closing price immediately before B3R H AHA 2 K 1E
the grant date (after Share (R=Z2--%-A=ttH
Consolidation on 27 January RGE %)
2022) 1.790

REER)
20 October 16 December 27 June 21 January
2016 2016 2017 2020
“B-R¥ —E-RF 2% - - 23
+A=+H +Z=A+XH ~A=++tH —-RA=+-H
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
B B B BT
0.280 0.280 0.205 0.101
0.560 0.560 0.410 0.101
2.800 2.800 2.050 0.505

The aggregate value of share options granted to each class of grantees on

21 January 2020 are as follows:

Class of Grantees AR AR
Directors =)
Employees ==
Others Hith
Total #at

RIEBZERE-AZ+-ARTEERARAZ
BREABENT :

HK$
BT
3,099,000

2,161,000
1,361,000

6,621,000
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-T-=F=-A=1+—-HI%%

Share Options Scheme (continued)

As at the issue date of the consolidated financial statements, the
Company had 40,980,000 share options outstanding under the Scheme,
representing approximately 5.44% of the outstanding Shares.

As approved during the 2021 annual general meeting held on 23
September 2021, the mandate limit of the Scheme was refreshed to
66,492,871 shares. Since no share option was granted thereafter,
the total number of shares available for issue under the Scheme was
66,492,871 as at 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2023, representing
8.83% of the shares in issue as at the issue date of the consolidated
financial statements.

Movement in share options during the year ended 31 March 2023 are as

PR Rt B (48)

REEHBRRBRAE  FAAARZGEET
540,980,000 MBI RATHE - 4 1 RATHE 2
BRAD #95.44% ©

ZAt B REREN S —FAA=-+=HH
TRRRBFRG LEAEFTHZE66,492,871K
RiD - ARERTERHERE R=T==

=ZB=+—BR=-ZB-_=F=ZA=+—HREBEZ
BT FRITZRDEEH66,492,8711 - #HE
REEEUBHRRERBPERITRN 28.83%

BE-ZT-_=F=-A=+-—HLEFEERESZS

follows: mr
Adjusted Adjusted
exercisable  exercisable
price per price per
share share
after Share  after Share
Consolidation Consolidation
Exercisable  Exercisable on 8 January on 27 January  Outstanding Lapsed  Outstanding
Category of Date of grant period price per 2019 2022 at 1 April  during the ot 31 March
Participants (Note (b)) (Note (a)) share (Note (c)) (Note (c)) 2022 year 2023
HK$ HK$ HK$
RIS-AE RZBZZE
-AN\B  -RZttH
Biratte BRpAHEZ
ERE #RE  R-B-C RZBZ=
BHAM s BRTER BRTER mA—-A =ZR=+-H
SRERH (b)) (KWe(a)) BRTTER (M&E(c) (W&E(c)) RETE FR%R RETE
#T T T
Directors and chief executives
EERTEAMAR
Mr. Zhang Xiaobin 21 January 2020 Period 5 0.11 N/A 0.55 5,800,000 - 5,800,000
REWEE “2-ZE-B-1-H Egn TER
Mr. Gao Feng 21 January 2020 Period 5 0.11 N/A 0.55 5,800,000 - 5,800,000
BkEE ZE-ZE-BC1-H E1H TEA
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung 21 January 2020 Period 5 0.11 N/A 0.55 5,800,000 - 5,800,000
BRBEE ZECEE-BC1-H FnH TER
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, 21 January 2020 Period 5 0.1 N/A 0.55 580,000 - 580,000
Raymond
gxaEE —2-ZE-B-1-H F1H TEA
Mr. Lam Williamson 21 January 2020 Period 5 0.11 N/A 0.55 580,000 - 580,000
HeEEE ZZ-ZF-f-1-B E5it TER
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen 21 January 2020 Period 5 0.11 N/A 0.55 580,000 - 580,000
BRELE ZECEE-BC1-H ERH TER
Dr. lam lee G. 21 January 2020 Period 5 0.11 N/A 0.55 580,000 - 580,000
HEEHL “Z-EE-B-1-B EXiLd TER
Sub-total 19,720,000 - 19,720,000
hit
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-T-=f=A=1+—HI%%

Share Options Scheme (continued) RERR MRt B (48)
Movement in share options during the year ended 31 March 2023 are as BE-_Z_=F=A=1+-HLGEBREEZH
follows: (continued) mTE (&)

Adjusted Adjusted
exercisable  exercisable
price per price per
share share

after Share  after Share
Consolidation Consolidation

Exercisable  Exercisable on 8 January on 27 January  Outstanding Lapsed  Outstanding
Category of Date of grant period price per 2019 2022 at 1 April  during the ot 31 March
Participants (Note (b)) (Note (a)) share (Note (c)) (Note (c)) 2022 year 2023
HK$ HK$ HK$
RIS-n%E RIBZZE
-ANE  —-AZ+tA
Efafie BRAGHES
EaE BHE RIBZZ RZ8Z=
EHAM T8 SRITER SRITER HA-A ZR=+-H
BHEFH (Wi(b)) (Wi(a) BROER (Mi(c) (Mi(c) R TE EREN AR TE
ko kb kb
Employee of the Group
E3 1 1L
In aggregate (Nofe (f] 21 January 2020 Period 5 0.11 N/A 0.55 13,000,000 (2,700,000) 10,300,000
a3t () ZRIEE-AC1-H EXil TER
S”b"fg 13,000,000 (2,700,0000 10,300,000
Others
it
Zhang Shao Yan (Nofe (d)) 21 January 2020 Period 5 0.1 N/A 0.55 5,800,000 - 5,800,000
K= (W) ZBRIRE-AC1-H Ei FER
Wang Xiao (Note (d)] 21 January 2020 Period 5 0.1 N/A 0.55 4,000,000 - 4,000,000
IRl ZBIRE-AC1-H Ei FER
Xu Ying (Note (e]) 21 January 2020 Period 5 0.1 N/A 0.55 580,000 - 580,000
BE(Wi2fe)) ZBIRE-AC1-H E FER
Sun Qiang (Nofe fe]) 27 June 2017 Period 4 0.21 0.42 2.10 4,892,000 (4,892,000) -
BB (Hife)) “E-LERAZTLR EmH
21 January 2020 Period 5 0.1 N/A 0.55 580,000 - 580,000
ZBIRE-AC1-H E FER
Sub-tjotgrl 15,852,000 (4,892,000 10,960,000
Tolal 48,572,000  (7,592,000) 40,980,000
ait
Weighted average exercise price (in HK) 0.7061 1.5488 0.5500
mEFEYTER (BT
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-T-=F=-A=1+—-HI%%

Share Options Scheme (continued) RERR MRt E (4E)
Movement in share options during the year ended 31 March 2022 are as BE—_ZE-__—_F=-A=+—HULEFEEEREZE
follows: mE :
Adjusted Adjusted
exercisable exercisable
price per share price per share Adjusted
atter Share atter Share after Share
Consolidation  Consolidation Consolidation
Exercisable Exercisable  on 8 January on 27 Janvary  Outstanding Lapsed on  Outstanding
Category of Date of grant period price per 2019 2022 at 1 April during the 27 Janvary ot 31 March
Participants (Note (b)) (Note (a)) shurse (Note (c]s) (Note (c)s) 2022 year 2022 2022
HK HK HK

RZB-1%  RIBIZE
—-ANBERR -AZ+EEER

Attt ERE  AfHZERR R-BZ-% RZEZZ o e
BHAH s SRTER SRITER BA-A -AZ+tA ZA=+-A
SHERN (H&(b)) (Ki() BRTER (Bi(c) (Bi(c) RFTE EREH  BRAKHAE RAFTHE
& ET ET
Directors and chief executive
EERIETRAR
Mr. Zhang Xiaobin 16 December 2016 Period 3 0.285 0.57 N/A 22,500,000 22,500,000) - -
FRILE “E-RETZATAA £=H TER
21 Jonuary 2020 Period 5 0.1 N/A 0.55 29,000,000 = (23,200,000] 5,800,000
“ECEE-AT-H ERH TER
51,500,000 22,500,000) (23,200,000] 5,800,000
Mr. Goo Feng 16 December 2016 Period 3 0.285 057 N/A 22,500,000 22,500,000) - -
BlELE ZE-RE+ZATRRA F=H TER
21 January 2020 Period 5 0.1 N/A 0.55 29,000,000 - (23,200,000] 5,800,000
ZECEF-fAC1-A ERH TER
51,500,000 22,500,000) (23,200,000] 5,800,000
Mr. Chiv Sui Keung 16 December 2016 Period 3 0.285 057 N/A 22,500,000 22,500,000) - -
HRREE ZE-RETZATRRA £=H TER
21 January 2020 Period 5 0.1 N/A 0.55 29,000,000 - (23,200,000] 5,800,000
ZECEF-fAC1-R ERH TER
51,500,000 22,500,000) (23,200,000] 5,800,000
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, 16 December 2016 Period 3 0.285 0.57 N/A 1,000,000 (1,000,000) - -
Raymond
gxats ZE-RETZATRA £=5 TEA
21 January 2020 Period 5 0.1 N/A 0.55 2,900,000 - (2,320,000) 580,000
ZEZEE-A1-H EH TER
3,900,000 (1,000,000) (2,320,000) 580,000
Mr. Lam Williamson 16 December 2016 Period 3 0.285 057 N/A 1,000,000 (1,000,000) - -
Y ZE-RETZATRA £=8 TER
21 January 2020 Period 5 0.1 N/A 0.55 2,900,000 - (2,320,000) 580,000
“EZZE-A1-H R TEA
3,900,000 (1,000,000) (2,320,000) 580,000

ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED % 4 & # A B A ® - Annual Report 2023 4 #




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RARME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-T-=%=A=+—HILFE

33.SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 33. LIt zRIA (&)
Share Options Scheme (continued) RERR MRt B (48)
Movement in share options during the year ended 31 March 2022 are as BE_Z-__F=A=1+-HALGEBREEZH
follows: (continued) mT ()
Adjusted Adjusted
exercisable exercisable
price per share price per share Adjusted
atter Share atter Share after Share
Consolidation  Consolidation Consolidation
Exercisable Exercisable  on 8 January on 27 Janvary  Outstanding Lapsed on  Outstanding
Category of Date of grant period price per 2019 2022 at 1 April during the 27 Janvary  at 31 March
Participants (Note (b)) (Note (a)) sharg (Note (c}s) (Note (c)s) 2022 year 2022 2022
HK HK HK

RZB-1%  ROBZZE
-ANBER -AZ+EREA

AfttcERE  AfHZERR RZBZ-% R-BZZE RZBZZ%
HEHAM T SRITER BRITER HmA-A -AZt+tA ZA=+-A
SHEEN (Wi(b)) (Wi(a)) GRTER (W) (Wi(c) RETHE EREH BRAHuAR RATHE
& ET ET
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen 16 December 2016 Period 3 0.285 0.57 N/A 1,000,000 (1,000,000) S S
ENELE ZE-REtZATRRA 3 TER
21 Janvary 2020 Period 5 0.11 N/A 0.55 2,900,000 - 2,320,000) 580,000
ZECEE-ACt-R F18 TER
3,900,000 (1,000,000) 2,320,000) 580,000
Dr. Lam lee G. 20 Ocfober 2016 Period 2 0.3 0.6 N/A 1,181,000 (1,181,000) - -
HEREL ZE-RETAZTH £-8 TEA
16 December 2016 Period 3 0.285 057 N/A 1,000,000 (1,000,000) - =
ZE-RETZATRA B8 TEA
1 January 2020 Period 5 0.11 N/A 0.55 2,900,000 - 2,320,000 580,000
ZECEF-fAC1-R i FER
5,081,000 2,181,000) (2,320,000) 580,000
Sub-otal 171,281,000 72,681,000) 78,880,000) 19,720,000
)
Employee of the Group
3%0RR
In aggregate 16 December 2016 Period 3 0.285 0.57 N/A 5,516,000 (5,516,000) - -
Eh| ZE-RETZATRRA £=8 TER
21 Janvary 2020 Period 5 0.11 N/A 0.55 66,000,000 (1,000,000) 52,000,000 13,000,000
ZECERE-fC1-A £0H TER
Note (f)
(HE)

Subotal 71,516,000 6,516,000) 52,000,000 13,000,000
/J\ﬁ-
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Share Options Scheme (continued) RERR MRt B (4E)
Movement in share options during the year ended 31 March 2022 are as BE-Z__F=A=1+-HULFEBREEZH
follows: (continued) mT ()
Adjusted Adjusted
exercisable exercisable
price per share price per share Adjusted
atter Share atter Share after Share
Consolidation ~ Consolidation Consolidation
Exercisable Exercisable  on 8 January on 27 Janvary  Outstanding Lapsed on  Outstanding
Category of Date of grant period price per 2019 2022 at 1 April during the 27 Janvary  at 31 March
Participants (Note (b)) (Note (a)) sharg (Note (c]s) (Note (c)s) 2022 year 2022 2022
HK HK HK

RZB-1%  ROBZZE
-ANBER -AZt+ERER

AfRCENEE  AfECEEER RIBZ-% RZBZZ% RIBZZE
BHAM fTEs BRITER BRITER mR-A -BZ+tH =H=hSE
SHEEN (W& (b)) (& (a)) BRITER (WE(c)) (Hi(c)) AT FhEN  RbAkuRE AR
2T kb ®r
Others
Rt
Zh{ong Shg}()) Yan 21 January 2020 Period 5 0.1 N/A 0.55 29,000,000 - (23,200,000) 5,800,000
Note |
REE () ZECEE-BI1-H EFiY TER
Wang Xiao (Nofe (d)) 21 January 2020 Period 5 0.0 N/A 0.55 20,000,000 - (16,000,000) 4,000,000
T8 HE) ZECEE-BI1-H £18 TER
Zheng Xue Feng 21 January 2020 Period 5 0.1 N/A 0.55 2,000,000 2,000,000) - -
[Note [g])
BER () ZECEE-AI1-H R TER
Xu Ying (Note [g]) 16 December 2016 Period 3 0.285 0.57 N/A 22,500,000 22,500,000) - -
BE (i) ZE-RETZATRA EE TER
21 January 2020 Period 5 0.1 N/A 0.55 2,900,000 - (2,320,000) 580,000
ZECEE-B1-H £18 @R
Sun Qiang (Note [g]) 27 June 2017 Period 4 021 0.42 210 24,460,000 - (19,568,000] 4,892,000
B8 (Witfe)) ZE-tERACTER e
21 January 2020 Period 5 0N N/A 0.55 2,900,000 - (2,320,000) 580,000
ZECEE-B1-H £18 TER
Sub-tjotf! 103,760,000 24,500,000) (63,408,000) 15,852,000
ngfl 346,557,000 (103,697,000 (194,288,000) 48,572,000
Weighted average exercise price (in HKS) 0.2660 0.557 0.7061

mEFHHERE(ET)
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Share Options Scheme (continued)
Notes:

(a)

(b)

Period 1 22 September 2015 to 21 September 2020

Period 2 20 October 2016 to 19 October 2021

Period 3 16 December 2016 to 15 December 2021

Period 4 27 June 2017 to 26 June 2022

Period 5 21 January 2020 to 20 January 2025

The vesting date of the share options for Period 1 to 4 is the date of
grant. The vesting dates of the share options for Period 5 are as follows:

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

()

(6)

(7)

(8)

12.5% of the Share Options shall be vested on 31 March 2020 and
exercisable from 31 March 2020 to 20 January 2025, both dates
inclusive;

12.5% of the Share Options shall be vested on 30 June 2020 and
exercisable from 30 June 2020 to 20 January 2025, both dates
inclusive;

12.5% of the Share Options shall be vested on 30 September 2020
and exercisable from 30 September 2020 to 20 January 2025,
both dates inclusive;

12.5% of the Share Options shall be vested on 31 December 2020
and exercisable from 31 December 2020 to 20 January 2025, both
dates inclusive;

12.5% of the Share Options shall be vested on 31 March 2021 and
exercisable from 31 March 2021 to 20 January 2025, both dates
inclusive;

12.5% of the Share Options shall be vested on 30 June 2021 and
exercisable from 30 June 2021 to 20 January 2025, both dates
inclusive;

12.5% of the Share Options shall be vested on 30 September 2021
and exercisable from 30 September 2021 to 20 January 2025,
both dates inclusive; and

12.5% of the Share Options shall be vested on 31 December 2021
and exercisable from 31 December 2021 to 20 January 2025, both
dates inclusive.

the Consolidated Financial Statements

Ril B 4 B B (48)
UEE

(a)

(b)

-8 —T— ﬁ@ﬁ;ﬁ_‘f—ﬁz
—E_EFAA=1+—H
B —ZZT-RE+A=+HZE
—E—-+A+NHB
¥=H —FT-—XF+=-A+X<BZE
—7——$+ B+HH
EMH —ZET—tFXA=-+tRAZE
:;::E%\ﬂ_‘f’/‘_\ﬁ
¥HH —FT-EF—-HF-+-—-HZ
—E-HRF-R=t1H

E-HEENHBRECEBRHNAREA
H-FRHMBRECFEAHRNT :

(1) BREZI25% SR =-_ZE_ZTF=H
=t+-BRRB YAH-T-_FTE=4
=t+—HE=Z-HF-A=1+H (8F
BEMA) T

(2) BREZI2S5% R -_ZE_ZF~A
=t+HRB WABZZE-_ZTHFXA=1+
HE-Z_HF—A-+H (BEEEM
B)471E

B) BREZ125%EA=E=-2FHA
=+ HES iTE_7_ FRA=+
AE-_Z_HF—A-TH(BEEEW
BT

(4) BREZ125%ENR-ZF=-2F+=8
ZSt+-HREBE YAHE-ZE-FE+=
A=+—-HEZZ-HF¥-A=+R(&
FEERMA) TR

(5) BREZI25%BR_B-—&=4
=+-ERE YTE-B-—-%5=7
=+-AZ-F-HF-A=10 (B
BERWE)TE

(6) BREZI25% R - =_—F~A
=+HBRE YABR-ZFE=-—FX<A=t+
HE-Z-_HF—-A-+H (BEEEM
)17

(7)) BREZI125%8R=_F=—%1A
=+HRB YAB=-T=—-FAA=+
AE-_Z-_HF—A-TH(BEEEW
AT R

(8) BREZI25%R=-B=—F+=8
=+-HREB TAUBEB=ZZE=—F+=
B=+-BE=-B-H55-A=+0 (&
EERWA)TE-
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33.SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 33. LI ZfHic RIA (48)

Share Options Scheme (continued) RIS B i &t & (48)

Notes: (continued) Mtat o (4)

(c) The exercise price after Share Consolidations of the outstanding share () REZB-=F=A=+—HEXRTHEEREZ
options as at 31 March 2023 is HK$0.55 (2022: HK$0.55 to HK$2.1) BHEHETEEASROSSET (ZE==
per share and their weighted average remaining contractual life as at 31 F:055BnE2.18%) REBEZ=ZF=H
March 2023 is 1.81 years (2022: 2.55 years). ST-HZMEFPHRBRENFRRI8IF

S - 55

(d) The rationale of grant was to provide incentive and award for services (d) BREEHAMRESHERBRERERTERME

rendered as a consultant in relation to merger and acquisition and Z BB R4 T RE R ER o

business development.

(e) The rationale of grant was to provide incentive and award for services (e) RHEEHAMEBRERAMERBZEBRES
rendered as a consultant in relation to business development. FHREBREELR -
(i~ The share options lapsed due to the resignation of employees. () ZEBRERESBEBMAN -
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Share Options Scheme (continued)

The variables and assumptions used in computing the fair value of share

options are based on the directors

" best estimate. The value of an option

varies with different variables of certain subjective assumptions. The fair

value of the share options granted

during the year ended 31 March 2020

were determined by an independent valuer, APAC Asset Valuation and

Consulting Limited, using the Binomial option pricing model (the “Model”).

Details of the inputs to the Model are as follows:

22 September 20 October
2015 2016
—E-a% —E-RE
ABZ=+ZH +A=+H
Grant date share price BEHBEBRGER HK$0.168% 7t HK$0.378 T
Grant date share price BB ERGER
(after Share Consolidation (R=Z—h&E—
on 8 February 2019) ANBRGE B
%) HK$0.3367% 7T HK$0.678 T
Grant date share price Rt ARG ER
(after Share Consolidation (R=ZZB=Z&H—
on 27 January 2022) A-t+tBR#HE
Bt&) HK$1.68% T HK$3.058 T
Exercise price THEE HK$0.17#& 7t HK$0.3%&
Exercise price (after Share {TEE (R=Z—H
Consolidation on 8 F-ANBRHE
January 2019) BHig) HK$0.340% 7t HK$0.65& T
Exercise price (after Share {TEE(R=EE==
Consolidation on 27 F-A=-t+tAHR
January 2022) BEBHE) N/ATER N/AREF
Expected volatility FE B iR 72% 53%
Expected life of the options &% A% 278 5t & 1 5 yearsf 5 years®
Dividend yield Wy % % 0% 0%
Risk-free interest rate B E R FE 0.97% 0.64%

During the years ended 31 Marc

h 2023 and 2022, the Company did

not grant any share options to directors, employees or other partners. The

remaining life of the Share Option

During the year ended 31 March

Scheme is 8 years and 6 months.

2023, no expenses was recognised in

relation to the scheme (2022: approximately HK$696,000).

PR Rt B (48)
SHZEBREATECRERBROENES
Z R BREZEEEES T ETBERZ
TRBTAERTRE « REFEMRH 2 BRE
ZAFEDIEBIGEMEAEETERBME
RARDEA-EXPREEMES (ZEX]) #E

E o BERAZBMAEFENT

16 December
2016
—E-RE
+=RA+7*xAH

HK$0.285% 7t

HK$0.573& 7t

HK$2.85% 7t
HK$0.28558 7T

HK$0.57 %t

N/ATER
53%

5 yearsf
0%

1.56%

27 June
2017
—Z—tF
~NB=+tH

HK$0.192& ¢

HK$0.3843& 1t

HK$1.92:8
HK$0.2138

HK$0.4203& 7t

HK$2.158 7
43%

5 yearsf
0%

1.09%

21 January
2020
- - -3
—A=+-8

HK$0.107# 7t

HK$0.107& 7t

HK$0.535% 7t
HK$0.11058 7T

HK$0.110% 7t

HK$0.55%
40%

5 yearsf
0%

1.49%

REBE-ZE-_=FR-_ZF-_-F=A=+—HL
FE AQATLEDES  EEFHMOBHERE
BRE BRESEZRGEHARSFLMEA -

REBE-Z-=F=-A=1+—-RLFE AERE
REBZTIZ2XH (T2 ZF 1 696,000

BIT) °
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Share Award Scheme

The Board has adopted a share award scheme (the “Old Share Award
Scheme”) since 11 February 2011, pursuant to which 5,050,000 shares
had been purchased by a trustee from the market at the cost of the
Company and were held in trust until they were granted and awarded to a
selected participant. No awarded share was granted to any persons since
the commencement of the Old Share Award Scheme.

On 27 June 2017 (the “Adoption Date”), the Board resolved to terminate
the Old Share Award Scheme with immediate effect. Such termination
shall not affect the share awarded by the Board under the Old Share
Award Scheme. On the same day, the Board has conditionally resolved to
adopt the new share award scheme (the “New Share Award Scheme”).

The purposes and obijectives of the New Share Award Scheme are to
recognise the contributions by certain employees and persons to the
Group and to provide them with incentives in order to retain them for the
continual operation and development of the Group and to attract suitable
personnel for further development of the Group. Subject to any early
termination as may be determined by the Board in accordance with the
scheme rules, the New Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective
for 10 years from the Adoption Date.

The Board may select any individual or corporate entity being a director
(including executive and non-executive director), employee, officer, agent,
advisor, consultant or business partner of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries and other persons who/which in the opinion of the Board has
contributed or will contribute to the growth and development of the Group
(the “Eligible Participant”) for participation in the New Share Award
Scheme and determine the number of the awarded shares to be awarded
to the selected participants (the “Selected Participants”).

The Board shall offer the awarded shares (“Awarded Shares”) to the
Selected Participant(s) by any of the following ways as the Board deems

fit:

(a) subject to (i) the passing of an ordinary resolution by the
Shareholders in general meeting approving the Scheme Mandate
and the transactions contemplated thereunder; and (i) the Listing
Committee granting approval of the listing of, and permission to deal
in, any new shares as Awarded Shares, pay such sum to the Trustee
for the purpose of subscribing for the new Shares to be allotted and
issued to the Trustee for the benefit of the Selected Participant(s) or
allot and issue the new Shares as Awarded Shares to the Selected
Participant(s) directly; and/or

(b) pay the reference amount to the Trustee (or as it shall direct) and
direct the Trustee to purchase old Awarded Shares. The Board is
entitled to impose any conditions as it deems appropriate with
respect to the entitlement of the Selected Participant to the Awarded
Shares.

B {73 5% Wb &t &Y

EEEA-ZT - —F-At+ - ARRARGRD
SEERGRBHE) Bl FEALED
£ 885,050,000 R WABEERXBEEE
HRHURBFEER>280E - AERORE
BB LR EEEAA T RERBR -

REZ-—EFRXA-TER(HABH])  ES
ERRARLEERORBS  BDEER - AEK
LT EEEECREERORBTERE 2
R0 - BB - EESHRMZREAHIRD @
&I (TH R EREETED -

HFRORBFASHCENREEARTAEEET
BERATZERYATRE BRBBRSE
BRAAEBCHELERREN D URABXE
BeE-—SBRRERSIGEAT - BRIFBFEERE
B SRAREANL L BRNRORBITEEAH
BB BRI ERFIOFERFY -

EXeUREBEENSNBALAES (BEHT
RFHTES) EE - FTEAE RE - EH
A BRREBBH2EAALIER  HEM
MEARAREZERAHAEEERIBREE
BEEEEMEM2EMAL ((GEKSHEHE])
SEFRORBTE  YUTEEEAZREZS
HBE(LKImESEE ) RHEZBROHUE -

ESEURUTERAGEZEAAR  Ag?
ESEERHERBRD (EBRHG)) :

(o) F()BRRRBRRAS LEBREEREZ
LERBEURHEETRET2RXS ) K(i)
L ESEHEEAERRBRD ZHRD
LtTREER  AKWMESEECNEIE
ERERBITTZEAZHRG - XLHLE
NEZEAZINEENE  REEOETR
SHEERTHRDEREBRD KR

b) BEEA(FEAEER)XGSERE XL
ErRSTABEERRBRY  -EFSERE
HRRBERRERESHERNRBRG
it =78 2 8 R e A0 AE TR 4 o
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Share Award Scheme (continued)

Pursuant to the scheme rules, the total number of Shares, whether they are
new shares or old shares purchased on-market by the Trustee, underlying
all grants made pursuant to the New Share Award Scheme shall not
exceed 10% of the total number of issued shares as at the Adoption Date.
Such scheme limit may however be refreshed from time to time subject
to the certain conditions set out in the New Share Award Scheme. The
Company shall not make any further grant of Awarded Share(s) which
would result in the total number of the Awarded Shares together with the
shares which may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all outstanding
share options granted but yet to be exercised under the other share option
or award scheme(s) of the Company representing an aggregate over thirty
per cent (30%) of the Share in issue as at the date of such grant.

Unless otherwise approved by the shareholders and subject to the
adjustment in the event of consolidation or subdivision of shares, the
maximum number of Shares which may be awarded to a Selected
Participant under the New Share Award Scheme in any 12-month period
shall not exceed 1 per cent (1%) of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the Adoption Date or the date of refreshment of the scheme
limit (as the case may be), excluding all the shares awarded under the
New Share Awarded Scheme up to the Adoption Date or the latest date of
refreshment.

Any Awarded Shares and the related income thereof held by the Trustee
and which are referable to a Selected Participant shall vest in that
Selected Participant in accordance with the timetable and conditions as
imposed by the Board at its absolute discretion, provided that the Selected
Participant remains at all times after the approved by the Board and on the
relevant vesting date an Eligible Participant of the Group.

If the Board selects a director as the Selected Participant, the grant of the
Awarded Shares to the director may constitute a connected transaction
of the Company. However, since the grant of awarded shares to director
forms part of the remuneration of the relevant director under his/her
service contract, such grant of awarded shares is exempted from all
the reporting, announcement and independent Shareholder’s approval
requirement under Rule 14A.31(6) of the Listing Rules.

For the Awarded Shares to the Selected Participants who are connected
persons (excluding directors), the Company will comply with the relevant
provisions of the Listing Rules in relation to the reporting, announcement
and independent shareholders’ approval requirements. However, any
grant to any director or senior management of the Company must first be
approved by the Remuneration Committee.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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B 17 88 Wb &1 &Y (48)

RIBFTERR - BEREHRMDEZB T BEL 24
ARBEBZROBLBE(THRBHROIZFEA
EmSEBACERD) FTEEBREMABHE
BRITROBEZ10% - AT - LMEHE ERATE
TEMRORBEBAEE TREZBRT T
EH o MESEHRBROLH ERREALE
HtigRERRBFACREEESTEZER
EARITEBRERETESTFRERETZR
M EREREERERTROBEBES Z=T
(30%) » AABTHE-—SRUEMERBKRS -

BROFERR S ITHEAE - TRIBMEM 1218 A HR -
RIBFROD BB ETE - SRLWESHEEBN
2RO EREE - REHEBREKMNBBHEHR
BLRER(BERME) ARAEHTREAZE
DZ—(1%) (FTEEEERMANRBEREN
ERLREFRORBIFEEHR 22HBRMD)
BEIR R AT R IR IR A S GRS 1 B T LA -

EXAMBELAENEZLMESEE 2 AR
BROREEBERA  BRESS2EHERMD
ZHEBRRGHEBTRIESEE  HLME
SHEEANESSFHAERETRERNEE
BEANR-—ERFEECEERDERE -

HEESTEL - EESHFAKMESHEE  °
ZEESRURBROTEBHALDE —HEE
X5 AWM BRREEEESZRBESH @
ESRHRBROBREBEES2HIMES W
FRRHRBRD - SETERRET L HRAUSE
TAABT(ORBT 2 FIBERKR  RERBIRR
HERE -

fHENSNBEEA T 2RMESEE (TEE
EX)RTRBRG A28 ETFLHRAUE
BRI AERBYRRAERE 2 HEMHR -
AW ARRAEFNESRASREBASFLE
ARTA DRERHFHNEESSHE -
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Notes to

Share Award Scheme (continued)

The New Share Award Scheme shall terminate on the earlier of (i) the date
falling on the 10th anniversary date of the Adoption Date and (ii) such
date of early termination as determined by the Board provided that such
termination shall not materially and adversely affect any subsisting rights
of any Selected Participant thereunder.

The Share Award Scheme Mandate Limit of 66,492,871 shares (after the
Share Consolidation) has been refreshed and approved by shareholders
during the annual general meeting on 23 September 2021.

On 8 April 2021, 5,050,000 Awarded Shares (before the Share
Consolidation), which were held by the trustee, was granted and
transferred to Mr. Zhang Shaoyan, the Chief Investment Officer of the
Group; on the same date, the Group granted and issued new Awarded
Shares of 83,000,000 shares (before the Share Consolidation) to eight
employees of a subsidiary. On 28 January 2022, the Group also granted
and issued new Awarded Shares of 13,600,000 shares (after Share
Consolidation) to seven selected participants, 8,400,000 shares of which
were unvested as at 31 March 2022. All shares were vested as at 31
March 2023.

There was no purchase of shares by the trustee under the New Share
Award Scheme during the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil). As at
31 March 2023 and 2022, no shares were held by any trustee under the
New Share Award Scheme.

The Group recognised total expenses for the vesting of issued Awarded
Shares of approximately HK$697,000 (2022: HK$11,988,000) during
the year ended 31 March 2023 in relation to New Share Award Scheme.

The total number of share awards available for grant under the New Share
Award Scheme was 52,892,871 as at 31 March 2022 and 31 March
2023.

The remaining life of the New Share Award Scheme as at 31 March 2023
is 4 years and 3 months.
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B% 17 58 Wh &1 &) (48%)
HRDEBEAEMR()FAIRARTBF2AR
(i|EEe }kiﬁiﬁi(ﬁﬁﬁ%*ﬁ_%ﬁﬂi?é%
FARMESREREF 2 EAFERNEEX
THRHE) BB (UREERE)KIE -

IR A7 2R =t IR AEPRRE66,492,87 1 IR IR 17 (R
BNEHBRIER=Z=—FAA=-+=ZHZKRRE
BFERELERRMERESN -

RZZE--FSNANE USTEAFEZRH
AAEEERFREAER \nEffE*iﬁ&ﬁg
#5,050,000 @R 7 (RBR 7B E A1) © R
AR AEEANEHNELRESRHRET
83,000,0008% %7 2 B AR 0 (MR 10 & BFAT) ° B
_i__ﬂi AZ+NB  AEETELELH
E2HEER LK #{T13,600,0008 3 32 & AR 17
(BRI EHHE) - HH8,400,000RKRHR=F
TZEZRB=t-HHKREBB - FEROR=-F
“=ZHZRA=t—BYEHE-

REZ-_Z_=F=A=+—-HLFE ZFA
WEREFTRGRBHEBETARG (===
F ) RNZT-=FR-ZT--_F=A=+-—
B SRALEREFROLBTEZTERG -

TEBREZE T=ZFZA=t+-HLEE
HEEC BT ﬁ@ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁwﬁéﬁﬁﬂxﬁﬁﬁh
Pl 28X HY697,0008 T (=B ==
11,988,000 T) °

RZZE-_—F=A=+—-HAR=-ZFE=-=%=A8
=+ -BRBFRAEBABTERE 2R HE
BB e A52,892,8711K o

HFRORBFAINR-_ZF-_=F=ZA=+—-H2H
EREHRAEIM@A -
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Share Award Scheme (continued) B% {7 5% Wh &+ B (#8%)
Movements in the share awards granted during the year ended 31 March BE—E-—=ER-E-_—HF=A=+—HILH&F
2023 and 2022 are as follows: EERHZRORBESBAOT !
Number of share awards granted
ERHERARDBE
Fair valve Outstanding ' Outstanding
Name of Participants Date of grant per share as at 1 April 2022 Vested during the year  as at 31 March 2023
RZSZZFMA-A RIBZ=F=A=+-H
E1E LhiE] Sﬂﬁ’.&zﬁg AF{THE EMEE AFATE
HK
A
Connected persons (Note 1/
MEAL (H1)
Mr. Zhy Qian 28 January 2022 0.145 4,350,000 4,350,000) -
REZEE ZBIZE-AZTNR
Mr. Zhang Shaoyan 28 Jonuary 2022 0.145 4,050,000 (4,050,000) -
RAEEE ZEI2E-BCtA
Total: 8,400,000 (8,400,000) -
&t
Number of share awards granted
ERHRAERYE
Granted Awards vested Granted Award vested
during year  during year  during year  during year
(before share  (before share  (after share  (after share
consolidation  consolidation  consolidation  consolidation
Outstanding on 27 on 27 on 27 on 27 Outstanding
Fair value  as at 1 April February February February February Lapsed during as at 31
Name of Participants Date of grant per share 2021 2022) 2022) 2022) 2022) the year  March 2022
FREE ERBEZRR FREE ERBEZRR
BZ8Z-% (RZBZZ§  (RIBZZE (B2BZZE (B28Z2ZE RZ82Z%
mA-B  -RA=+tR -RZ+tR -AZttR -AZ+tR ZAZ1-A
EL L1 LR ﬁﬂﬁﬂﬁg ARTE  ROSHN) Rip&ttan) Ripat) Ripati) FRXY AR
i
Connected persons (Nofe 1 & 2
REAL (HE182)
Mr. Zhy Qian 28 January 2022 0.145 - - - 5,800,000 (1,450,000) - 4,350,000
KEZEE ZBIZE-ACTNR
Mr. Zhang Shaoyan 28 Janvary 2022 0.145 - - - 5,400,000 1,350,000) - 4,050,000
RAERE ZBIZE-ACTNR
8 April 2021 0.069 - 5050000 (5,050,000 ¢ Y . .
Z2Z-£@ANA
Mr. Jing Bingkun 28 January 2022 0.145 - - - 600,000 (600,000) - -
by ZBIZE-AZTNR
Mr. Chow Chi Fai 28 January 2022 0.145 - - - 600,000 (600,000) - -
BFRLE ZBIZE-AZTNR
Ms. Lou Yat Ning 28 January 2022 0.145 - - - 600,000 (600,000) - -
8211 ZBIIE-ACTNR
- 5,050,000 (5,050,000) 13,000,000 (4,600,000) - 8,400,000
Employees 28 January 2022 0.145 - - - 600,000 (600,000 - -
R ZRIZE-FITNR
[Note 2) (ffi£2)
8 April 2021 0.069 - 83,000,000 (83,000,000) - - - -
ZZZ-EMANA
[Note 3) (Hii£3)
- 83,000,000 (83,000,000 600,000 (600,000 - -
Tofal: - 88,050,000 (88,050,000 13,600,000 (5,200,000) - 8,400,000 ]

it
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Share Award Scheme (continued)
Notes:

1.

For Awarded Shares granted on 28 January 2022, the connected
Awarded Shares of Mr. Zhu Qian and Mr. Zhang Shaoyan were vested in
four tranches as follows:

(a)  25% of the connected Awarded Shares will be vested on the date of
grant;

(b) 25% of the connected Awarded Shares will be vested on the 90th
day after the date of grant;

(c) 25% of the connected Awarded Shares will be vested on the 180th
day after the date of grant;

(d)  25% of the connected Awarded Shares will be vested on the 270th
day after the date of grant.

For Awarded Shares granted on 28 January 2022, the connected
Awarded Shares to Mr. Jing Bingkun, Mr. Chow Chi Fai and Ms. Lau Yat
Ning and the other Awarded Shares to the employees were vested on the
date of grant.

For Awarded Shares granted on 8 April 2021, the vesting periods were
in four tranches as follows: (i) 25% of the existing Awarded Shares were
vested and could be disposed of from 30 June 2021; (ii) 25% of the
existing Awarded Shares were vested and could be disposed of from 30
September 2021; (iii) 25% of the existing Awarded Shares were vested
and could be disposed of from 31 December 2021; and (iv) 25% of the
existing Awarded Shares were vested and could be disposed of from 31

March 2022.

B fn e Mh &t B (48)
Byt -

Il

BRRZZBZZF-A-+tNARBZEBRG
Ms  REZLERRBETEMER ZERE
REBROSCEMAEE  BR8WOT :

() 25%BIEZMERGHENELBBRE

(b) 25%EAERERM SRR L BHEKE
REE

(c) 25%BIERBMBRMDENFLBHIEE180
HER ;

(d) 25%EAEEREBKADENEL BHERE270
HEmE -

BRRZZBZZF-A-HNEARBZEBRG
ms RFSEHELE BEELERE —F
LT BERBRORKRTFREREZHMWEBR
NERREEBEE -

BR-ZE-—FHANAREZEBR MM
CHAWERKEE BB ¢ (i) 25%R
ERBBRHCFEBYTBE-_ZT=—F~A
=+ HRBHE (i) 25%BERBRHAETH
BYTBE-_Z=_—FAA=+HEHE: (i
5% B EREBBRHNETFTEEALATIE ST _—F
+TZA=1t—-HBHE: K(iv) 25%REERH
ROEFHEBITE-—ZE==F=A=+—H
BHE -

Jil'3
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34.DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

Multi Century Technology Development Limited

and its subsidiaries

As referred to in Note 15, on 30 July 2021, the Group discontinued its
unconventional gas business at the time of disposal of its subsidiaries,
Multi Century Technology Development Limited and its subsidiaries.
The net assets of Multi Century Technology Development Limited and its

subsidiaries at the date of disposal were as follows:

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost:

4. HEMB LT
AIRHEERARLAFARAEMELR

MAMEEISHM - R=F-Z—FLtA=1tH &
EEHEANBARRALRRBERARAA (R
HMBARE)  UYRKIUEBRREFERRAR
¥ AR BRARLARAME QAR
EAHZEEFENT ¢

CAEHBECEERBEIN

HK$'000
FET
Cash and cash equivalent ReRkBELEMEER 67
Accrued liabilities and other payables ZtBBEREMENRIE (4)
Net assets disposed of FFHEEREFE 63
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: HEMB AR 2 :
HK$'000
FHET
Consideration received 2 WRE 120
Net assets disposed of FEEEEFE (63)
Reclassification of cumulative translation reserve upon B MERBERHEREN I EEER
disposal of profit or loss 1,014
Gain on disposal HE WS 1,071
Net cash inflow/(outflow) arising on disposal: HEBEEZBESRA GRE) F5H
HK$'000
FHET
Cash consideration RERE 120
Less: bank balance and cash disposed of W THEZRITESRRRS (67)
D3]

The impact of Multi Century Technology Development Limited and its
subsidiaries on the Group's results and cash flows in the current and prior

periods is disclosed in Note 15.

ALBRERERIAREMNBEARANRABBR
BEMEEAEEXERRERNB ZHENKE
15 E -
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35.

36.

CHANGE IN OWNERSHIP INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES

On 31 October 2021, the Group entered into an equity transfer
agreement (the “Agreement”) with Mr. Chan Tim Hung and Mr. Chen
Yu Lung to acquire 49% of equity interest in Amber Century Limited and
its subsidiary at consideration of US$159 and US$331 (equivalent to
approximately HK$1,000 and HK$3,000).

The fransaction contemplated under the Agreement constituted a change in
existing ownership interests in Amber Century Limited and its subsidiary.
On 31 October 2021, the transfer of shares has been completed and the
equity interest of Amber Century Limited and its subsidiary held by the
Group has been increased from 51% to 100%.

The change in ownership interest in Amber Century Limited and its
subsidiary as a result of the transfer of equity interests has been accounted
for as equity transactions. The Group had transferred out of approximately
HK$910,000 from non-controlling interests during the year. The
proportionate share of accumulated exchange reserve of approximately
HK$13,000 are re-attributed to exchange reserve. The resulting loss of
approximately HK$927,000 has been debited to other reserve.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Authorised and contracted for capital contributions

payable to subsidiaries

35.MBAT RS

REZZBZ-—F+A=1t—H AEEERFHESL
ERREELED B LREE R Z (X
&) MWBRRELAERLR (REKEQR)
49%MR1E - RS RED B H159% T RI31ETT
(FHERH1,0005 T % 3,000/ 7T) °

ZHFATRETZRZBRASNROYLLE
RAB (REWBRAR) 2RBERAE -R=F
Z—ftA=1t—R BEEROETREZE M
REFEFRFZRPUELERIB (REKEQR)
REEHS51%IEE100% °

AREEZEmMSI B2 RALLERLT (REK
BAR)BEEREZHCARAREARS - A&H
SRFERNBEFERERELHA910,0008 T - fE
1EEE B 2 R E S EL 13,0008 T I EHEE
AEREE - FI8EEK27,0008 T ETAH
L o

EAMBLARZEERCTNHE

36. R & %iE
2023 2022
—g-= ——
HK$/000 HK$'000
TER THET
174,339 188,568

Except abovementioned, the Company did not have significant capital
commitments at the end of the reporting period (2022: Nil).

BREMEN RBEHR AQAFIEBERER
BE(ZE_F 8]&) -
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37.RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from financing

activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising

J7.MRBEBMELEARZHIE

TREINAEEAREZTDFELEEB 2R B
B BERERFRSEY MEFBFELS

ERBRIARARAEREZRAEBFS

from financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows were, or B8
future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated cash flow
statement as cash flows from financing activities. zafE-
Amounts
due to
Amounts non-
due to controlling
shareholders interests
Ve
ERRRRE ERRE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn THET
(Note 29) (Note 30)
(Hi5£29) (H1z£30)
At 1 April 2021 RZZE=-—-5WA-A 14,500 9,181
Changes from financing cash flows: BERTREZEE
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHERE - u
Repayments to shareholders BEESe (4) -
Non-cash items: HHEEEE .
Finance costs BERK 1,532 507
Additions of lease liabilities HEHERE = -
Reclassification (Note 29) ENDE (Wit29) 837 (837)
COVID-19-related rent concession COVID-1913EE &R % = .
Others Hity = -
Exchange realignment EXAZ 108 -
At 1 April 2022 R-Z--§MA-A 16,973 8,851
Changes from financing cash flows: BERENEZEE
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHERE = -
Advanced from shareholders RRB 2,473 -
Non-cash items: HEEEA -
Finance costs RMERA 1,659 289
Additions of lease liabilities FIEHERE = 5
Disposal of subsidiary HEME A 3 3
Deemed capital contribution RELE (3,260) (289)
Others Hity 225 (225)
Exchange realignment ENAE (187) -
At 31 March 2023 RZE-=%#=RA=+-H 17,883 8,626

Lease
liabilities

HAAR
HK$'000

TER
[Note 30)

sy

4,931
(2,895)
450
1,657

32)
(121)

3

3,993
(1,809)
314
602
(859)

791)

(47)

1,403

RERERRIBARETDIEENRESRE

Total

#it
HK$'000
TER

28,612

(2,895)
(4)

2,489
1,657

32
(121)
111

29,817

(1,809)
2,473

2,262
602
(859)
(3,549)
791)
(234)

27,912
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38. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 3. EXMEANLEZH
In additions to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in these BREZERETBERREMTAEEZRER
consolidated financial statements, during the years ended 31 March 2023 HER  RBE-ZB-_=FER-_FT=-—_F=H4
and 2022, the Group had entered into the following material related party =+ —HLEFER  NEBSFLUTERBEE
transactions: ALERS
(a) Key management personnel remuneration (o) EEBEEBEARZH&
Remuneration for key management personnel, including amounts FTEEBASCHE (BEHFREMEIRERMH
paid to the Company’s directors as disclosed in Note 10 to the HIOMKREZENTARAES ZHIA) W
consolidated financial statement is as follow: T
2023 2022
P e
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
Short term employee benefits EHEEREA 7,828 7,425
MPF contributions BES M 63 65
Equity-settled share-based payment DERAE S LR MR 2RE 336 5,655
8,227 13,145
Total remuneration is included in “Staff costs” in Note 8 to the e REDHAGEMBRERMIASZIE
consolidated financial statements. ITRAIA o
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-T-=%=A=+—HILFE
38. MATERIAL RELATED. PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

(b) Related party transactions
During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group had
the following material related party transactions:

Yangzhou Yuanda Daily Chemicals Co., Lid HMHEXAALLIRERLE

Procurement daily cleaning and KERRBERBERAR
anti-epidemic products (Note (i) (HtaE(i))
Yangzhou Fuerkan Machinery BHTRERBREERRAT

Manufacturing Co., Ltd
and its subsidiaries (Note (ii))

REMBAT (MiE(ii)

Procurement daily cleaning and RERRBERBEAR
anti-epidemic products

Sales of daily cleaning and HERRBEZRMERG
anti-epidemic products

Graceful Ocean International Group EEEREEERERAT

Holding Limited
Personal guarantee provided by Mr. Gao Feng
for a loan (Note 23(ii))

BELEEDERE/EALER
(BEL23(ii))

38.EXREALES ()

(b) HEALES

REBZ-_Z-_=FR-Z__F=F=+-—
BLEFEER  AEEZETUTERBEEA
T8

2023 2022
—_B_= =T
HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

1,306 15,791

- 3,862

1,071 18,656

21,936 24,655

The above related parties were company controlled by substantial
shareholders during the reporting period. The transactions were
conducted on terms and conditions mutually agreed between the
relevant parties.

Note:

(i)  The transaction is continuing connected transaction during the year
under Chapter 14A of Listing Rules.

(i) Mr. Zhu Qian, a substantial shareholder is the beneficial owner of
the company.

LHRBEEATATERRRBEHREZS
ZRF  ZERZREBEALHEBEZ
IR RARAFHEST ©

EE

() HEXSRELTHRAE+NASAAEE
THEWERS -

(i) EBRRAEZEERZVAZERE
BAe
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39. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION
During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group had non-cash

movement from right-of-use assets to property, plant and equipment of

HK$2,626,000 upon the termination of lease arrangement.

40. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements,

the Group has the following events occurred subsequent to the end of the

reporting period:

(i)

(i)

On 15 May 2023, the Company entered info a strategic cooperation
framework agreement with Guangzhou Htrip Info Tech Inc.
(“Guangzhou Htrip”) to initiate an in-depth cooperation in the
areas of brand marketing digitization, brand communication and
advertising businesses as well as supply chain business in the cultural
and business travel industry and Non-Fungible Rights systematization
of member rights.

Details of the strategic cooperation agreement were disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 15 May 2023.

On 27 June 2023, the Company successfully placed 150,520,000
shares at the placing price of HK$0.103 and the entire net proceeds
from the placing of approximately HK$14,578,000 (after deducting
the placing commission, professional fees and all related expenses)
will be used for working capital and developing the Group’'s
businesses.

Details of the completion of placing were disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 27 June 2023.

41. AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the Board of Directors on 29 June 2023.

39. X BHFHEXH

BHE

“EC=FZA=t-HLEFE  AEER

RIEHEZHREGHEAREEEREHEES
BEZHFEL252,626,0008 T °

40. EEREER
BRZEFEUBRR2EMBTAREEN - K
SERBERRRBEETHEE

(ii)

REZBZ=FRATEHB  ALREEMNE
RESRHRERAE ([EMEHR] T8
BEFERTZE U ERBTHEEMLL @
REEEER X EREXMEEERUARS
E R I E E L (Non-Fungible Rights)
BALEFTHERMARAGHE -

BRSFEHRFERAQCEEHA=Z==
FRATHEHZDMPIKE -

R-F-=FXA=++tA XRARK
T & B &£ (E0.10378 ;T B 150,520,000
BREH M2UMEFEREFED
14,578,000 & (SMBREHS  H¥
BARMEEENY) SAFEERASRE
RAEEES o

FHEETHZHBERALCARHRA=Z
TEFRAZTEHZAMPEKE -

4. GEMBHRREHETIR

REVBBRENR-Z-=FAA-TIAEE
EEMERRET -
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